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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended September 29, 2012

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 000-10030

APPLE INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)

California 94-240411C

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or or ganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
1 Infinite Loop

Cupertino, California 95014

(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(408) 996-1010

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(hefAct:

Common Stock, no par value The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

(Title of class) (Name of exchange on which registerec

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(gh@fct: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edb#turities Act.
Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act.
Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for ssfobrter period that the registrant was requirefilécsuch reports), and (2) has been sul
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hiwnitted electronically and posted on its corpoifeb site, if any, every Interactive D
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRule 405 of Regulation $8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedif@grionths (c
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files).

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquditgrs pursuant to Item 405 of RegulationKS¢section 229.405 of this chapter) is
contained herein, and will not be contained, tolist of the registrarst’knowledge, in definitive proxy or information &eents incorporat
by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or anpendment to this Form 10-KO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-acelerated filer, or a smaller repori
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdiled,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportingpmpany” in Rule 122 of the Exchancg
Act.

Large accelerated file Accelerated file| O
Non-accelerated file [0 (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [



Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act)
Yes O No

The aggregate market value of the voting and ndamgastock held by nomffiliates of the registrant, as of March 30, 20t last busine
day of the registrarg’most recently completed second fiscal quartes, apgroximately $560,356,000,000 based upon thsingjgorice reporte
for such date on the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC. Splielr purposes of this disclosure, shares of comstook held by executivefficers an
directors of the registrant as of such date hawn lexcluded because such persons may be deemeddffillates. This determination
executive officers and directors as affiliatesas mecessarily a conclusive determination for aimgiopurposes.

940,692,000 shares of common stock were issuedatstanding as of October 19, 2012.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy stagnt relating to its 2013 annual meeting of shddsrs (the “2013 Proxy Statementye
incorporated by reference into Part IIl of this Aiah Report on Form 1B-where indicated. The 2013 Proxy Statement wilffikeel with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission withind&@s after the end of the fiscal year to which thjsort relates.
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The Business section and other parts of this AniRegort on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) contain forwarlboking statements, within t
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Refoklit of 1995, that involve risks and uncertaintigany of the forwardeoking statemen
are located in “Management’s Discussion and Analyfi Financial Condition and Results of Operatiéf®rward-looking statements provi
current expectations of future events based oracedassumptions and include any statement that doeslirectly relate to any historical
current fact. Forward-looking statements can alsoitbentified by words such as “future,” “anticipag “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “will,” “would,” “c  ould,” “can,” “may,” and similar terms. Forwardiooking statements are not guarant
of future performance and the Company’s actual ltesmay differ significantly from the results dissed in the forwardboking statement
Factors that might cause such differences inclidé are not limited to, those discussed in Paltdm 1A of this Form 1-K under the headir
“Risk Factors,” which are incorporated herein byfegence. Each of the terms the “Company” and “Appés used herein refers collectiv
to Apple Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiarieslesn otherwise stated. The Company assumes nabbligo revise or update any forward-
looking statements for any reason, except as requiy law.

PART |
Item 1. Business
Company Background

The Company designs, manufactures and markets enobihmunication and media devices, personal compuied portable digital mu:
players, and sells a variety of related softwagevises, peripherals, networking solutions, anddtparty digital content and applications. -
Company’s products and services include iPhdne ad $P, Mac® , iPo® , Apple TV a portfolio of consumer and professional softy
applications, the iOS and OS® operating syste@Isuid® ,and a variety of accessory, service and suppaegtioffs. The Company also s
and delivers digital content and applications tiglothe iTunes Store , App Stof¢ |, iBookstére and Mac App Store. The Company ¢
its products worldwide through its retail storegjime stores, and direct sales force, as well asutih thirdparty cellular network carrie
wholesalers, retailers, and value-added reselieraddition, the Company sells a variety of thiraity iPhone, iPad, Mac and iPod compa
products, including application software, and vasi@accessories, through its online and retail stofee Company sells to consumers; s
and mid-sized businesses (“SMB”); and educatioterpnise and government customers. The Comparscalfiyear is the 52 or 58eek perio
that ends on the last Saturday of September. Unldmswise stated, all information presented iis fiorm 10-K is based on the Company’
fiscal calendar. The Company is a California coation established in 1977.

Business Strategy

The Company is committed to bringing the best @sgrerience to its customers through its innovatigedware, software, peripherals,
services. The Comparg/business strategy leverages its unique abiliggegign and develop its own operating systemsweel applicatio
software, and services to provide its customers pevducts and solutions with superior easeisd#; seamless integration, and innovi
design. The Company believes continual investmemésearch and development, marketing and advegtisicritical to the development ¢
sale of innovative products and technologies. A$ @idts strategy, the Company continues to expenplatform for the discovery and deliv
of third-party digital content and applicationsahgh the iTunes Store. As part of the iTunes Stitvee, Companys App Store and iBookstc
allow customers to discover and download applicatiand books through either a Mac or Windows-basedputer or through “iOS devices,”
namely iPhone, iPad and iPod tough . The Compmaiac App Store allows customers to easily discodewnload and install M
applications. The Company also supports a commuaityhe development of thirgarty software and hardware products and digitatert
that complement the Company’s offerings. The Comgjsastrategy also includes expanding its distributieiwork to effectively reach mc
customers and provide them with a high-quality saled post-sales support experience.
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Consumer and Small and Mid-Sized Business

The Company believes a high-quality buying experewith knowledgeable salespersons who can coteeyalue of the Comparg/product
and services greatly enhances its ability to at@ad retain customers. The Company sells its misdand resells thirgarty products in mo
of its major markets directly to consumers and SNBsugh its retail and online stores. The Complaay also invested in programs to enh
reseller sales by placing high quality Apple fixdsy merchandising materials and other resourcdsnwselected thirgbarty reseller location
Through the Apple Premium Reseller Program, ceftaimnl-party resellers focus on the Apple platform by pdang a high level of produ
expertise, integration and support services.

The Company’s retail stores are typically locatebigh-raffic locations in quality shopping malls and anbshopping districts. By operating
own stores and locating them in desirable higlffic locations the Company is better positioriedensure a high quality customer buy
experience and attract new customers. The stoeeslegigned to simplify and enhance the presentatiah marketing of the Compansy’
products and related solutions. To that end, retaile configurations have evolved into variougsito accommodate markgiecific demand
The Company believes providing direct contact vtiglcustomers is an effective way to demonstrageathvantages of its products over thos
its competitors. The stores employ experiencedkamoaviedgeable personnel who provide product adweeyice and training. The stores o
a wide selection of third-party hardware, softwamed other accessories and peripherals that corepletime Company’s products.

Education

The Company is committed to delivering solutionshédp educators teach and students learn. The Qonipalieves effective integration
technology into classroom instruction can resulhigher levels of student achievement and has dedi@g range of products, services
programs to address the needs of education custoiftee Company also supports mobile learning aaltiree distribution of, and access
education related materials through iTune8 Ua platform that allows students and teachers toeshiad distribute educational media onl
The Company sells its products to the educatiorketdhrough its direct sales force, select thirdypeesellers and its online and retail stores.

Enterprise and Governme

The Company also sells its hardware and softwanduymts to enterprise and government customersdh ehits geographic segments.
Companys products are deployed in these markets becauskeenf performance, productivity, ease of use aedndess integration ir
information technology environments. The Compamysducts are compatible with thousands of tipiadity business applications and serv
and its tools enable the development and seculeydepnt of custom applications as well as remotgadeadministration.

Business Organization

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. Accordingly, the Company determiitgedeportable operating segme
which are generally based on the nature and latatidgts customers, to be the Americas, EuropeadafsiaPacific and Retail. The results
the Americas, Europe, Japan and AB&eific segments do not include results of the iRe¢gment. The Americas segment includes bothh
and South America. The Europe segment includesp&arocountries, as well as the Middle East anccAfiThe AsiaPacific segment includ
Australia and Asian countries, other than Japare Retail segment operates Apple retail stores ircditries, including the U.S. E:
operating segment provides similar hardware anvaoé products and similar services. Further intion regarding the Comparsybperatin
segments may be found in Part Il, Iltem 7 of thisnfrdA0-K under the subheading “Segment OperatinfpReance,”and in Part Il, Item 8
this Form 10-K in the Notes to Consolidated Finah8tatements in Note 8, “Segment Information ardgsaphic Data.”
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Products

The Company offers a range of mobile communicatind media devices, personal computing products pantdble digital music players,
well as a variety of related software, servicesipberals, networking solutions and thipdsty hardware and software products. In additibe
Company offers its own software products, includi@g, the Company’s mobile operating system; OSh¢, Companys Mac operatin
system; and server and application software. Thegamy’'s primary products are discussed below.

iPhone

iPhone combines a mobile phone, an iPod, and annleit communications device in a single handheddywst. Based on the Company’s Multi-
Touch™ user interface, iPhone features desktaps email, web browsing, searching, and maps isntbmpatible with both Mac a
Windows-based computers. iPhone automatically syom#ent from usersiTunes libraries, as well as contacts, bookmarke amai
accounts. iPhone allows customers to access theegT8tore to download audio and video files, a$ ageh variety of other digital content :
applications. In September 2012, the Company laeshdRhone 5, its latest version of iPhone. In aaoldito the Compang own iPhon
accessories, third-party iPhone compatible acciessare available through the Company’s onlineratail stores and from third parties.

iPad

iPad is a multpurpose mobile device for browsing the web, reading sending email, viewing photos, watching viddissening to musi
playing games, reading e-books and more. iPadssdan the Company’s Multieuch technology and allows customers to conneitt thieil
applications and content in a more interactive vi@gd allows customers to access the iTunes Stadewnload audio and video files, as\
as a variety of other digital content and applmasgi In March 2012, the Company launched the newa,iRs third generation iPad, anc
October 2012, the Company announced its fourth rgéina iPad and iPad mini, which are expected taba&lable in November 2012.
addition to the Company’s own iPad accessorieg]{arty iPad compatible accessories are availibtrigh the Compang’online and rete
stores and from third parties.

Mac

The Company offers a range of personal computinglymets including desktop and portable computetatae devices and peripherals,
third-party hardware products. The Companylac desktop and portable systems feature Intelomiocessors, the OS X operating systern
the iLife ® suite of software for creation and managet of digital photography, music, movies, DVDsl avebsites.

The Company’s desktop computers include iMac , Rex® and Mac mini. The Company’s portable compuitechide MacBook Pr& anc
MacBook Air® .

iPod
The Company’s iPod line of portable digital musitanedia players includes iPod touch, iPod nandPod ishuffle® and iPod classic All

iPods work with iTunes. In addition to the Compangwvn iPod accessories, third-party iRmonpatible accessories are available throug
Company’s online and retail stores and from thiadips.

The iPod touch, based on iOS, is a flash-memorgdaB8od with a widescreen Retina™ display, a Mlttitch user interface, and buift-
iSight ® camera. iPod touch allows customers to accessltimes Store to download audio and video contentyelsas a variety of digit
applications. The iPod nano is a flash-memory-baBed that features the Company’s Mdituch interface allowing customers to navi
their music collection by tapping or swiping themlay and built-in Bluetooth for wireless listenifithe iPod shuffle is a flash-memory-
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based iPod that features a clickable control padotdrol music playback and VoiceOver technologgtdimg customers to hear song tit
artists and playlist names. The iPod classic iard-drive based portable digital music and videxye.

iTunes®

iTunes is an application that supports the purchd@menload, organization and playback of digitadiauand video files and is available for b
Mac and Windows-based computers. iTunes featutegration with iCloud, AirPlay wireless music playback, Genius Mixes, Home Shg
and syncing functionality with iOS devices

iTunes is integrated with the iTunes Store, a senthat allows customers to discover, purchasd, s download digital content ¢
applications. The iTunes Store includes the AppeStmd iBookstore. The App Store allows customerigscover and download applicatic
and the iBookstore features electronic books froajomand independent publishers and allows custetoepreview and buy books for tt
iOS devices. Customers can access the App Stareghreither a Mac or Windowsased computer or through an iOS device. The iBiooss
accessed through the iBooks application on an i@&d.

Mac App Stor¢

The Mac App Store allows customers to discover,doad and install Mac applications. The Mac Appr&toffers applications in educati
games, graphics and design, lifestyle, productivitilities and other categories. The Compan®S X operating system software and its il
iWork ® and other application software titles areoadsailable on the Mac App Store.

iCloud

iCloud is the Company’cloud service, which stores music, photos, agptios, contacts, calendars, and documents antesshg pushes the
to multiple iOS devices, Mac and Windows-based asens. iClouds features include iTunes in the Cloud, Photo &trdaocuments in tt
Cloud, Contacts, Calendar, Mail, automatic downsoadd purchase history for applications and iBoaksl, iCloud Backup. Users can sigr
for free access to iCloud using a device runninglifing versions of iOS or OS X.

Software Products

The Company offers a range of software productémsumers and for SMB, education, enterprise avergment customers, including
Companys iOS and OS X operating system software; senféwvace; professional application software; and cwnsr, education, and busin
oriented application software.

Operating System Software

i0S

iOS is the Compang’ mobile operating system that serves as the fdiomdfor iOS devices. In September 2012, the Compateased iOS
the latest version of its mobile operating systé@d8 supports iCloud and includes features such affidation Center, a way to view a
manage notifications in one place; iMessage™, asatgsg service that allows users to send text gessphotos and videos between

devices; and Maps, with turn-by-turn navigationSi€upports Siff a voice activated intelligent assistant, whichviaiable on qualifying iO
devices.
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oS X

OS X, the Company’s Mac operating system, is lmuilan open-source UNIKased foundation. OS X Mountain Lion is the ninthjon releas
of OS X and became available in July 2012. OS X Main Lion includes iCloud integration, NotificatidCenter, iMessage, and systenae
support for full screen applications.

Application Software

iLife

iLife is the Company’s consumer-oriented digitédityle application suite included with all Mac qouers. iLife features iPho® , iMovig,
iDVD @, GarageBan® , and iWeb™. iPhoto is the Conyfmiconsumer-oriented digital photo application antbvie is the Companyg’
consumer-oriented digital video editing softwarelagation. iDVD is the Company’s consumeriented software application that ena
customers to turn iMovie files, QuickTime files,dadigital pictures into interactive DVDs. GarageBaa the Company’s consumerientec

music creation application that allows customerpl&y, record and create music. iWeb allows custernt® create online photo albums, bl
and podcasts, and to customize websites usingngddbls.

iWork

iWork is the Company integrated productivity suite designed to helprsiscreate, present, and publish documents, pedigeTd, an
spreadsheets. iWork includes Pages for word prowessid page layout, Keynote for presentations, Machbers® for spreadsheets. T
Company also has a Multi-Touch version of each i\application designed specifically for use on i@ices.

Other Application Software

The Company also sells various other applicatidtwswe, including Final Cut Pré , Logic Studio Logic ® Pro, and its FileMake? Prc
database software.

Displays & Peripheral Product

The Company manufactures the Apple LED Cinema Bispl and Thunderbolt Display. The Company also selsriety of Applebrande:
and third-party Mac-compatible and i@8mpatible peripheral products, including printestarage devices, computer memory, digital v
and still cameras, and various other computing yetsdand supplies.

Apple TV

Apple TV allows customers to watch movies and tisiem shows on their high definition television. ri@ent from iTunes, Netflix, YouTuk
and Flickr as well as music, photos, videos, andcpsts from a Mac or Windovissed computer can also be wirelessly streame
television through Apple TV.

Product Support and Services

AppleCare® offers a range of support options forGleenpanys customers. These include assistance that isibuglsoftware products, print
and electronic product manuals, online supportuiticly comprehensive product information as weltexhnical assistance, the AppleC
Protection Plan (“APP”) and the AppleCare+ ProtacttPlan (“APP+"). APP is a felased service that typically includes two to thyears o
phone support, hardware repairs and dedicated asbebsupport resources. APP+ is alfased service available in certain countrie:
iPhone and iPad. APP+ offers coverage for two imtsta of accidental damage in addition to the sesvidfered by APP.
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Markets and Distribution

The Companys customers are primarily in the consumer, SMB cation, enterprise and government markets. The @asnpses a variety
direct and indirect distribution channels, suclitasetail stores, online stores, and direct sdese, and thirdsarty cellular network carriel
wholesalers, retailers, and valadded resellers. The Company believes that salis imnovative and differentiated products arearded b
knowledgeable salespersons who can convey the wéltiee hardware and software integration, and destnate the unique solutions that
available on its products. The Company furtherdwels providing direct contact with its targetedtomeers is an effective way to demonst
the advantages of its products over those of itepmiitors and providing a high-quality sales an@érafales support experience is critice
attracting new and retaining existing customersemsure a higlauality buying experience for its products in whidrvice and education
emphasized, the Company continues to expand andowepts distribution capabilities by expanding thember of its own retail stor
worldwide. Additionally, the Company has investacprograms to enhance reseller sales by placing duglity Apple fixtures, merchandisi
materials and other resources within selected -fhéndy reseller locations. Through the Apple PramiReseller Program, certain thipeity
resellers focus on the Apple platform by providangigh level of integration and support servicesl product expertise.

No single customer accounted for more than 10%ebsales in 2012, 2011 or 20:

Competition

The markets for the Comparsyproducts and services are highly competitive thedCompany is confronted by aggressive competitioall
areas of its business. These markets are chamsttdyy frequent product introductions and rapidhi@dogical advances that have substan
increased the capabilities and use of mobile conication and media devices, personal computers,otimel digital electronic devices. T
Companys competitors who sell mobile devices and persopaiputers based on other operating systems havessiiely cut prices a
lowered their product margins to gain or maintaiarket share. The Compasyfinancial condition and operating results canateersel
affected by these and other industvide downward pressures on gross margins. Princigralpetitive factors important to the Company ide
price, product features, relative price/performanpgeduct quality and reliability, design innovatjoa strong thirggarty software ar
peripherals ecosystem, marketing and distributegrability, service and support, and corporate @jmut.

The Company is focused on expanding its market dppiies related to personal computers and matbl@munication and media devic
These markets are highly competitive and includese large, welfunded and experienced participants. The Compapgas competition
these markets to intensify significantly as contpesi attempt to imitate some of the features ofGbenpanys products and applications wit
their own products or, alternatively, collaboratéhweach other to offer solutions that are more petitive than those they currently off
These markets are characterized by aggressivangnmiactices, frequent product introductions, evgwlesign approaches and technolo
rapid adoption of technological and product advarers by competitors, and price sensitivity onghg of consumers and businesses.

The Companyg digital content services have faced significamhpetition from other companies promoting their adigital music and conte
products and services, including those offering freer-to-peer music and video services.

The Company’s future financial condition and opagatresults depend on the Companybility to continue to develop and offer r
innovative products and services in each of thekatarin which it competes. The Company believesférs superior innovation and integrai
of the entire solution including the hardware (iRbpiPad, Mac, and iPod), software (iTunes), onlrevices (iCloud), and distribution
digital content and applications (iTunes Store, Aptpre, iBookstore and Mac App Store). Some of Gmenpanys current and potent
competitors have substantial resources and mayleet@ provide such products and services at littl@o profit or even at a loss to comj
with the Company’s offerings.
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Supply of Components

Although most components essential to the Compmahysiness are generally available from multiplerses, a humber of components
currently obtained from single or limited sourcedjich subjects the Company to significant supplg gmicing risks. Many componer
including those that are available from multiplaises, are at times subject to industige shortages and significant commodity pri
fluctuations. In addition, the Company has entémal various agreements for the supply of compagiembwever, there can be no guara
that the Company will be able to extend or renees¢hagreements on similar terms, or at all. Thezefine Company remains subjec
significant risks of supply shortages and pricaaéases that can materially adversely affect i@rfaial condition and operating results.

The Company and other participants in the markatsrfobile communication and media devices and paiscomputers also compete
various components with other industries that hexperienced increased demand for their products. Gbmpany also uses some cus
components that are not common to the rest of timekestries, and new products introduced by the @ often utilize custom compone
available from only one source. When a componemroduct uses new technologies, initial capacityst@ints may exist until the suppliers’
yields have matured or manufacturing capacity In@seased. If the Compa's supply of components for a new or existing produere
delayed or constrained, or if an outsourcing parohglayed shipments of completed products to thengzmy, the Company’ financia
condition and operating results could be materialiversely affected. The Compasybusiness and financial performance could als
materially adversely affected depending on the tigquired to obtain sufficient quantities from thginal source, or to identify and obt
sufficient quantities from an alternative sourcentihued availability of these components at acdgpt prices, or at all, may be affecte
those suppliers concentrated on the productiomeintcon components instead of components customizetbét the Company’s requirements

Substantially all of the Compargyhardware products are manufactured by outsoupanmers that are located primarily in Asia. Angiigant
concentration of this manufacturing is currentlyfpemed by a small number of outsourcing partnef&n in single locations. Certain of th
outsourcing partners are the sole-sourced suppliersomponents and manufacturers for many of theng@mys products. Although tl
Company works closely with its outsourcing partnemsmanufacturing schedules, the Compargperating results could be adversely affe
if its outsourcing partners were unable to meetrtpeoduction commitments. The Compasypurchase commitments typically covel
requirements for periods up to 150 days.

Research and Development

Because the industries in which the Company corspate characterized by rapid technological advartbesCompanyg ability to compet
successfully depends heavily upon its ability teuee a continual and timely flow of competitive guats, services and technologies tc
marketplace. The Company continues to develop eehnblogies to enhance existing products and tarekthe range of its product offerii
through research and development, licensing ofiéateial property and acquisition of thipdhrty businesses and technology. Total researc
development expense was $3.4 billion, $2.4 billenmg $1.8 billion in 2012, 2011, and 2010, respebfi

Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights and Licenses

The Company currently holds rights to patents asqy/ights relating to certain aspects of its iPhaRad, Mac and iPod devices, periphe
software and services. The Company has registerdth® applied for trademarks and service markhéU.S. and a number of fore
countries. Although the Company believes the owriprsef such patents, copyrights, trademarks andcEmarks is an important factor in
business and that its success does depend in pahteoownership thereof, the Company relies prilpam the innovative skills, technic
competence and marketing abilities of its persannel

The Company regularly files patent applicationsptotect innovations arising from its research, dmwment and design, and is curre
pursuing thousands of patent applications arouadvibrld. Over time, the Company
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has accumulated a large portfolio of issued patientse U.S. and worldwide. The Company holds cighys relating to certain aspects ol
products and services. No single patent or copyiglsolely responsible for protecting the Compangroducts. The Company believes
duration of its patents is adequate relative toetkgected lives of its products.

Many of the Compang’ products are designed to include intellectuapery obtained from third parties. It may be neaggén the future t
seek or renew licenses relating to various asp#cts products and business methods. While the g2om has generally been able to ok
such licenses on commercially reasonable termiseipast, there is no guarantee that such licermsgd be obtained in the future on reason
terms or at all. Because of technological changdke industries in which the Company competeseatirextensive patent coverage, anc
rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it is pdsdhmt certain components of the Compargroducts and business methods may unknow
infringe existing patents or intellectual properights of others. From time to time, the Compang haen notified that it may be infring
certain patents or other intellectual property tsgbf third parties.

Foreign and Domestic Operations and Geographic Data

During 2012, the Company’domestic and international net sales accounte@9%% and 61%, respectively, of total net salefarmatior
regarding financial data by geographic segmeneisfarth in Part Il, Item 7 of this Form 10-K undére subheadingSegment Operatit
Performance,” and in Part Il, Iltem 8 of this FortK in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statets\é@m Note 8, Segment Information a
Geographic Data.”

Final assembly of the Company’s products is culyeperformed in the Company’manufacturing facility in Ireland, and by outstiog
partners located primarily in Asia. The supply amanufacture of a number of components is perforbyesblesourced outsourcing partner:
the U.S., Asia and Europe. Outsourcing partnerédia perform final assembly of substantially all tbe Companys hardware produc
Margins on sales of the Compasyproducts in foreign countries, and on sales ofipets that include components obtained from fa
suppliers, can be adversely affected by foreigmeniy exchange rate fluctuations and by internatitrade regulations, including tariffs ¢
antidumping penalties. Information regarding coriion in the available sources of supply of miaterand products is set forth in Par
Item 8 of this Form 10-K in the Notes to ConsolethEinancial Statements in Note 7, “Commitments@adtingencies.”

Seasonal Business

The Company has historically experienced highersaéds in its first fiscal quarter compared to ottpearters in its fiscal year due in par
holiday seasonal demand. Actual and anticipatethgiraf new product introductions by the Company alo significantly impact the level
net sales experienced by the Company in any paticuarter. However, neither historical seasomdlepns nor historical patterns of proc
introductions should be considered reliable indicabf the Company’s future net sales or finangp@formance.

Warranty

The Company offers a limited parts and labor wdyram most of its hardware products. The basic aveyr period is typically one year fr
the date of purchase by the original end-user.ddmpany also offers a 90-day basic warranty fosétvice parts used to repair the Company
hardware products. In addition, where availableysconers may purchase APP or APP+, which extenddceecoverage on many of |
Company’s hardware products.

Backlog

In the Companys experience, the actual amount of product backtogny particular time is not a meaningful indioatiof its future busine
prospects. In particular, backlog often increasemniicipation of or immediately

8



Table of Contents

following new product introductions as customersicipate shortages. Backlog is often reduced oncgtomers believe they can obt
sufficient supply. Because of the foregoing, bagk#hould not be considered a reliable indicatothef Companys ability to achieve ar
particular level of revenue or financial performanc

Employees

As of September 29, 2012, the Company had appra&lyn@2,800 full-time equivalent employees and dditonal 3,300 fullime equivaler
temporary employees and contractors. Approxima#@yd00 of the total full-time equivalent employeserked in the Companyg’ Retai
segment.

Available Information

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart&gports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Forky 8hd amendments to reports fi
pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Séesifiixchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ExchAwtj8, are filed with the U.S. Securiti
and Exchange Commission (the “SECThe Company is subject to the informational requieats of the Exchange Act and files or furnit
reports, proxy statements, and other informatioth ilie SEC. Such reports and other informatiordfiby the Company with the SEC
available free of charge on the Company’s websitevav.apple.com/investor when such reports arelabks on the SEG website. The publ
may read and copy any materials filed by the Compaith the SEC at the SE€Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, ROB&D
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infaioraon the operation of the Public Reference Rdynealling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that @ost@ports, proxy and information statements ahéranformation regarding issuers that
electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The teots of these websites are not incorporated ini® filing. Further, the Company’
references to the URLSs for these websites aredet@ito be inactive textual references only.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Because of the following factors, as well as otfamtors affecting the Comparsyfinancial condition and operating results, pasarfcia
performance should not be considered to be a telialicator of future performance, and investdrsudd not use historical trends to anticij
results or trends in future periods.

Global economic conditions could materially advéysafect the Company.

The Companys operations and performance depend significantliyworldwide economic conditions. Uncertainty abglnbal economi
conditions poses a risk as consumers and businpssgzone spending in response to tighter credémployment, negative financial ne
and/or declines in income or asset values. For pl@nthe continuing sovereign debt crisis, finahamrket volatility, and other factors
Europe have resulted in reduced consumer and mssoonfidence and spending in many countries. Thesklwide and regional econon
conditions could have a material adverse effeatl@mand for the Compars/products and services. Demand also could diffgerally fron
the Companys expectations because the Company generally raiggss on goods and services sold outside the td.8orrespond with tt
effect of a strengthening of the U.S. dollar. Otfa@tors that could influence demand include insesan fuel and other energy costs, condi
in the real estate and mortgage markets, unemplalynabor and healthcare costs, access to creditsumer confidence, and ot
macroeconomic factors affecting consumer spendet@tior. These and other economic factors coulenadly adversely affect demand
the Company'’s products and services.

In the event of financial turmoil affecting the lamy system and financial markets, additional cdidation of the financial services industry
significant financial service institution failurethere could be a new or incremental tightenintha credit markets, low liquidity, and extre
volatility in fixed income, credit, currency, anduety markets. This could have a number of effeestshe Companyg business, including t
insolvency or financial instability of outsourcipgrtners or suppliers or their inability to obtanedit to finance
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development and/or manufacture products resultingreduct delays; inability of customers, includiolgannel partners, to obtain credi
finance purchases of the Compasproducts; and failure of derivative counterparied other financial institutions. Other incomd arpens
also could vary materially from expectations depegan gains or losses realized on the sale orangd of financial instruments; impairm
charges resulting from revaluations of debt andtggecurities and other investments; interestsratash balances; and changes in fair val
derivative instruments. Increased volatility in tfieancial markets and overall economic uncertawiyuld increase the risk of the aci
amounts realized in the future on the Companyarfaial instruments differing significantly from tfer values currently assigned to them.

Global markets for the Compasyproducts and services are highly competitive sulgject to rapid technological change, and the Camy
may be unable to compete effectively in these rtearke

The Companys products and services compete in highly competiglobal markets characterized by aggressive muteng and resultir
downward pressure on gross margins, frequent inttieh of new products, short product life cyclesplving industry standards, contin
improvement in product price/performance charasties, rapid adoption of technological and procagitancements by competitors, and
sensitivity on the part of consumers.

The Companys ability to compete successfully depends heavilyt® ability to ensure a continuing and timelyraaduction of innovative ne
products and technologies to the marketplace. Tdrapgany believes it is unique in that it designs dedelops nearly the entire solution fol
products, including the hardware, operating systamerous software applications, and related sesvids a result, the Company must n
significant investments in research and developraedtcurrently holds a significant number of pageamd copyrights and has registered ai
has applied to register numerous patents, tradesremkl service marks. In contrast, many of the Caoryigacompetitors seek to comp
primarily through aggressive pricing and very logststructures, and emulating the Comparproducts and infringing its intellectual prope
If the Company is unable to continue to develop aelll innovative new products with attractive maggor if competitors infringe on t
Company’s intellectual property, the Company’sigibtb maintain a competitive advantage could becaskly affected.

The Company markets certain mobile communicatioth media devices based on the iOS mobile operatistpm and also markets rele
third-party digital content and applications. The Compfages substantial competition in these markets fcompanies that have signific
technical, marketing, distribution and other resesr as well as established hardware, softwaredagithl content supplier relationshi
Additionally, the Company faces significant pricengetition as competitors reduce their sellinggsiand attempt to imitate the Company’
product features and applications within their opnoducts or, alternatively, collaborate with eadheo to offer solutions that are m
competitive than those they currently offer. Themany also competes with illegitimate ways to abttiird-party digital content ar
applications. The Company has entered the mobilenoanications and media device markets, and sonits @bmpetitors in these mark
have greater experience, product breadth andldisimn channels than the Company. Because somentuand potential competitors hi
substantial resources and/or experience and a lowgtistructure, they may be able to provide suolycts and services at little or no profi
even at a loss. The Company also expects competdimtensify as competitors attempt to imitate @ompanys approach to providing the
components seamlessly within their individual afigs or work collaboratively to offer integratedgns. The Company'financial conditio
and operating results depend substantially on theganys ability to continually improve iOS and iOS dewce order to maintain the
functional and design advantages.

The Company is the only authorized maker of hardwesing OS X, which has a minority market sharthenpersonal computer market. 1
market is dominated by computer makers using comgpelperating systems, most notably Windows. Inrttagket for personal computers
peripherals, the Company faces a significant nunolb@ompetitors, many of which have broader prodings, lower priced products, an
larger installed customer base. Historically, cdidstion in this market has resulted in larger cetitprs. Price competition has
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been particularly intense as competitors sellingdivsbased personal computers have aggressively cugspaicd lowered product marg
An increasing number of Internetabled devices that include software applicatiand are smaller and simpler than traditional peal
computers compete for market share with the Compagwisting products. The Compasyfinancial condition and operating results de|
substantially on its ability to continually improttee Mac platform to maintain its functional andige advantages.

There can be no assurance the Company will betalglentinue to provide products and services thatpete effectively.

To remain competitive and stimulate customer demtmedCompany must successfully manage frequedtuptantroductions and transitions.

Due to the highly volatile and competitive natufettee industries in which the Company competes,Gbenpany must continually introdt
new products, services and technologies, enhanistingx products and services, and effectively states customer demand for new .
upgraded products. The success of new productin¢tmns depends on a number of factors includingnot limited to, timely and succes:
product development, market acceptance, the Con'gability to manage the risks associated with peaduct production rampp issues, tt
availability of application software for new prodsicthe effective management of purchase commitgnantl inventory levels in line w
anticipated product demand, the availability ofdarcts in appropriate quantities and costs to megtipated demand, and the risk that
products may have quality or other defects in thdyestages of introduction. Accordingly, the Compacannot determine in advance
ultimate effect of new product introductions arahsitions.

The Company faces substantial inventory and othseftarisk in addition to purchase commitment cdatieh risk.

The Company records a writlswn for product and component inventories thatehbgcome obsolete or exceed anticipated demane
realizable value and accrues necessary cancellg@reserves for orders of excess products ang@nents. The Company also review:
long-lived assets, including capital assets helitsaguppliersfacilities, for impairment whenever events or cirsiances indicate the carry
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If thegany determines that impairment has occurredkcibrds a writedown equal to tt
amount by which the carrying value of the assetseeds its fair market value. Although the Compangliebes its provisions related
inventory, capital assets, other assets and pwat@smitments are currently adequate, no assui@tde given that the Company will
incur additional related charges given the rapid anpredictable pace of product obsolescence inirttiestries in which the Compa
competes.

The Company must order components for its prodametsbuild inventory in advance of product annourssisiand shipments. Consistent
industry practice, components are normally acquitedugh a combination of purchase orders, suppldtracts, open orders and, wt
appropriate, inventory component prepayments, @h ease based on projected demand. Such purchaseitooents typically cover forecas
component and manufacturing requirements for perigrito 150 days. Because the Compsunyarkets are volatile, competitive and subje
rapid technology and price changes, there is athiskCompany will forecast incorrectly and ordeporduce excess or insufficient amount
components or products, or not fully utilize firmrphase commitments.

Future operating results depend upon the Com'’s ability to obtain components in sufficient gu&es.

Because the Company currently obtains componeais §ingle or limited sources, the Company is subj@significant supply and pricil
risks. Many components, including those that a@lable from multiple sources, are at times subjeéhdustrywide shortages and significi
commodity pricing fluctuations. While the Compangshentered into various agreements for the supplgomponents, there can be
assurance that the Company will be able to extemdreew these agreements on similar terms, ot.&kflz follow-on effects from
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global economic conditions on the Company’s supglielescribed in ‘Global economic conditions could materially advéysaffect th
Company”above, also could affect the Company’s ability bvain componentsTherefore, the Company remains subject to significizks o
supply shortages and price increases. The Compapgces to experience decreases in its gross mamjicentage in future periods,
compared to levels achieved during 2012, largely ttua higher mix of new and innovative productthwiat or reduced pricing that he
higher cost structures and deliver greater valumigtomers and anticipated component cost and otistincreases. Future strengthening ¢
U.S. dollar could also negatively impact gross rimarg

The Company and other participants in the markatsrfobile communication and media devices and paiscomputers also compete
various components with other industries that haxperienced increased demand for their product® Thmpany uses some cus
components that are not common to the rest of timekestries. The Compars/new products often utilize custom componentslalviai fron
only one source. When a component or product usestechnologies, initial capacity constraints maisteuntil the suppliersyields haw
matured or manufacturing capacity has increasedti@eed availability of these components at acddptarices, or at all, may be affecte
those suppliers decided to concentrate on the ptmsuof common components instead of componenstomized to meet the Compasy’
requirements. The supply of components for a newxisting product could be delayed or constraimeda key manufacturing vendor co
delay shipments of completed products to the Compan

The Company depends on component and product neanfg and logistical services provided by outsong partners, many of whom are
located outside of the U.S.

Substantially all of the Company’s manufacturingésformed in whole or in part by a few outsourcpegtnerdocated primarily in Asia. Tt
Company has also outsourced much of its transpamtaind logistics management. While these arrangtsmaay lower operating costs, tl
also reduce the Compamsydirect control over production and distributidinis uncertain what effect such diminished contxill have on th
quality or quantity of products or services, or @empanys flexibility to respond to changing conditionstifdugh arrangements with th
partners may contain provisions for warranty experambursement, the Company may remain respongibtee consumer for warrai
service in the event of product defects and coxftesence an unanticipated product defect or wayrkability. While the Company relies
its partners to adhere to its supplier code of oohdnaterial violations of the supplier code ofdact could occur.

The supply and manufacture of many critical compdsés performed by solssurced outsourcing partners in the U.S., Asia Barbpe
Outsourcing partners in Asia perform final assemdflysubstantially all of the Comparsyhardware products. Manufacturing or logistic
these locations or transit to final destinationsyrba disrupted for a variety of reasons includibgt not limited to, natural and mamade
disasters, information technology system failune#itary actions or economic, business, labor, einental, public health, or political issues.

The Company relies on thighrty intellectual property and digital content, iwh may not be available to the Company on comrakly
reasonable terms or at all.

Many of the Company’s products include thpdrty intellectual property, which requires licemdeom those third parties. Based on
experience and industry practice, the Company Wediesuch licenses generally can be obtained ommabke terms. There is, however,
assurance that the necessary licenses can beexbtairacceptable terms or at all.

The Company also contracts with third parties feratheir digital content through the iTunes Stadrke licensing arrangements with these 1
parties are short-term and do not guarantee thénc@ation or renewal of these arrangements on redse terms, if at all. Some thighrty
content providers and distributors currently othe future may offer competing products and sesjiesd could take action to make it i
difficult or impossible for the Company to licentbeir content in the future. Other content ownprsyiders or distributors
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may seek to limit the Comparsyaccess to, or increase the cost of, such corteatCompany may be unable to continue to offeide wariet
of content at reasonable prices with acceptablgausaes, or continue to expand its geographictreac

Many thirdparty content providers require the Company to iedigital rights management and other securitytems. If requiremen
change, the Company may have to develop or liceesetechnology to provide these solutions. Ther®iassurance the Company will be .
to develop or license such solutions at a reasenaddt and in a timely manner. In addition, certainntries have passed or may propose
adopt legislation that would force the Companyidenise its digital rights management, which coakbén the protection of content and su
it to piracy and also could negatively affect agaments with the Company’s content providers.

The Company is frequently involved in intellectoraperty litigation, and could be found to haverimfed on intellectual property rights.

Technology companies, including many of the Compangompetitors, frequently enter into litigation édson allegations of pate
infringement or other violations of intellectualoperty rights. In addition, patent holding companseek to monetize patents they
purchased or otherwise obtained. As the Compangtmsn, the intellectual property rights claims iagait have increased and may conti
to increase. In particular, the Compasigellular enabled products compete with mobile rmomication and media device companies that
significant patent portfolios, and the number ofep& claims against the Company has significantréased. The Company is vigorot
defending infringement actions in courts in a numbkU.S. jurisdictions and before the U.S. Inteéim@al Trade Commission, as well
internationally in Europe and Asia. The plaintiffisthese actions frequently seek injunctions arzs&ntial damages.

Regardless of the scope or validity of such patentgher intellectual property rights, or the needf any claims by potential or actual litiga
the Company may have to engage in protracted fiitigaSuch litigation is often expensive, time-comséng, disruptive to the Comparsy’
operations, and distracting to management. If thengany is found to infringe one or more patentsothrer intellectual property righ
regardless of whether it can develop non-infringichnology, it may be required to pay substawt#hages or royalties to a thipaity, or i
may be subject to a temporary or permanent injangtrohibiting the Company from marketing or sglcertain products.

In certain cases, the Company may consider theadd#tiy of entering into licensing agreementshaligh no assurance can be given that
licenses can be obtained on acceptable terms ofitigation will not occur. These licenses mayaaksignificantly increase the Compasy’
operating expenses.

In managemens’ opinion, there is not at least a reasonable Iptissithe Company may have incurred a materiak)ax a material loss
excess of a recorded accrual, with respect to émsgingencies, including matters related to infeémgent of intellectual property righ
However, the outcome of litigation is inherentlycertain. Therefore, although management consitherdikelihood of such an outcome to
remote, if one or more of these legal matters weselved against the Company in a reporting peigocamounts in excess of management
expectations, the Company’s consolidated finarstatements for that reporting period could be ntgradversely affected.

The Company'’s future performance depends in padupport from third-party software developers.

The Company believes decisions by customers tohpsecits hardware products depend in part on thdahility of thirdparty softwar
applications and services. There is no assuraratettirdparty developers will continue to develop and rmamtsoftware applications a
services for the Company’s products. If third-pastytware applications and services cease to belojged and maintained for the Company’
products, customers may choose not to buy the Coygaroducts.
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With respect to its Mac products, the Company bebethe availability of thirgharty software applications and services depeng&iton th
developers’ perception and analysis of the relaiimeefits of developing, maintaining, and upgradingh software for the Compasyproduct
compared to Windowbased products. This analysis may be based orrdastich as the market position of the Company &nproducts, tt
anticipated revenue that may be generated, comtiguewth of Mac sales, and the costs of develoginch applications and services. If
Company’s minority share of the global personal potar market causes developers to question the @ayigprospects, developers coulc
less inclined to develop or upgrade software fa& @ompanys products and more inclined to devote their resssito developing a
upgrading software for the larger Windows market.

With respect to iOS devices, the Company reliesthan continued availability and development of coliipg and innovative softwa
applications, which are distributed through a frgjktribution channel, the App Store. The abserfiesultiple distribution channels, which
available for competing platforms, may limit theadability and acceptance of third-party applicasdy the Compang’ customers, there
causing developers to reduce or curtail developrfmmthe iOS platform. In addition, iOS devices ateject to rapid technological char
and, if third-party developers are unable to orag®onot to keep up with this pace of change, thady applications might not successf
operate and may result in dissatisfied customesswith applications for the CompasyMac products, the availability and developmel
these applications also depend on developers’ pgocs and analysis of the relative benefits ofaleping software for the Company’
products rather than its competitopdatforms, such as Android. If developers focusrthforts on these competing platforms, the avmlity
and quality of applications for the Company’s iG&vides may suffer.

The Company depends on the performance of distributarriers and other resellers.

The Company distributes its products through catlmletwork carriers, wholesalers, national andoregji retailers, and valugdded reseller
many of whom distribute products from competing aofanturers. The Company also sells its productsthind-party products in most of
major markets directly to education, enterprise gonkrnment customers, and consumers and smathahdized businesses through its on
and retail stores.

Carriers providing cellular network service for d?te typically subsidize usengurchase of the device. There is no assuranceuicatsubsidie
will be continued at all or in the same amountsrupenewal of the Comparg/agreements with these carriers or in agreembat€bdmpan
enters into with new carriers.

Many resellers have narrow operating margins ane lh@en adversely affected in the past by weakananconditions. Some resellers h
perceived the expansion of the Company’s dire@ssas conflicting with their business interestsliagibutors and resellers of the Company’
products. Such a perception could discourage srseffom investing resources in the distributiod aale of the Company’products or le:
them to limit or cease distribution of those pradud@he Company has invested and will continueatest in programs to enhance reseller <
including staffing selected resellerstores with Company employees and contractors amgfoving product placement displays. Tt
programs could require a substantial investmenteagroviding no assurance of return or incremergaénue. The financial condition of th
resellers could weaken, these resellers could distpbuting the Company’s products, or uncertairggarding demand for the Compasny’
products could cause resellers to reduce theirimgland marketing of the Company’s products.

The Companyg Retail segment has required and will continueetpuire a substantial investment and commitmen¢sdurces and is subject
numerous risks and uncertainties.

The Companys retail stores have required substantial fixedegtment in equipment and leasehold improvemenfsynvation system
inventory and personnel. The Company also haseshiato substantial operating lease commitmentsdtail space. Certain stores have |
designed and built to serve as hjgtofile venues to promote brand awareness and servehicles for corporate sales and marketingities.
Because of their unique design elements, locatossize, these stores require substantially nmwestment than the
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Companys more typical retail stores. Due to the high fixedt structure associated with the Retail segnaedécline in sales or the closur
poor performance of individual or multiple storesuld result in significant lease termination costsite-offs of equipment and leaseh
improvements, and severance Costs.

Many factors unique to retail operations, some biclw are beyond the Compasytontrol, pose risks and uncertainties. Theses résk
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, neaeconomic factors that could have an adverse effeadeneral retail activity, as well as
Companys inability to manage costs associated with storesttuction and operation, failure to manage refethips with its existing ret:
channel partners, more challenging environmentsanaging retail operations outside the U.S., casteciated with unanticipated fluctuati
in the value of retail inventory, and inability ebtain and renew leases in quality retail locatiana reasonable cost.

Investment in new business strategies and acansiticould disrupt the Compé's ongoing business and present risks not origi
contemplated.

The Company has invested, and in the future magsinn new business strategies or acquisitionsh 8ndeavors may involve significant ri
and uncertainties, including distraction of managetdrom current operations, greater than expddaédities and expenses, inadequate re
of capital, and unidentified issues not discoveredhe Companys due diligence. These new ventures are inhereistty and may not
successful.

The Company products and services may experience quality lpnod from time to time that can result in decreasalés and operatir
margin.

The Company sells complex hardware and softwardysts and services that can contain design and fangtoting defects. Sophistica
operating system software and applications, sudh@s®e sold by the Company, often contain “bupsit can unexpectedly interfere with
software’s intended operation. The Compangnline services may from time to time experiengtges, service slowdowns, or errors. De
may also occur in components and products the Coynparchases from third parties. There can be sorasce the Company will be able
detect and fix all defects in the hardware, sofevand services it sells. Failure to do so couldltés lost revenue, significant warranty :
other expenses, and harm to the Company’s repatatio

The Company is subject to laws and regulations dwaide, changes to which could increase the Compaogsts and individually or in t
aggregate adversely affect the Company’s business.

The Company is subject to laws and regulationsctffg its domestic and international operationa imumber of areas. These U.S. and fol
laws and regulations affect the Companwyctivities including, but not limited to, areak labor, advertising, digital content, consui
protection, real estate, billing,a@mmerce, promotions, quality of services, telecamications, mobile communications and media, tslewi
intellectual property ownership and infringemermt,timport and export requirements, agrruption, foreign exchange controls and 1
repatriation restrictions, data privacy requiremeahti-competition, environmental, health, aneéBaf

By way of example, laws and regulations relatethtbile communications and media devices in the njangdictions in which the Compa
operates are extensive and subject to change. Sahges could include, among others, restrictionsth® production, manufactu
distribution, and use of the device, locking theide to a carrier’s network, or mandating the us¢he device on more than one carrer’
network. These devices are also subject to ceatifin and regulation by governmental and standatidiz bodies, as well as by cellt
network carriers for use on their networks. Thesification processes are extensive and time coimgy and could result in additional test
requirements, product modifications, delays in picghipment dates, or preclude the Company frdimgeertain products.

Compliance with these laws, regulations and simméguirements may be onerous and expensive, agdrthg be inconsistent from jurisdicti
to jurisdiction, further increasing the cost of qdiance. This increases the costs of doing busjreess any such costs, which may rise ir
future as a result of changes in these laws and
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regulations or in their interpretation could indivally or in the aggregate make the Companyoducts and services less attractive t
Companys customers, delay the introduction of new prodirctsne or more regions, or cause the Company amgd or limit its busine
practices. The Company has implemented policiespancdedures designed to ensure compliance witte tlaegs and regulations, but there
be no assurance that the Company’s employeesactmts, or agents will not violate such laws argltations or the Company’s policies.

The Company’s success depends largely on the cewtiservice and availability of key personnel.

Much of the Company future success depends on the continued aviijadild service of key personnel, including its €Hixecutive Office
executive team and other highly skilled employd&egerienced personnel in the technology industeyiarhigh demand and competition
their talents is intense, especially in the Silidiley, where most of the Company’s key persomnellocated.

The Company'’s business may be impacted by poléigatts, war, terrorism, public health issues, ratdisasters and other circumstances.

War, terrorism, geopolitical uncertainties, publiealth issues, and other business interruption® ltawsed and could cause damac
disruption to international commerce and the glal@nomy, and thus could have a material advefeetedn the Company, its supplie
logistics providers, manufacturing vendors and ams&trs, including channel partners. The Comparyisiness operations are subjec
interruption by natural disasters, fire, power $hges, nuclear power plant accidents, terroristchf, and other hostile acts, labor disp
public health issues, and other events beyondoitéral. Such events could decrease demand for timep@nys products, make it difficult
impossible for the Company to make and deliver petal to its customers, including channel partnersto receive components from
suppliers, and create delays and inefficiencighénCompanys supply chain. Should major public health issireduding pandemics, arise,
Company could be adversely affected by more stringenployee travel restrictions, additional limibats in freight services, governmet
actions limiting the movement of products betwesagions, delays in production ramps of new prodwats, disruptions in the operations of
Company’s manufacturing vendors and component grsplThe majority of the Comparsyresearch and development activities, its corp
headquarters, information technology systems, dheraritical business operations, including car@dmponent suppliers and manufactu
vendors, are in locations that could be affecteddiyral disasters. In the event of a natural thsathe Company could incur significant los
require substantial recovery time and experiengeifitant expenditures in order to resume operation

The Company’s business and reputation may be iragdnt information technology system failures owoek disruptions.

The Company may be subject to information technplegstem failures and network disruptions. Thesg be caused by natural disast
accidents, power disruptions, telecommunicatioilariss, acts of terrorism or war, computer virugggysical or electronic bredks, or simila
events or disruptions. System redundancy may lféettve or inadequate, and the Companglisaster recovery planning may not be suffi
for all eventualities. Such failures or disruptioosuld prevent access to the Companghline stores and services, preclude retail
transactions, compromise Company or customer daiad,result in delayed or cancelled orders. Syswitarés and disruptions could a
impede the manufacturing and shipping of produdgfiyery of online services, transactions processind financial reporting.

The Company may be subject to breaches of its nrEton technology systems, which could damage éssipartner and custon
relationships, curtail or otherwise adversely impacess to online stores and services, and coulgjest the Company to significi
reputational, financial, legal, and operational c@guences.

The Company’s business requires it to use and sts®mer, employee, and business partner pergddetitifiable information (“PII").This
may include names, addresses, phone numbers, athdagdsses, contact
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preferences, tax identification numbers, and paynacount information. Although malicious attacks gain access to Pl affect m:
companies across various industries, the Companpybmat a relatively greater risk of being targdtedause of its high profile and the amq
of Pll managed.

The Company requires user names and passwordden tor access its information technology systerhe Company also uses encryption
authentication technologies to secure the transomisand storage of data. These security measurgsbm@ompromised as a result of third
party security breaches, employee error, malfe&safanlty password management, or other irregylagnd result in persons obtain
unauthorized access to Company data or accounitsl jérties may attempt to fraudulently induce esgpkes or customers into disclosing |
names, passwords or other sensitive informationgtwinay in turn be used to access the Commamfbrmation technology systems. To t
protect customers and the Company, the Companytarsrdccounts and systems for unusual activityraay freeze accounts under suspic
circumstances, which may result in the delay os lfscustomer orders.

The Company devotes significant resources to nétwecurity, data encryption, and other security sness to protect its systems and dats
these security measures cannot provide absolutgisecThe Company may experience a breach ofyissesns and may be unable to prc
sensitive data. Moreover, if a computer securitgalbbh affects the Compaisy’systems or results in the unauthorized releasBlipfthe
Company’s reputation and brand could be mater@ddinaged and use of the Compangtroducts and services could decrease. The Cot
would also be exposed to a risk of loss or litigatand possible liability.

The Company'’s business is subject to a variety.8f &Bind international laws, rules, policies andesthbligations regarding data protection.

The Company is subject to federal, state and iatenal laws relating to the collection, use, rétem security and transfer of PIl. In m¢
cases, these laws apply not only to thpatty transactions, but also to transfers of infation between the Company and its subsidiaries
among the Company, its subsidiaries and othergsawith which the Company has commercial relati@everal jurisdictions have passed
laws in this area, and other jurisdictions are @ering imposing additional restrictions. These daeontinue to develop and may
inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Cpiging with emerging and changing internationaluiegments may cause the Compan
incur substantial costs or require the Companyh@nge its business practices. Noncompliance casddltrin penalties or significant le
liability.

The Companys privacy policy and related practices concernimg se and disclosure of data are posted on itsitgelny failure by th
Company, its suppliers or other parties with whém®a €Company does business to comply with its pogtacy policy or with other feder:
state or international privaaglated or data protection laws and regulationdccoesult in proceedings against the Company byeguwente
entities or others.

The Company is also subject to payment card adsmtiaules and obligations under its contracts vatyment card processors. Under tl
rules and obligations, if information is comprontis¢ghe Company could be liable to payment cardeissior the cost of associated expe
and penalties. In addition, if the Company failsfedlow payment card industry security standardggreif no customer information
compromised, the Company could incur significané§ or experience a significant increase in payrait transaction costs.

The Company expects its quarterly revenue and tipgreesults to fluctuate.

The Company’s profit margins vary among its produad its distribution channels. The Compangbftware, accessories, and service
support contracts generally have higher gross maithian certain of the Company’s other productes&margins on the Compasyiardwar
products vary across product lines and can change time as a result of product transitions, pdciand configuration changes, i
component, warranty, and other cost fluctuatiot® CTompany’s direct sales generally have highexcésted gross margins than its
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indirect sales through its channel partners. Initemtg the Company gross margin and operating margin percentagesjelisas overa
profitability, may be materially adversely impactasl a result of a shift in product, geographic larmel mix, new products, component
increases, strengthening U.S. dollar, or price aitipn. The Company has typically experienced bighet sales in the first fiscal qua
compared to other fiscal quarters due in part tidhg seasonal demand. Actual and anticipated tintihnew product introductions by 1
Company can also significantly impact the levelnet sales experienced by the Company in any péaticuarter. The Company could
subject to unexpected developments late in a quateh as lower-than-anticipated demand for then@ny's products, issues with n
product introductions, an internal systems failarefailure of one of the Company’s logistics, campnts supply, or manufacturing partners.

The Company’s stock price is subject to volatility.

The Companys stock continues to experience substantial pratatiity. Additionally, the Company, the technologndustry, and the sto
market as a whole have experienced extreme stac& pnd volume fluctuations that have affected lsfmices in ways that may have b
unrelated to these companiegperating performance. The Company believes itsksyrice reflects high future growth and profitaty
expectations. If the Company fails to meet theggeetations its stock price may significantly deelinvhich could have a material adve
impact on investor confidence and employee retantio

The Company'’s business is subject to the riskstefriational operations.

The Company derives a significant portion of iteereue and earnings from its international operati@ompliance with applicable U.S. :
foreign laws and regulations, such as import angdodxrequirements, antierruption laws, tax laws, foreign exchange costrahd cas
repatriation restrictions, data privacy requirerseghvironmental laws, labor laws, and aminpetition regulations, increases the costs aig
business in foreign jurisdictions. Although the Gramy has implemented policies and procedures tglyowith these laws and regulation:
violation by the Company’s employees, contractorgagents could nevertheless occur.

The Company also could be significantly affectedollyer risks associated with international actgtincluding, but not limited to, econor
and labor conditions, increased duties, taxes dhdraosts, political instability, and changes le tvalue of the U.S. dollar versus Ic
currencies. Margins on sales of the Comparproducts in foreign countries, and on sales oflpets that include components obtained
foreign suppliers, could be materially adverseffigeted by foreign currency exchange rate fluctuetiand by international trade regulatit
including duties, tariffs and antidumping penalti@ee Company is also exposed to credit and calbélitly risk on its trade receivables w
customers in certain international markets. Tharelie no assurance the Company can effectively itisniredit risk and avoid losses.

The Company’s primary exposure to movements inigoreurrency exchange rates relates to bo- dollar denominated sales and oper:
expenses worldwide. For example, the uncertairggnding the ability of certain European countri@gontinue to service their sovereign (
obligations and the related financial restructurfprts by European governments may cause theevafuseveral European currenc
including the euro, to fluctuate, which could aday affect the Company’s ndn-S. dollar sales and operating expenses in thedtey
jurisdictions. Weakening of foreign currencies tigka to the U.S. dollar adversely affects the WdBllar value of the Compa’s foreigr
currencydenominated sales and earnings, and generally thadSompany to raise international pricing, pasdlyt reducing demand for tl
Companys products. In some circumstances, for competiivether reasons, the Company may decide not $e tacal prices to fully offs
the dollar’s strengthening, or at all, which woaldversely affect the U.S. dollar value of the Comyps foreign currency denominated sales
earnings. Conversely, a strengthening of foreigmeticies relative to the U.S. dollar, while genlgrdieneficial to the Compang’foreigr
currencydenominated sales and earnings, could cause th@a&@uynto reduce international pricing and incur ésssn its foreign curren
derivative instruments, thereby limiting the benhefidditionally, strengthening of foreign currengimay also increase the Compangbst ¢
product components denominated in those currerities,adversely affecting gross margins.
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The Company uses derivative instruments, such reggfo currency forward and option contracts, togeedertain exposures to fluctuation
foreign currency exchange rates. The use of sudbihg activities may not offset any or more thgooation of the adverse financial effect:
unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates threclimited time the hedges are in place.

The Company is exposed to credit risk and fluctunatin the market values of its investment podfoli

The Company has not recognized any significanteless its cash, cash equivalents and marketableities, but could experience signific
declines in the market value of its investmentfotid. Given the global nature of its business, @mmpany has both domestic and internati
investments. Credit ratings and pricing of theseegtments can be negatively affected by liquiddsedit deterioration, financial resu
economic risk, political risk, sovereign risk ohet factors. As a result, the value and liquidifythee Companys cash, cash equivalents

marketable securities could decline and resultsigaificant impairment.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its tradeounts receivable, vendor non-trade receivables prepayments related to lonerr
supply agreements, and this risk is heightenednguperiods when economic conditions worsen.

The Company distributes its products through tipiadty cellular network carriers, wholesalers, ftetaiand valuexdded resellers. A substan
majority of the Company’s outstanding trade redelies are not covered by collateral or credit insaea The Compang’exposure to credit a
collectability risk on its trade receivables is ling in certain international markets and its apild mitigate such risks may be limited. -
Company also has unsecured vendor tmade receivables resulting from purchases of corapts by outsourcing partners and other ver
that manufacture suaissemblies or assemble final products for the Cosnga addition, the Company has made prepaymessiscéated wit
long-term supply agreements to secure supply antory components. As of September 29, 2012, afisignt portion of the Compang'trad
receivables were concentrated within cellular nekwrarriers, and its non-trade receivables and-tenigy supply agreements were concenti
among a few individual vendors located primarilyAisia. While the Company has procedures to momita limit exposure to credit risk on
trade and vendor non-trade receivables as welbr@gterm prepayments, there can be no assurance sackdores will effectively limit it
credit risk and avoid losses.

The Company could be impacted by unfavorable restliegal proceedings.

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgiclaims that have not yet been fully resolved that have arisen in the ordinary co
of business, and additional claims may arise irfulgre. Results of legal proceedings are subgestgnificant uncertainty and, regardless o
merit of the claims, litigation may be expensiviemd-consuming, disruptive to the Companyperations, and distracting to managemel
recognition of these considerations, the Company eméer into arrangements to settle litigation.

Although management considers the likelihood ohsaie outcome to be remote, if one or more of thegal matters were resolved agains!
Company in a reporting period for amounts in exedshianagement’s expectations, the Compsirgnsolidated financial statements for
reporting period could be materially adversely etiéel. Further, such an outcome could result iniségmt compensatory, punitive or treb
monetary damages, disgorgement of revenue or grafimedial corporate measures or injunctive raigdinst the Company that co
materially adversely affect its financial conditiand operating results.

The Company could be subject to changes in itsaies, the adoption of new U.S. or internationa kagislation or exposure to additional
liabilities.
The Company is subject to taxes in the U.S. andenaus foreign jurisdictions. Current economic aptitigal conditions make tax rates in ¢

jurisdiction, including the U.S., subject to sigo#int change. The Compe's future effective tax rates could be affected bgnges in the m
of earnings in countries with differing statutory
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tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferrecassmets and liabilities, or changes in tax lawtheir interpretation. The Company is also sul
to the examination of its tax returns by the InédfRevenue Service and other tax authorities. Toragany regularly assesses the likelihoc
an adverse outcome resulting from these examiratmaetermine the adequacy of its provision faesa There can be no assurance as
outcome of these examinations.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

The Companys headquarters are located in Cupertino, CaliforAgof September 29, 2012, the Company owned aselé approximate
17.3 million square feet of building space, priraim the U.S., and to a lesser extent, in Eurgiag@an, Canada, and the ABiaeific region:
Of that amount approximately 10.9 million squaretfeyas leased building space, which includes apmrately 4.1 million square feet rela
to retail store space. Of the Compangwned building space, approximately 2.6 milligunare feet that is located in Cupertino, Califonmilk
be demolished to build a second corporate campadgiti&nally, the Company owns a total of 1,077 aa€land in various locations.

As of September 29, 2012, the Company owned a raatwring facility in Cork, Ireland that also housgaadustomer support call center
facilities in Elk Grove, California that includedanehousing and distribution operations and a custauapport call center. The Company
owned land in Austin, Texas where it will build icE# space and a customer support call center. ditial, the Company owned facilities
research and development and corporate functio@sipertino, California, including land for the fotudevelopment of the Compasysecon
corporate campus. The Company also owned datarsent®lewark, California; Maiden, North CarolinajdaPrineville, Oregon. Outside 1
U.S., the Company owned additional facilities farieus purposes.

The Company believes its existing facilities andipment, which are used by all operating segmets,jn good operating condition and
suitable for the conduct of its business. The Camdaas invested in internal capacity and strategfiationships with outside manufactur
vendors and continues to make investments in daajtapment as needed to meet anticipated demarits foroducts.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to the various legal proogmsdand claims, including those discussed belowelsas certain other legal proceedi
and claims that have not been fully resolved aati ilave arisen in the ordinary course of busines$e opinion of management, there was
at least a reasonable possibility the Company naag incurred a material loss, or a material lossxicess of a recorded accrual, with respe
loss contingencies. However, the outcome of legatgedings and claims brought against the Compausyliject to significant uncertair
Therefore, although management considers the tiketl of such an outcome to be remote, if one orenobithese legal matters were reso
against the Company in a reporting period for an®un excess of management’s expectations, the @owg consolidated financi
statements for that reporting period could be nmtgradversely affected. See the risk factordhte Company is frequently involvec
intellectual property litigation, and could be falimo have infringed on intellectual property rigfitand “ The Company could be impactec
unfavorable results of legal proceedingm Part I, ltem 1A of this Form 10-K under thedutng “Risk Factors. The Company settled cert.
matters during the fourth quarter of 2012 that dad individually or in the aggregate have a matdrigact on the Company’financia
condition and results of operations.
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The Apple iPod iTunes Antitrust Litigation (forme@haroensak v. Apple Computer, Inc. and Tucképple Computer, Inc.); Somers v. A;
Inc.

These related cases have been filed on Janua@U5, 2uly 21, 2006 and December 31, 2007 in theedrtates District Court for t
Northern District of California on behalf of a ponped class of direct and indirect purchasers oflfand iTunes Store content, alleging vai
claims including alleged unlawful tying of musicdamideo purchased on the iTunes Store with thehase of iPods and unlawful acquisi
or maintenance of monopoly market power under §81 210f the Sherman Act, the Cartwright Act, Califia Business & Professions Ci
817200 (unfair competition), the California Consurbegal Remedies Act and California monopolizatian. Plaintiffs are seeking unspecif
compensatory and punitive damages for the claslsletdamages, injunctive relief, disgorgement géneies and/or profits and attorneys f
Plaintiffs are also seeking digital rights managenfeee versions of any songs downloaded from iBumrean order requiring the Compan'
license its digital rights management to all cormgemusic players. The cases are currently pending.

Apple eBooks Antitrust Litigation (United State®\aferica v. Apple Inc., et a

On April 11, 2012, the U.S. Department of Justite (‘DOJ")filed a civil antitrust action against the Compamgd five major book publishe
in the U.S. District Court for the Southern Distrid New York, alleging an unreasonable restrafrinterstate trade and commerce in viola
of 81 of the Sherman Act and seeking, among othigs, injunctive relief, the District Court’'s dacation that the Compars/'agenc
agreements with the publishers are null and voidlanthe District Court’s reformation of such agremts. The DOJ complaint asser
among other things, that the decision by the fiublighers to shift to an agency model to sell eBoakd their agreements with the Comg
were an attempt to “raise, fix and stabilize retibook prices, to end price competition amonigoek retailers, and to limit retail pri
competition.” The Company filed a response to ti@J@omplaint in late May 2012, denying the D&allegations, and it intends to vigorot
contest the lawsuit. The lawsuit is now in discgyerith an initial trial date set for June 2013.r@& of the five publishers have reachi
settlement with the DOJ, which requires the pulelishto terminate their agreements with the Compamy renegotiate new agreem
pursuant to the terms of their settlements withQIiB). The District Court approved the settlemenSeptember 6, 2012 and, accordingly, t
three publishers terminated their original agreamsand have entered into new agreements with tihep@oy.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
The Company’s common stock is traded on the NASEBGrk Market LLC under the symbol AAPL.

Price Range of Common Stock

The price range per share of common stock presdmaiedv represents the highest and lowest intradbgs prices for the Comparsytommo
stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC during eacladar of the two most recent years.

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
2012 price range per share $ 705.07- $570.0! $ 644.00- $522.1! $ 621.45- $409.0( $ 426.70- $354.2
2011 price range per she $ 422.86- $327.2! $ 355.13- $310.5( $ 364.90- $321.3: $ 325.72- $275.0(

Holders
As of October 19, 2012, there were 27,696 sharenslof record.

Dividends

During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company @aglarterly dividend of $2.65 per share and expecpay quarterly dividends in the futt
subject to declaration by its Board of Directorkefile were no dividends declared or paid durinditeethree quarters of 2012 or during 2011.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers
None.
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Company Stock Performance

The following graph shows a fiwgeear comparison of cumulative total shareholdeurretcalculated on a dividend reinvested basis thie
Company, the S&P 500 Composite Index, the S&P Cdengdardware Index, and the Dow Jones U.S. Teclgyolodex. The graph assun
$100 was invested in each of the Comparggmmon stock, the S&P 500 Composite Index, th® E&mputer Hardware Index, and the [
Jones U.S. Technology Index as of the market aos8eptember 30, 2007. Data points on the graphrareal. Note that historic stock pi
performance is not necessarily indicative of futsback price performance

COMPARISON OF & YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURMN®
Amicng Apple Inc., the S&P 800 Index, the 54 P Computer Hardware Index,
and the Dow Jones US Techrclogy Index

Sap-07 Sap-0E Seap-00 Sap-10 Sap-11 Sap-12

"~

— Apple —_— = SAP S = = = SEP Compuler Hardwars = ssssses Diow Jones LS Technology I

*$100 invested on 9/30/07 in stock or index, inghgdreinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending September 30.

Copyright® 2012 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hilb@panies Inc. All rights reserved.

September 3( September 3( September 3( September 3( September 3( September 3C

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Apple Inc. $ 10c¢ $ 74 $ 121 $ 18t $ 24¢ $ 437
S&P 500 $ 10c $ 78 $ 73 $ 8C $ 81 $ 10E
S&P Computer Hardwait $ 10C $ 84 $ 99 $ 11€ $ 134 $ 214
Dow Jones US Technolog $ 10C $ 76 $ 85 $ 9t $ 98 $ 127
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The information set forth below for the five yeasded September 29, 2012, is not necessarily itikcaf results of future operations, :
should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Manageits Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditand Results of Operationahd th
consolidated financial statements and related nib®to included in Part Il, Iltem 8 of this For-K to fully understand factors that r
affect the comparability of the information presshbelow (in millions, except number of shares,chtdre reflected in thousands and per ¢
amounts).

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Net sales $156,50¢ $108,24¢ $ 65,22¢ $ 42,90: $ 37,49:
Net income $ 41,73 $ 25,92: $ 14,018 $ 8,23t $ 6,11¢
Earnings per shar

Basic $ 44.6¢ $ 28.0¢ $ 15.41 $ 9.2 $ 6.9

Diluted $ 44.1¢ $ 27.6¢ $ 15.1¢ $ 9.0¢ $ 6.7¢
Cash dividends declared per share $ 2.6 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Shares used in computing earnings per st

Basic 934,81t 924,25t 909,46 893,01¢ 881,59:

Diluted 945,35! 936,64! 924,71 907,00! 902,13¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $121,25: $ 81,57( $ 51,01 $ 33,99. $ 24,49(
Total asset $176,06: $116,37: $ 75,18 $ 47,50: $ 36,17:
Total lon¢-term obligations (b $ 16,66« $ 10,10( $ 5,531 $ 3,50: $ 1,74t
Total liabilities $ 57,85¢ $ 39,75¢ $ 27,39. $ 15,86 $ 13,87«
Total shareholde’ equity $118,21( $ 76,61t $ 47,79 $ 31,64( $ 22,29;

(a) The Company declared a dividend of $2.65 per sinaiee fourth quarter of 201
(b) The Company did not have any long-term debinduthe five years ended September 29, 2012. Leng-ibligations exclude non-
current deferred revenu
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

This Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analygig-inancial Condition and Results of Operationsfid other parts of this Form 1KR-
contain forwardlooking statements, within the meaning of the Rev&ecurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, thavdlve risks an
uncertainties. Forwardeoking statements provide current expectatiorfsitofre events based on certain assumptions anddechny stateme
that does not directly relate to any historical current fact. Forward-looking statements can alsitdentified by words such as “future,”
“anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,”“intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “will,” “would,” “c  ould,” “can,” “may,” and simila
terms. Forward-looking statements are not guarasitefefuture performance and the Compamgttual results may differ significantly from
results discussed in the forwalobbking statements. Factors that might cause suffardnces include, but are not limited to, thosscdssed i
Part I, Item 1A of this Form K under the heading “Risk Factors)thich are incorporated herein by reference. Thdofeing discussio
should be read in conjunction with the consolidafie@ncial statements and notes thereto include@ant 1, Item 8 of this Form 16 All
information presented herein is based on the Coiwyigafiscal calendar. Unless otherwise stated, refeesnto particular years or quarte
refer to the Company’s fiscal years ended in Selpgerand the associated quarters of those fiscatsydgach of the terms the “Compangthc
“Apple” as used herein refers collectively to Appfec. and its whollyeswned subsidiaries, unless otherwise stated. Thapaay assumes
obligation to revise or update any forward-lookisigitements for any reason, except as required\y la

Executive Overview

The Company designs, manufactures, and marketslenodinmunication and media devices, personal coenpuand portable digital mu
players, and sells a variety of related softwagevises, peripherals, networking solutions, anddtparty digital content and applications. -
Companys products and services include iPhone, iPad, MPad, Apple TV, a portfolio of consumer and professal software applicatior
the iOS and OS X operating systems, iCloud, andreety of accessory, service and support offerifidee Company also sells and deli
digital content and applications through the iTuS&sre, App Store, iBookstore, and Mac App Stofee Tompany sells its products worldw
through its retail stores, online stores, and disates force, as well as through thparty cellular network carriers, wholesalers, fetaj an
value-added resellers. In addition, the Companis selvariety of thirdsarty iPhone, iPad, Mac and iPod compatible praguictcluding
application software, and various accessories tjiroits online and retail stores. The Company s@lionsumers; small and msikzec
businesses; and education, enterprise and govetrmusiomers.

The Company is committed to bringing the best @sgrerience to its customers through its innovatigedware, software, peripherals,
services. The Comparg/business strategy leverages its unique abiliggegign and develop its own operating systems,wee applicatio
software, and services to provide its customers pevducts and solutions with superior easersd#; seamless integration, and innov:
design. As part of its strategy, the Company caminto expand its platform for the discovery anlivdey of thirdparty digital content ar
applications through the iTunes Store. As parthefiTunes Store, the CompasyApp Store and iBookstore allow customers to disc@nc
download applications and books through either & Blawindows-based computer or through “iOS devicaamely iPhone, iPad and iF
touch. The Compang’Mac App Store allows customers to easily discodewnload and install Mac applications. The Conypalso suppor

a community for the development of third-party e@fte and hardware products and digital contentdbatplement the Comparsybfferings
The Company’s strategy also includes expandingliggibution network to effectively reach more amers and provide them with a high.
quality sales and post-sales support experience.

The Company participates in several highly comjpetitmarkets, including the market for mobile commeations and media devices with
iOS devices; personal computers with its Mac comsutportable digital players with iPod; and dittion of thirdparty digital content ar
applications with the iTunes Store, App Store, iBgiore, and Mac App Store. While the Company isalyidecognized as a leading innovi
in
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the markets where it competes, these markets ghdyhtompetitive and subject to aggressive pricifig.remain competitive, the Comp:
believes that continual investment in research dedelopment and marketing and advertising is @ifitio the development and sale
innovative products and technologies. The Compargsearch and development spending is focuseavesting in new hardware and softw
products, and in further developing its existingdarcts, including iPhone, iPad, Mac, and iPod haréwiOS and OS X operating systems;
a variety of application software and online seggic

The Company uses a variety of direct and indiréstribution channels, such as its retail storedinerstores, and direct sales force, and thir
party cellular network carriers, wholesalers, ftetaj and valuedded resellers. The Company believes that saleis dhnovative an
differentiated products are enhanced by knowledgesdlespersons who can convey the value of thewaeie and software integration, i
demonstrate the unique solutions that are availablés products. The Company further believes jgliag direct contact with its target
customers is an effective way to demonstrate tharstdges of its products over those of its compestiand providing a highuality sales ar
after-sales support experience is critical to ating new and retaining existing customers. To ensuhighguality buying experience for
products in which service and education are empbdsithe Company continues to expand and impraveligtribution capabilities |
expanding the number of its own retail stores waidgt. Additionally, the Company has invested ingreoms to enhance reseller sale:
placing high quality Apple fixtures, merchandisintpaterials and other resources within selected 4bamdy reseller locations. Through
Apple Premium Reseller Program, certain ttpatty resellers focus on the Apple platform by pdang a high level of integration and supg
services, and product expertise.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and reldisclosures in conformity with U.S. generally gutesl accounting principles (“GAAP3Nc
the Company’s discussion and analysis of its firdraondition and operating results require the @any’s management to make judgme
assumptions and estimates that affect the amoeptsted in its consolidated financial statements @tompanying notes. Note BuUmmar
of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes @onsolidated Financial Statements in Part Il, I8mf this Form 1< describes tF
significant accounting policies and methods usethapreparation of the Comparyconsolidated financial statements. Manageme retshié
estimates on historical experience and on varigberaassumptions it believes to be reasonable uhéecircumstances, the results of wl
form the basis for making judgments about the dagryalues of assets and liabilities. Actual resutiay differ from these estimates and :
differences may be material.

Management believes the Companycritical accounting policies and estimates amesehrelated to revenue recognition, valuation
impairment of marketable securities, inventory &#ilon and inventory purchase commitments, warraasfs, income taxes, and legal and ¢
contingencies. Management considers these polmitisal because they are both important to thetrpgal of the Companyg’ financia
condition and operating results, and they requianagement to make judgments and estimates aboetemity uncertain matters. T
Companys senior management has reviewed these criticalatiog policies and related disclosures with thelifand Finance Committee
the Company’s Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognitic

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from the sdlhardware, software, digital content and appimns, peripherals, and service and suj
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue whengmve evidence of an arrangement exists, delivasyoccurred, the sales price is fixe
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicoinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkas shipped and title and risk of loss |
been transferred. For most of the Companptoduct sales, these criteria are met at the thmeproduct is shipped. For online sale
individuals, for some sales to education custonirerthe U.S., and for certain other sales, the Caompdefers revenue until the custol
receives the product because the Company retgistion of the risk of loss on these sales duriaggit. The Company recognizes reve
from the sale of hardware products,
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software bundled with hardware that is essentidghéofunctionality of the hardware, and thpdrty digital content sold on the iTunes Stor
accordance with general revenue recognition actuyirguidance. The Company recognizes revenue iordance with industry speci
software accounting guidance for the following typaf sales transactions: (i) standalone sales ftfvace products, (ii) sales of softwi
upgrades and (iii) sales of software bundled witdiwvare not essential to the functionality of thedware.

For multi-element arrangements that include hardwproducts containing software essential to thedvaare producg functionality
undelivered software elements that relate to thidviare product’s essential software, and/or undedigt nonsoftware services, the Compi
allocates revenue to all deliverables based om thkitive selling prices. In such circumstanche, Company uses a hierarchy to determin
selling price to be used for allocating revenuaétiverables: (i) vendor-specific objective evidenuf fair value (“VSOE"), (ii) thirdparty
evidence of selling price (“TPE”) and (iii) besttiezate of selling price (‘ESP")VSOE generally exists only when the Company séié
deliverable separately and is the price actualbrghd by the Company for that deliverable. ESHeaethe Companyg best estimates of wi
the selling prices of elements would be if theyaveold regularly on a stand-alone basis.

For sales of qualifying versions of iOS devices,cMand Apple TV, the Company has indicated it mamfrtime to time provide futu
unspecified software upgrades and features fredafye to customers. The Company also provideswanonsoftware services to owners
qualifying versions of iOS devices and Mac. BecahseCompany has neither VSOE nor TPE for the wifeé software upgrade rights or
non-software services, revenue is allocated toethiglhts and services based on the CommaBBPs. Revenue allocated to the unspe
software upgrade rights and non-software serviesed on the Company’s ESPs is deferred and re@sjoiz a straighline basis over tt
estimated period the software upgrades andsuofiwvare services are expected to be provideddoh ef these devices, which ranges from
to four years.

The Company’s process for determining ESPs involvesiagemens’ judgment and considers multiple factors that magy over tim
depending upon the unique facts and circumstaratated to each deliverable. If the facts and cirstamces underlying the factors consid
change, including the estimated or actual costsried to provide non-software services or the esioh period the software upgrades and no
software services are expected to be providedhould future facts and circumstances lead the Compa consider additional factors,
Company’'s ESPs and the future rate of related amatidn for software upgrades and nswftware services related to future sales of
devices could change.

The Company records reductions to revenue for estidhcommitments related to price protection ahe@rotustomer incentive programs.
transactions involving price protection, the Compaacognizes revenue net of the estimated amoutetoefunded, provided the reft
amount can be reasonably and reliably estimatedtendther conditions for revenue recognition hla@en met. The Comparsypolicy require
that, if refunds cannot be reliably estimated, nexeis not recognized until reliable estimatesmamade or the price protection lapses. Fc
Companys other customer incentive programs, the estimatsd is recognized at the later of the date at whiie Company has sold

product or the date at which the program is offefidte Company also records reductions to revenuexpected future product returns bz
on the Company historical experience. Future market conditiond @roduct transitions may require the Companyntrdase custom
incentive programs that could result in reductitm$uture revenue. Additionally, certain customeedntive programs require manageme
estimate the number of customers who will actuedigeem the incentive. Managemang'stimates are based on historical experiencehe
specific terms and conditions of particular inceatprograms. If a greater than estimated propoxiocustomers redeems such incentives
Company would be required to record additional ofidus to revenue, which would have an adverse @tnpa the Companyg’ results ¢
operations.

Valuation and Impairment of Marketable Securities

The Company’s investments in available-ale securities are reported at fair value. Urzedligains and losses related to changes in tt
value of securities are recognized in accumulatedr&comprehensive income, net
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of tax, in the Company’s Consolidated Balance $he@hanges in the fair value of available-for-ssdeurities impact the Compasyhe
income only when such securities are sold or arrdtiantemporary impairment is recognized. Realized gaind losses on the sale
securities are determined by specific identificat@f each securitg' cost basis. The Company regularly reviews it@stment portfolio t
determine if any security is other-thtamporarily impaired, which would require the Comypdo record an impairment charge in the pe
any such determination is made. In making this foelgt, the Company evaluates, among other thingsjuination and extent to which the
value of a security is less than its cost; therfaial condition of the issuer and any changes theend the Compang’intent to sell, or wheth
it will more likely than not be required to selhet security before recovery of the its amortizedt dmsis. The Compars/’assessment
whether a security is other-th&mporarily impaired could change in the future tu@ew developments or changes in assumptiontedete
any particular security.

Inventory Valuation and Inventory Purchase Commitis

The Company must order components for its prodaetisbuild inventory in advance of product shipmeitse Company records a writ@wr
for inventories of components and products, inalgdihirdparty products held for resale, which have becolsolete or are in excess
anticipated demand or net realizable value. The fizmy performs a detailed review of inventory eashal quarter that considers multi
factors including demand forecasts, product lifeleystatus, product development plans, currensdaleels, and component cost trends.
industries in which the Company competes are stibjea rapid and unpredictable pace of product @rponent obsolescence and den
changes. If future demand or market conditionstiier Companys products are less favorable than forecasted wnfdreseen technologi
changes negatively impact the utility of componiewentory, the Company may be required to recorditashal write-downs, which woul
adversely affect its results of operations in thaqd when the write-downs were recorded.

The Company records accruals for estimated canicgllfees related to component orders that have loaacelled or are expected tc
cancelled. Consistent with industry practice, then@any acquires components through a combinatiquuathase orders, supplier contre
and open orders based on projected demand infmmathese commitments typically cover the Compamgtjuirements for periods up to !
days. If there is an abrupt and substantial dediindemand for one or more of the Companproducts or an unanticipated chang
technological requirements for any of the Comparproducts, the Company may be required to recdddianal accruals for cancellation fi
that would adversely affect its results of operaion the period when the cancellation fees anatifiled and recorded.

Warranty Costs

The Company provides for the estimated cost of ward and software warranties at the time the mlag¥enue is recognized basec
historical and projected warranty claim rates,dristl and projected cost-pelaim, and knowledge of specific product failurbattare outsic
of the Companys typical experience. Each quarter, the Companyafeates its estimates to assess the adequacg ofdbrded warran
liabilities considering the size of the installedsb of products subject to warranty protection adidsts the amounts as necessary. If a
product failure rates or repair costs differ frostimates, revisions to the estimated warranty liteds would be required and could materi
affect the Company’s results of operations.

Income Taxe

The Company records a tax provision for the anditgig tax consequences of the reported resultseshittpns. The provision for income ta
is computed using the asset and liability methodjen which deferred tax assets and liabilities ragnized for the expected future
consequences of temporary differences betweenirthadial reporting and tax bases of assets anditiie®, and for operating losses and
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets andlitsds are measured using the currently enactedédses that apply to taxable income in ef
for the years in which those tax assets are exgéotbe realized or settled. The Company records a
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valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assdfset amount that is believed more likely thantodte realized.

The Company recognizes tax benefits from uncettainpositions only if it is more likely than notaththe tax position will be sustained
examination by the taxing authorities, based ontélsbnical merits of the position. The tax benefsognized in the financial statements f
such positions are then measured based on thestdrgeefit that has a greater than 50% likelihoiloking realized upon ultimate settlement.

Management believes it is more likely than not foa¢casted income, including income that may breeggted as a result of certain tax plan
strategies, together with future reversals of éxgstaxable temporary differences, will be suffiti¢o fully recover the deferred tax asset:
the event that the Company determines all or path® net deferred tax assets are not realizablhenfuture, the Company will make
adjustment to the valuation allowance that wouldha&rged to earnings in the period such deterntinasi made. In addition, the calculatior
tax liabilities involves significant judgment intesating the impact of uncertainties in the appima of GAAP and complex tax lav
Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner isistent with management’'s expectations could haweaterial impact on the Company’
financial condition and operating results.

Legal and Other Contingenci

As discussed in Part |, Item 3 of this Form 10-Klenthe heading “Legal Proceedings” and in Paitém 8 of this Form 1@ in the Notes t
Consolidated Financial Statements in Note 7, “Commants and Contingenciestfie Company is subject to various legal proceedany
claims, including those that arise in the ordineoyirse of business. The Company records a liahilltgn it is probable that a loss has t
incurred and the amount is reasonably estimablerelts significant judgment required in both thelability determination and as to wheil
an exposure can be reasonably estimated. In tmégoopdf management, there was not at least a rahsopossibility the Company may h.
incurred a material loss, or a material loss inesscof a recorded accrual, with respect to lossirggencies for legal and other contingenc
However, the outcome of legal proceedings and ddinought against the Company is subject to sicanifi uncertainty. Therefore, althot
management considers the likelihood of such anoougcto be remote, if one or more of these legateratvere resolved against the Comj
in a reporting period for amounts in excess of nganzent's expectations, the Compangbnsolidated financial statements for that repg
period could be materially adversely affected.

Fiscal Period

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53-weekqukthat ends on the last Saturday of SeptemberChinepanys fiscal years 2012, 2011 ¢
2010 ended on September 29, 2012, September 24, 20d September 25, 2010, respectively. Fiscal 3@82 spanned 53 weeks, with a4
week included in the first quarter of 2012, as ame approximately every six years to realign thenfanys fiscal quarters more closely
calendar quarters. Inclusion of the additional wigeR012 increased the Compasgverall net sales and operating expenses forghe Fisce
years 2011 and 2010 spanned 52 weeks each. Untesrsvise stated, references to particular yearguarters refer to the Compé's fisca
years ended in September and the associated quaftiiose fiscal year

29



Table of Contents

Net Sales

The following table shows net sales by operatingmssnt and net sales and unit sales by product gli#@12, 2011, and 2010 (dollars

millions and units in thousands):

2012 Change 2011 Change 2010
Net Sales by Operating Segmen
Americas net sale $ 57,510 5C% $ 38,31t 5€% $24,49¢
Europe net sale 36,32: 31% 27,77¢ 49% 18,69:
Japan net sale 10,57: 94% 5,431 37% 3,981
Asia-Pacific net sale 33,27 47% 22,59:; 174% 8,25¢
Retail net sale 18,82¢ 33% 14,127 44% 9,79¢
Total net sale $156,50¢ 45% $108,24¢ 6€6% $65,22¢
Net Sales by Product:
Desktops (a)(i $ 6,04C (6)% $ 6,43¢ 1% $ 6,201
Portables (b)(i 17,18: 12% 15,34« 3€% 11,27¢
Total Mac net sale 23,22 7% 21,78: 25% 17,47¢
iPod (c)(i) 5,61¢ (25)% 7,45% (10)% 8,27¢
Other music related products and service: 8,53¢ 35% 6,31¢ 28% 4,94¢
iPhone and related products and services | 80,47 71% 47,057 87% 25,17¢
iPad and related products and services ( 32,424 58% 20,35¢ 311% 4,95¢
Peripherals and other hardware 2,77¢ 1¢% 2,33( 28% 1,81«
Software, service and other sales 3,45¢ 17% 2,95¢ 15% 2,57
Total net sale $156,50¢ 45% $108,24¢ 6€% $65,22¢
Unit Sales by Product:
Desktops (a 4,65¢ 0% 4,66¢ 1% 4,62
Portables (b 13,50: 12% 12,06¢ 34% 9,03t
Total Mac unit sale 18,15¢ 9% 16,73t 22% 13,66
iPod unit sale: 35,16¢ 17)% 42,62( (15)% 50,31:
iPhone units sol 125,04t 73% 72,29: 81% 39,98¢
iPad units solc 58,31( 8C% 32,39¢ 334% 7,45¢

(@ Includes revenue from iMac, Mac mini and Mac Pres:

(b) Includes revenue from MacBook, MacBook Air and MaoB Pro sales

(¢) Includes revenue from iPod sal

(d) Includes revenue from sales from the iTuneseStapp Store, and iBookstore in addition to sale#od services and Appleranded an
third-party iPod accessorie

(e) Includes revenue from sales of iPhone, iPhone aesyiand Appl-branded and thi-party iPhone accessori¢

() Includes revenue from sales of iPad, iPad servanas$ Appl-branded and thi-party iPad accessorie

(@) Includes revenue from sales of displays, networkiraglucts, and other hardwa

(h) Includes revenue from sales of Ag-branded and thi-party Mac software, and servici

(i) Includes amortization of related revenue defercechbr-software services and embedded software upgraks:
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Fiscal Year 2012 versus 2011

Net sales during 2012 increased $48.3 billion dh4Smpared to 2011. Several factors contributedtipely to this increase, including t
addition of a 14" week in the first quarter of 2048 well as the following:

Net sales of iPhone and related products and ssrviere $80.5 billion in 2012, representing andase of $33.4 billion or 71
compared to 2011. iPhone unit sales totaled 128l@mduring 2012, representing an increase of858illion units or 739
compared to 2011. The year-owezar growth in iPhone net sales and unit salesadW@012 reflects strong demand for iPhone i
of the Companys operating segments, which is primarily a restithe launches of iPhone 4S in the first quarte2@ft2 and iPhor
5 in the fourth quarter of 2012, ongoing demandiRitone 4 and iPhone 3GS, and expanded distributith new carriers ar
resellers. Net sales of iPhone and related prodaradsservices were 51% and 43% of the Compatotal net sales for 2012 ¢
2011, respectively

Net sales of iPad and related products and servieee $32.4 billion in 2012, representing an inseeaf $12.1 billion or 59'
compared to 2011. Unit sales of iPad were 58.3amiltluring 2012, an increase of 80% from 2011. Jéa&r-overyear increase
iPad net sales and unit sales during 2012 was rdiiyestrong demand for iPad in all of the Compamyperating segments a
result of the launch of the new iPad in March 2Gddhtinued demand for iPad 2, and expanded disioitbwvith new resellers. Tl
yearoveryear growth rate of iPad unit sales was higher tih@ngrowth rate of iPad net sales during 2012 tdua reduction ¢
average selling prices as a result of a shift mdpct mix toward lowepriced iPad models, the price reduction for iPaahd al
increase in indirect sales due to expanded distobuhrough thirdparty resellers. Net sales of iPad and related ymtsdan
services were 21% and 19% of the Comy's total net sales for 2012 and 2011, respecti

Mac net sales were $23.2 billion in 2012, repraagnan increase of $1.4 billion or 7% compared @2 Mac unit sales total
18.2 million during 2012, representing an increaté.4 million or 9% compared to 2011. The yearfoyear growth in Mac n
sales and unit sales during 2012 reflects incredsetand for Mac portables in all of the Compangperating segments driven
2012 releases of updated models of MacBook Air MiadBook Pro, including the new MacBook Pro with iRetdisplay in Jur
2012. Partially offsetting the increase in net salé Mac portables was a decline in net sales of esktops that reflected -
overall decline in the market for desktop persar@hputers during 2012. Additionally, the Compang dbt introduce updat
versions of its Mac desktop products in 2012. Metsales were 15% and 20% of the Compautgtal net sales for 2012 and 2(
respectively

Net sales of other music related products and seswvere $8.5 billion in 2012, representing andaase of $2.2 billion or 35
compared to 2011. The increase was due primarigraath of the iTunes Store, which generated to&tlsales of $7.5 billion f
2012 compared to net sales of $5.4 billion duri@d2 The strong results of the iTunes Store reftgotvth of the App Stor
growth of the Company’s customer base; and themaed expansion of thirgarty audio, video and book content available fde
or rent via the iTunes Store. The Company contirtaesxpand its iTunes content and applicationsrivifis around the world. N
sales of other music related products and serviegs 5% and 6% of the Comp¢s total net sales for 2012 and 2011, respecti

Partially offsetting the positive factors contrilmgf to the overall increase in net sales was aedeser in iPod net sales experienced acro
operating segments. iPod net sales were $5.6 hiltic2012, a decrease of $1.8 billion or 25% coregan 2011. Similarly, iPod unit sa
decreased by 17% in 2012 compared to 2011. Dedlinest sales and unit sales of iPod reflect thtinaing contraction of the overall mar
for MP3 players. Net sales of iPod were 4% and T¥#he Company’s total net sales for 2012 and 20ddpectively.

The Company has historically experienced highersaéds in its first fiscal quarter compared to oftpearters in its fiscal year due in par
holiday seasonal demand. Actual and anticipatemhgiraf new product introductions
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by the Company can also significantly impact theeleof net sales experienced by the Company ingaricular quarter. However, neitl
historical seasonal patterns nor historical pastefproduct introductions should be considerehlbé indicators of the Comparsyfuture ne
sales or financial performance.

Growth in total net sales was particularly stromginly the first six months of 2012, rising $34.1ibh or 66% compared to the same peric
2011. The net sales growth during the first six therof 2012 reflects the launch of iPhone 4S infitst quarter of 2012 and the Compagy’
ability to meet demand more quickly for iPhone 4Bew compared to the iPhone 4 launch. Growth dutfiegfirst half of 2012 was al
favorably impacted by the addition of afldeek in the first quarter of 2012 and strong uaiés of iPad during the holiday season, resultn

a 111% increase in iPad unit sales during the djustrter of 2012 compared to the same quarter11.20

Fiscal Year 2011 versus 2010

Net sales during 2011 increased $43.0 billion d¥o6®mpared to 2010. Several factors contributedtipely to this increase, including t
following:

. Net sales of iPhone and related products and serviere $47.1 billion in 2011, representing andase of $21.9 billion or 87
compared to 2010. iPhone unit sales totaled 721®miduring 2011, representing an increase of 3&ilBon units or 819
compared to 2010. iPhone year-over-year net satastly reflected strong demand for iPhone 4 in &lhe Companys operatin
segments. The expanded U.S. distribution of iPhmnéhe Verizon Wireless network beginning in Feloyud011, continue
expansion into new countries, and increased digtdb with other new carriers and resellers alsotriouted to the year-overeal
growth of iPhone. Net sales of iPhone and relatedyxts and services accounted for 43% and 39%eo€bmpanys total net sale
for 2011 and 2010, respective

. Net sales of iPad and related products and serwdgesh the Company introduced in the third quaaie2010, were $20.4 billion
2011, representing an increase of $15.4 billior8bt% compared to 2010. Unit sales of iPad were 8&libn during 2011, a
increase of 334% from 2010. The year-oyea unit growth and net sales growth were driverstoong iPad demand in all of -
Company'’s operating segments. Net sales of iPadeated products and services accounted for 198688t of the Company’
total net sales for 2011 and 2010, respecti

. Mac net sales were $21.8 billion in 2011, reprasgran increase of $4.3 billion or 25% compare@@&0. Mac unit sales increa:
by 3.1 million or 22% in 2011 compared to 2010. Hear-overyear growth in Mac net sales and unit sales waspdinearily tc
higher demand in all of the Compasyoperating segments for MacBook Air and MacBoaok, Rrhich were updated in July 2(
and February 2011, respectively. The year-g&r revenue growth for portables and desktops36&s and 4%, respectively. M
net sales accounted for 20% and 27% of the Con’s total net sales for 2011 and 2010, respecti

. Net sales of other music related products and seswvere $6.3 billion in 2011, representing andaase of $1.4 billion or 28
compared to 2010. The increase was due primarilpdreased net sales from the iTunes Store, whiab hargely driven by Ag
Store expansion into new countries that contribtestrong growth in all of the Compasyjeographic segments. During 2011
sales for the iTunes Store, App Store and iBooksteas $5.4 billion, representing an increase of 3®¥hpared to 2010. T
Company believes this continued growth was thelre$itheightened consumer interest in downloadhigdtparty digital conten
continued growth in its customer base of iOS deyiexpansion of thirgrarty audio and video content available via thende
Store, and continued interest in and growth ofApp Store. Net sales of other music related praglant services accounted for
and 8% of the Compa’s total net sales for 2011 and 2010, respecti

Partially offsetting the positive factors contrilmgt to the overall increase in net sales was aedser in iPod net sales of $821 million or :
during 2011 compared to 2010. Similarly, iPod waites decreased by 15% in 2011 compared to 20MevVéw, net sales per iPod unit <
increased during 2011 compared to 2010 due priyaril
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to a shift in iPod product mix toward iPod touctetéales of iPod accounted for 7% and 13% of theg2mys total net sales for 2011 ¢
2010, respectively.

Segment Operating Performance

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Compasyteportable operating segments consist of the ikas
Europe, Japan, Asia-Pacific and Retail operatidhs. results of the Americas, Europe, Japan and-Radfic segments do not include res
of the Retail segment. The Americas segment ingliod¢h North and South America. The Europe seginehtdes European countries, as
as the Middle East and Africa. The Afacific segment includes Australia and Asian caestrother than Japan. The Retail segment op
Apple retail stores in 13 countries, including tHeS. Each operating segment provides similar harelvead software products and sir
services. Further information regarding the Compaoperating segments may be found in Part Il, 18of this Form 10 in the Notes t
Consolidated Financial Statements in Note 8, “Seadrrdormation and Geographic Data.”

Americas

Net sales in the Americas segment increased $IiBiéhbor 50% during 2012 compared to 2011. Thevgtoin net sales during 2012 v
primarily driven by increased demand for iPhonéofeing the launches of iPhone 4S and iPhone 5Sngtdemand for the new iPad and iPe
and higher sales from the iTunes Store. The Amersgggment represented approximately 37% and 35%teofompanys total net sales f
2012 and 2011, respectively.

Net sales in the Americas segment increased $ilidhtor 56% during 2011 compared to 2010. Thenaiy contributors to the growth in |
sales was a significant year-owarar increase in iPhone sales from carrier exparsim strong demand for iPhone 4 and increased st
iPad and Mac, partially offset by a decrease irdiPales. Higher sales of thighty digital content and applications from ther&a Store als
drove an increase in net sales during 2011. Therisamesegment represented approximately 35% andd@7ke Companys total net sales f
2011 and 2010, respectively.

Europe

Net sales in the Europe segment increased $8.i6rbilr 31% during 2012 compared to 2011. The grointmet sales during 2012 v
primarily driven by strong demand for the new iRaml iPad 2, higher sales from the iTunes Storeireréased demand for iPhone from
launch of iPhone 4S. iPhone 5 was launched in gedmumber of countries in the Europe segmertt@end of the fourth quarter of 2012
did not contribute to the growth in net sales ia BEurope segment to the extent it did in other ssdsa Lower year-oveyear growth in ne
sales in the Europe segment during 2012 comparédiet€ompanys other geographic segments reflects growth innBhmit sales that w
well below the growth rates experienced by the Camyfs other operating segments, partially offset bgrggrgrowth in iPad unit sales. 1
sales in the Europe segment were also negativghadted by the regios’uncertain economic conditions and the strengttnénU.S. dolle
relative to several European currencies, includimggeuro. The Europe segment represented appr@tini28% and 26% of the Compary’
total net sales for 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Net sales in the Europe segment increased $9ibrbiir 49% during 2011 compared to 2010. The irszeia net sales during 2011 \
attributable primarily to the continued year-oyear increase in iPhone sales from carrier expanaia strong demand for iPhone 4,
increased sales of iPad and Mac, partially offyed lhecrease in iPod sales. The Europe segmemseped 26% and 29% of the Company
total net sales for 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Japan

Net sales in the Japan segment increased $5.dnbdli 94% during 2012 compared to 2011. The growtet sales during 2012 was prima
driven by increased demand for iPhone following lnenches of iPhone 4S and iPhone 5, expandedbditm with a new iPhone carri
strong demand for the new iPad and iPad 2, highles $rom the iTunes Store, and strength in thardege Yen relative to the U.S. dollar.
Japan segment represented approximately 7% and 8% Gompany'’s total net sales for 2012 and 2@ddpectively.

Net sales in the Japan segment increased $1.6rbdli 37% during 2011 compared to 2010. The keyritnriors to Jape's net sales grow
were increased iPhone sales, strong sales of iR@dased sales of Mac, and strength in the Japares relative to the U.S. dollar. The Ja
segment represented 5% and 6% of the Companylsettaales for 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Asie-Pacific

Net sales in the As-Pacific segment increased $10.7 billion or 47% miy2012 compared to 2011. The growth in net salemgl 2012 wa
mainly due to increased demand for iPhone fromlahach of iPhone 4S, strong demand for the new @atliPad 2, and higher Mac sa
Growth in the Asia Pacific segment was affectedHgytiming of iPhone and iPad product launchesoiifehb was launched in a limited nurr
of countries in the Asia Pacific segment duringfiheth quarter of 2012 and was not launched im@hiuring 2012, and the new iPad that
introduced by the Company in March 2012 was nohdhed in China until the fourth quarter of 2012eThsiaPacific segment represen
approximately 21% of the Company’s total net saldsoth 2012 and 2011.

Net sales in the Asia Pacific segment increased3$iflion or 174% during 2011 compared to 2010e @ompany experienced particul:
strong year-oveyear net sales growth in its Asia Pacific segmentng) 2011, especially in Greater China, which uidels Hong Kong al
Taiwan. Korea and Australia also experienced stiyemy-overyear revenue growth. Higher net sales in the Asieifle segment were d
mainly to the increase in iPhone sales primarityilaitable to the strong demand for iPhone 4 andaraexpansion, strong sales of iPad,
increased Mac sales. The Asia Pacific segmentsepted 21% and 13% of the Company’s total net sal2811 and 2010, respectively.

Retail

Net sales in the Retail segment increased $4.ibtibr 33% during 2012 compared to 2011. The grawthet sales during 2012 was dri
primarily by increased demand for iPhone followthg launches of iPhone 4S and iPhone 5, strong mrfioa the new iPad and iPad 2,
higher Mac net sales. Lower year-over-year growthet sales in the Retail segment during 2012 coedpd the Compang’ other segmer
reflects the significant growth in iPad indirecstiibution channel expansion. The Retail segmerwatted for 12% and 13% of the Company’
total net sales for 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Company opened 33 new retail stores during ,2882f which were outside the U.S., ending ther yeith 390 stores open comparel
357 stores at the end of 2011. As of SeptembeR@82, the Company had a total of 250 U.S. retailest and 140 international retail sto
With an average of 365 stores and 326 stores d@®i@ and 2011, respectively, average revenuetper micreased 19% to $51.5 millior
2012 compared to $43.3 million in 2011.

Net sales in the Retail segment increased $4.@midr 44% during 2011 compared to 2010. The irsgéa net sales was driven primarily
strong demand for iPad, higher Mac sales, and eneaise in iPhone sales. The Company opened 40atailvstores during 2011, 28 of wh
were outside the U.S., ending the year with 35 estopen compared to 317 stores at the end of 2&1.6f September 24, 2011, the Comg
had a total of 245 U.S. retail stores and 112 iratonal retail stores. During 2011, the Company &a average of 326 stores compared
average of 288 stores during 2010. The averag@&ueveer store increased 27% to
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$43.3 million in 2011 compared to $34.1 million2010. The Retail segment represented 13% and 15%teo€ompanys total net sales
2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Retail segment’s operating income was $4.7ohill$3.2 billion, and $2.3 billion during 2012, 20 and 2010 respectively. These yea
overyear increases in Retail operating income were guilynattributable to higher overall net sales ttemulted in significantly higher aver:
revenue per store during the respective years.

Gross Margin
Gross margin for 2012, 2011 and 2010 are as follgavsnillions, except gross margin percentages):

2012 2011 2010
Net sales $156,50¢ $108,24¢ $65,22¢
Cost of sale: 87,84¢ 64,43 39,54
Gross margit $ 68,66: $ 43,81¢ $25,68:¢
Gross margin percenta 43.9% 40.5% 39.4%

The gross margin percentage in 2012 was 43.9%, a@dpo 40.5% in 2011. This year-oweyar increase in gross margin was largely di
by lower commodity and other product costs, a highi& of iPhone sales, and improved leverage oadigosts from higher net sales.

increase in gross margin was partially offset by ithpact of a stronger U.S. dollar. The gross nmapgircentage during the first half of 2!
was 45.9% compared to 41.4% during the secondoi@®12. The primary drivers of higher gross maigithe first half of 2012 compared
the second half are a higher mix of iPhone salesimproved leverage on fixed costs from highersad¢s. Additionally, gross margin in

second half of 2012 was also affected by the intctidn of new products with flat pricing that halvigher coststructures and deliver gree
value to customers, price reductions on certairstimg products, higher transition costs associat@t product launches, and contini
strengthening of the U.S. dollar; partially offegtlower commodity costs.

The gross margin percentage in 2011 was 40.5%, amdpo 39.4% in 2010. This year-owggar increase in gross margin was largely d
by lower commodity and other product costs.

The Company expects to experience decreasesgnogs margin percentage in future periods, as caedpa levels achieved during 2012,
the Company anticipates gross margin of about 368itngl the first quarter of 2013. Expected futureliohes in gross margin are largely du
a higher mix of new and innovative products witdt ®r reduced pricing that have higher cost strestand deliver greater value to custor
and anticipated component cost and other costasese Future strengthening of the U.S. dollar chultier negatively impact gross margin.

The foregoing statements regarding the Commaeypected gross margin percentage in future periadluding the first quarter of 2013,
forwarddooking and could differ from actual results be@wd several factors including, but not limitedthmse set forth above in Par
Item 1A of this Form 10-K under the heading “Riskckors”and those described in this paragraph. In gengrass margins and margins
individual products will remain under downward Eee due to a variety of factors, including congidundustry wide global product prici
pressures, increased competition, compressed griifducycles, product transitions and potentiargases in the cost of components, as w
potential increases in the costs of outside manurfiag services and a potential shift in the Conyparsales mix towards products with lo
gross margins. In response to competitive pressiihes Company expects it will continue to take mdpricing actions, which wou
adversely affect gross margins. Gross margins calsld be affected by the Compasbility to manage product quality and warrantgts
effectively and to stimulate demand for certairit®fproducts. Due to the Compansysignificant international operations, financesdults can t
significantly affected in the short-term by fluctigas in exchange rates.

35



Table of Contents

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses for 2012, 2011, and 2010 dalaws (in millions, except for percentages):

2012 2011 2010
Research and development $ 3,381 $2,42¢ $1,78:
Percentage of net sal 2% 2% 3%
Selling, general and administrati $10,04( $7,59¢ $5,517
Percentage of net sal 6% 7% 8%

Research and Developmel'R&D") Expense

R&D expense increased $952 million or 39% in 20&éhpared to 2011 and $647 million or 36% in 2011 parad to 2010. The growth
R&D expense was driven by an increase in headcathtrelated expenses to support expanded R&D tesiviAlthough total R&D expen
increased 39% and 36% in 2012 and 2011, respegtiveémained fairly consistent as a percentageepfales.

The Company continues to believe that focused invests in R&D are critical to its future growth aoompetitive position in the marketpl:
and are directly related to timely development @fvrand enhanced products that are central to thep@oy's core business strategy. As s
the Company expects to make further investmen®sib to remain competitive.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expens

SG&A expense increased $2.4 billion or 32% duri®d2 compared to 2011 and $2.1 billion or 38% duf#@d1 compared to 2010. Th
increases were primarily due to the Compangdntinued expansion of its Retail segment, irsgéeheadcount and related expenses, t
spending on professional services, marketing anveréiding programs, and increased variable costecésted with the overall growth of |
Company’s net sales.

Other Income and Expense
Other income and expense for 2012, 2011, and 2@l 8sfollows (in millions):

2012 2011 2010
Interest and dividend income $1,08¢ $ 5i¢ $ 311
Other expense, n (56€) (1049 (156
Total other income/(expense), I $ 52z $ 41F $ 15E

Total other income and expense increased $107omidi 26% to $522 million during 2012 compared 44 % million and $155 million in 20:
and 2010, respectively. The year-oyear increase in other income and expense duritig 2@s due primarily to higher interest and divd
income on the Compang’higher cash, cash equivalents and marketableisesibalances, partially offset by higher premiexpenses ¢
foreign exchange contracts. The overall increasetler income and expense in 2011 compared to ¥@K)attributable to higher inter
income and net realized gains on sales of marletsdturities. The weighted average interest rateedaby the Company on its cash, ¢
equivalents and marketable securities was 1.03%720, and 0.75% during 2012, 2011, and 2010, reisjeéet During 2012, 2011, and 20:
the Company had no debt outstanding and accorddidlyot incur any related interest expense.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rates were approxingad.2%, 24.2%, and 24.4% for 2012, 2011, and 20&€§pectively. The Compary’
effective rates for these periods differ from ttegtigory federal income tax rate of
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35% due primarily to certain undistributed foreigarnings for which no U.S. taxes are provided bseauch earnings are intended t
indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S.

As of September 29, 2012, the Company had deféaredssets arising from deductible temporary diffiees, tax losses, and tax credits of
billion, and deferred tax liabilities of $14.9 ilh. Management believes it is more likely than theit forecasted income, including income
may be generated as a result of certain tax plgnstirategies, together with future reversals ofting taxable temporary differences, will
sufficient to fully recover the deferred tax assdise Company will continue to evaluate the redlitty of deferred tax assets quarterly
assessing the need for and amount of a valuatiowahce.

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has conepléts field audit of the Compars/federal income tax returns for the years 200duitp
2006 and proposed certain adjustments. The Compasiycontested certain of these adjustments thrtheghRS Appeals Office. The IRS
currently examining the years 2007 through 2009.1RE audit issues for years prior to 2004 havenb@solved. In addition, the Compan
subject to audits by state, local, and foreignaathorities. Management believes that adequateigiomg have been made for any adjustn
that may result from tax examinations. However, daécome of tax audits cannot be predicted withagety. If any issues addressed in
Company’s tax audits are resolved in a manner apsistent with managemestexpectations, the Company could be required poshidts
provision for income taxes in the period such neoh occurs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table presents selected financiabinfation and statistics as of and for the yearger®@kptember 29, 2012, September 24, .
and September 25, 2010 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $121,25: $81,57( $51,01:
Accounts receivable, n $ 10,93( $ 5,36¢ $ 5,51(
Inventories $ 791 $ 77¢ $ 1,051
Working capital $ 19,11: $17,01¢ $20,95¢
Annual operating cash flo $ 50,85¢ $37,52¢ $18,59¢

As of September 29, 2012, the Company had $121i8rbin cash, cash equivalents and marketableritexz) an increase of $39.7 billion
49% from September 24, 2011. The principal comptmenhthis net increase was the cash generategésating activities of $50.9 billio
which was partially offset by payments for acquasitof property, plant and equipment of $8.3 billiggayments for acquisition of intangi
assets of $1.1 billion and payments of dividend$@imidend equivalent rights of $2.5 billion.

The Company’s marketable securities investmentf@antis invested primarily in highlyated securities and its investment policy geng
limits the amount of credit exposure to any one@éssThe policy requires investments generallye@drivestment grade with the objective
minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. &§ September 29, 2012 and September 24, 20116 $fflon and $54.3 billion, respective
of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and mdulketecurities were held by foreign subsidiaried are generally based in U.S. dollar
denominated holdings. Amounts held by foreign dlibsies are generally subject to U.S. income taxabn repatriation to the U.S. 1
Company believes its existing balances of casth egsivalents and marketable securities will béigeht to satisfy its working capital nee
capital asset purchases, outstanding commitmesitsmon stock repurchases, dividends on its commmrk sand other liquidity requireme
associated with its existing operations over thd &8 months.

Capital Assets

The Companys capital expenditures were $10.3 billion durind20consisting of $865 million for retail store ilées and $9.5 billion fc
other capital expenditures, including product togland manufacturing process
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equipment, and other corporate facilities and sifiecture. The Comparg/actual cash payments for capital expenditureisgl@012 were $8
billion.

The Company anticipates utilizing approximately $iillion for capital expenditures during 2013, mding approximately $850 million f
retail store facilities and approximately $9.15libil for other capital expenditures, including puet tooling and manufacturing proc
equipment, and corporate facilities and infrastrieestincluding information systems hardware, soferend enhancements.

During 2013, the Company expects to open aboub 3B thew retail stores, with approximately threewtgrs located outside of the U.S.

Dividend and Stock Repurchase Progr

In March 2012, the Board of Directors of the Compapproved a dividend policy pursuant to whichldans to pay, subject to subseqt
declaration, quarterly dividends of $2.65 per sh@ite Company expects to pay approximately $21®bieach quarter in conjunction with
quarterly declared dividends.

In March 2012, the Company’s Board of Directorshauized a program to repurchase up to $10 billibthe Companys common stoc
beginning in 2013. The repurchase program is erpettt be executed over a thigmar period with the primary objective of neutradiy the
impact of dilution from future employee equity gisuand employee stock purchase programs. The tepgegprogram does not obligate
Company to acquire any specific number of sharbe. Company anticipates that it will utilize apprositely $45 billion of domestic cash
pay dividends, repurchase shares, and to remihelidhtaxes related to net share settlement oficesddrstock units in the first three years of
dividend and stock repurchase programs. The Compatigipates the cash used for future dividends thedrepurchase program will co
primarily from current domestic cash and from orrgdJ.S. operating activities and the cash gendriitan such activities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obgjations

The Company has not entered into any transactigtisumconsolidated entities whereby the Companyfimacial guarantees, subordine
retained interests, derivative instruments, or ottentingent arrangements that expose the Compamyaterial continuing risks, conting
liabilities, or any other obligation under a vat@lnterest in an unconsolidated entity that presidinancing, liquidity, market risk, or cre
risk support to the Company.

The following table presents certain payments dyehe Company under contractual obligations witmimum firm commitments as
September 29, 2012 and excludes amounts alreadsdeston the Consolidated Balance Sheet (in méhion

Payments Payments

Due in Payment: Payments Due in

Less More

Than Due in Due in Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
Operating leases $ 4,41« $ b51€ $ 1,09¢ $ 99¢ $ 1,801
Purchase obligatior 21,05: 21,05: 0 0 0
Other obligation: 98¢ 937 49 2 0
Total $26,45! $22,50¢ $ 1,147 $ 1,007 $ 1,807

Lease Commitmen

The Companys major facility leases are typically for terms retceeding 10 years and generally provide renewtbrms for terms n
exceeding five additional years. Leases for rafagice are for terms ranging from
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five to 20 years, the majority of which are for yé€ars, and often contain multi-year renewal optidssof September 29, 2012, the Company
total future minimum lease payments under noncabbéeloperating leases were $4.4 billion, of whiGil$billion related to leases for re
space.

Purchase Commitments with Outsourcing Partners@achponent Suppliel

The Company utilizes several outsourcing partnemnanufacture sub-assemblies for the Commapydducts and to perform final assen
and testing of finished products. These outsourpargners acquire components and build productdbaselemand information supplied by
Company, which typically covers periods up to 189€d The Company also obtains individual componfamtis products from a wide varie
of individual suppliers. Consistent with industmaptice, the Company acquires components throughrdination of purchase orders, supj
contracts, and open orders based on projected demtommation. As of September 29, 2012, the Comydaad outstanding offialance she
third-party manufacturing commitments and compomemthase commitments of $21.1 billion.

Other Obligations

In addition to the ofbalance sheet commitments mentioned above, the &wmpad outstanding obligations of $988 million &f
September 29, 2012, that were comprised mainlopfraitments to acquire capital assets, includinglped tooling and manufacturing proc
equipment, and commitments related to advertiseggarch and development, Internet and telecommtimnis services and other obligations.

The Company'’s other noturrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance &keconsist primarily of deferred tax liabilitieggpss unrecogniz
tax benefits and the related gross interest andlfies. As of September 29, 2012, the Company laecarrent deferred tax liabilities of $1.
billion. Additionally, as of September 29, 2012 tBompany had gross unrecognized tax benefits.afldition and an additional $401 milli
for gross interest and penalties classified asawrent liabilities. At this time, the Company isable to make a reasonably reliable estime
the timing of payments in individual years in coctien with these tax liabilities; therefore, sucmaunts are not included in the ab
contractual obligation table.

Indemnification

The Company generally does not indemnify eisdrs of its operating system and application sofwagainst legal claims that the softv
infringes thirdparty intellectual property rights. Other agreemesntered into by the Company sometimes includenmdfication provision
under which the Company could be subject to cost¥oa damages in the event of an infringement clagainst the Company or
indemnified thirdparty. However, the Company has not been requoanake any significant payments resulting from saohnfringemer
claim asserted against it or an indemnified thgadty. In the opinion of management, there wasah&tast a reasonable possibility the Com,
may have incurred a material loss with respectdeimnification of endsers of its operating system or application saféwar infringement ¢
third-party intellectual property rights. The Company didt record a liability for infringement costs reld to indemnification as

September 29, 2012 or September 24, 2011.

The Company has entered into indemnification agesgsnwith its directors and executive officers. Binthese agreements, the Compan)
agreed to indemnify such individuals to the fullestent permitted by law against liabilities thasa by reason of their status as directo
officers and to advance expenses incurred by qutitiduals in connection with related legal prodegd. It is not possible to determine
maximum potential amount of payments the Companydcbe required to make under these agreementdodtiee limited history of pric
indemnification claims and the unique facts anduwirstances involved in each claim. However, the @omw maintains directors and offic
liability insurance coverage to reduce its expogarsuch obligations, and payments made under thgssements historically have not b
material.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Company regularly reviews its foreign exchafm@ard and option positions, both on a stahole basis and in conjunction with
underlying foreign currency and interest rate erlaéxposures. Given the effective horizons of then@anys risk management activities ¢
the anticipatory nature of the exposures, thereébeamo assurance these positions will offset nuaa & portion of the financial impact resul
from movements in either foreign exchange or irdgerates. Further, the recognition timing of gaansl losses related to these instrument
any given period may not coincide with the timinggains and losses related to the underlying ecim@xposures and, therefore, r
adversely affect the Company’s financial conditand operating results.

Interest Rate Risk

While the Company is exposed to interest rate diations in many of the world’s leading industrializcountries, the Comparsyinteres
income and expense is most sensitive to fluctuationU.S. interest rates. Changes in U.S. inter@sts affect the interest earned on
Company’s cash, cash equivalents and marketahblgises, the fair value of those securities, asl &glcosts associated with hedging.

The Companys investment policy and strategy are focused osepvation of capital and supporting the liquidigguirements of the Compa
A portion of the Company’s cash is managed by edlemanagers within the guidelines of the Comparyvestment policy and to object
market benchmarks. The Company’s internal portfslibenchmarked against external manager perforenanc

The Company’s exposure to changes in interest ratetes primarily to the Comparsyinvestment portfolio. The Company typically intses
highly-rated securities, and its investment policy gemhermits the amount of credit exposure to any assuer. The policy requir
investments generally to be investment grade, thighorimary objective of minimizing the potentiali of principal loss.

To provide a meaningful assessment of the intewmdst risk associated with the Companjnvestment portfolio, the Company performe
sensitivity analysis to determine the impact a geaim interest rates would have on the value ofifkiestment portfolio assuming a 100 b
point parallel shift in the yield curve. Based oméstment positions as of September 29, 2012, athgfical 100 basis point increase in inte
rates across all maturities would result in a $fllion incremental decline in the fair market valaf the portfolio. As of September 24, 201
similar 100 basis point shift in the yield curvewldresult in a $913 million incremental declinetiive fair market value of the portfolio. Si
losses would only be realized if the Company sbé&lihvestments prior to maturity.

Foreign Currency Risk

In general, the Company is a net receiver of caismnother than the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, ches@n exchange rates, and in particu
strengthening of the U.S. dollar, will negativel§eat the Companyg net sales and gross margins as expressed irdbll&s. There is a ri
that the Company will have to adjust local currepegduct pricing due to competitive pressures wieme have been significant volatility
foreign currency exchange rates.

The Company may enter into foreign currency forwand option contracts with financial institutiomsprotect against foreign exchange r
associated with certain existing assets and ltadsli certain firmly committed transactions, forsgtea future cash flows, and net investmen
foreign subsidiaries. Generally, the Compangractice is to hedge a majority of its matensiefgn exchange exposures, typically for up t
months. However, the Company may choose not toehedgain foreign exchange exposures for a vaagetgasons, including but not limit
to accounting considerations and the prohibitivenemic cost of hedging particular exposures.

40



Table of Contents

To provide a meaningful assessment of the foreigreacy risk associated with certain of the Compsufigreign currency derivative positio
the Company performed a sensitivity analysis usingalue-at-risk (“VAR”)model to assess the potential impact of fluctuatimnexchanc
rates. The VAR model consisted of using a MontddCsimulation to generate thousands of random mamkee paths assuming normal ma
conditions. The VAR is the maximum expected losfinvalue, for a given confidence interval, t@ tGompanys foreign currency derivati
positions due to adverse movements in rates. ThR Yodel is not intended to represent actual lobsgss used as a risk estimation
management tool. The model assumes normal markaditems. Forecasted transactions, firm commitmearsd assets and liabilit
denominated in foreign currencies were excludeanftbe model. Based on the results of the model,Gbmpany estimates with 9f
confidence a maximum one-day loss in fair valu§20 million as of September 29, 2012 comparedrtagimum oneday loss in fair valt
of $161 million as of September 24, 2011. BecabhseGompany uses foreign currency instruments fdgimg purposes, the loss in fair ve
incurred on those instruments are generally ofigahcreases in the fair value of the underlyingasures.

Actual future gains and losses associated withGbmpanys investment portfolio and derivative positions nthffer materially from th
sensitivity analyses performed as of Septembef@9? due to the inherent limitations associatedh yitedicting the timing and amount
changes in interest rates, foreign currency exobsingtes and the Company’s actual exposures aittbpes
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All financial statement schedules have been omittétte the required information is not applicabtds not present in amounts sufficien
require submission of the schedule, or becausmtbiemation required is included in the consolidhfimancial statements and notes thereto.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions, except number of shares which aréectéd in thousands and per share amounts)

Years ended

September 29, 201 September 24, 201 September 25, 201
Net sales $ 156,50¢ $ 108,24¢ $ 65,22¢
Cost of sale: 87,84t 64,43 39,54
Gross margir 68,66 43,81¢ 25,68¢
Operating expense
Research and developmt 3,381 2,42¢ 1,782
Selling, general and administrati 10,04( 7,59¢ 5,51
Total operating expens: 13,42: 10,02¢ 7,29¢
Operating incom: 55,24 33,79 18,38¢
Other income/(expense), r 522 41F 158
Income before provision for income tay 55,76 34,20¢ 18,54(
Provision for income taxe 14,03( 8,28t 4,52]
Net income $ 41,73 $ 25,92: $ 14,01:
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 44.6¢ $ 28.0¢ $ 15.41
Diluted $ 44 .1t $ 27.6¢ $ 15.1¢
Shares used in computing earnings per st
Basic 934,81 924,25 909,46:
Diluted 945,35! 936,64! 924,71.
Cash dividends declared per common s $ 2.65 $ 0.0C $ 0.0C

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financa¢®ents.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except number of shares which aréetéd in thousands)

September 29, 201 September 24, 201
ASSETS:
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 10,74¢ $ 9,81t
Shor-term marketable securitit 18,38: 16,13:
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $98 and &spectively 10,93( 5,36¢
Inventories 791 77€
Deferred tax asse 2,58: 2,01«
Vendor nor-trade receivable 7,762 6,34¢
Other current asse 6,45¢ 4,52¢
Total current asse 57,65: 44 ,98¢
Long-term marketable securitit 92,12 55,61¢
Property, plant and equipment, | 15,45 7,771
Goodwill 1,13t 89¢€
Acquired intangible assets, r 4,22¢ 3,53¢
Other asset 5,47¢ 3,55¢
Total asset $ 176,06 $ 116,37:
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS '’ EQUITY:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 21,17¢ $ 14,63:
Accrued expense 11,41« 9,24
Deferred revenu 5,95: 4,091
Total current liabilities 38,54: 27,97(
Deferred revenu- nor-current 2,64¢ 1,68¢
Other nor-current liabilities 16,66¢ 10,10(
Total liabilities 57,854 39,75¢
Commitments and contingenci
Shareholder equity:
Common stock, no par value; 1,800,000 shares am#thr939,208 and 929,277
shares issued and outstanding, respect 16,42 13,33
Retained earning 101,28¢ 62,84
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 49¢ 44%
Total shareholde’ equity 118,21( 76,61°
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $ 176,06« $ 116,37:

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In millions, except number of shares which aréetéd in thousands)

Accum-
ulated
Common Stock Cglfr?r?rre— Total
hensive Share-
Retained Income/ holders’
Shares Amount Earnings (Loss) Equity
Balances as of September 26, 2009 899,80t $ 8,21( $ 2335 $ 77  $ 31,64(
Components of comprehensive incot
Net income 0 0 14,01 0 14,01
Change in foreign currency translati 0 0 0 7 7
Change in unrealized gains/losses on marketabigites, net of ta; 0 0 0 12¢ 12¢
Change in unrecognized gains/losses on derivatsteliments, net of
tax 0 0 0 (259) (25%)
Total comprehensive incon 13,89(
Shar+-based compensatic 0 87€ 0 0 87¢
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of sheitbheld for
employee taxe 16,16 702 (297) 0 50€
Tax benefit from equity awards, including trangfecing adjustment 0 87¢ 0 0 87¢
Balances as of September 25, 2 915,97( 10,66¢ 37,16¢ (46) 47,79:
Components of comprehensive incot
Net income 0 0 25,92: 0 25,92:
Change in foreign currency translati 0 0 0 (12 (12
Change in unrealized gains/losses on marketablgities, net of ta; 0 0 0 (42) (42)
Change in unrecognized gains/losses on derivatsteuments, net of
tax 0 0 0 542 54z
Total comprehensive incon 26,41
Sharebased compensatic 0 1,16¢ 0 0 1,16¢
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of sheiteheld for
employee taxe 13,307 561 (250 0 311
Tax benefit from equity awards, including trangieicing adjustment 0 934 0 0 934
Balances as of September 24, 2 929,27 13,331 62,841 443 76,61*
Components of comprehensive incot
Net income 0 0 41,73: 0 41,73t
Change in foreign currency translati 0 0 0 (15) (15)
Change in unrealized gains/losses on marketablgities, net of ta; 0 0 0 601 601
Change in unrecognized gains/losses on derivatsteliments, net of
tax 0 0 0 (530) (530
Total comprehensive incon 41,78¢
Dividends and dividend equivalent rights decle 0 0 (2,529 0 (2,529
Shar+-based compensatic 0 1,74C 0 0 1,74(
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of sheitbheld for
employee taxe 9,931 20C (762) 0 (562)
Tax benefit from equity awards, including trangfeicing adjustment 0 1,15] 0 0 1,15]
Balances as of September 29, 2 939,20¢ $ 16,42. $101,28¢ $ 49¢  $118,21(

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year
Operating activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash geaedray operating activitie:

Depreciation and amortizatic
Shar+based compensation expel
Deferred income tax expen
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Vendor nor-trade receivable
Other current and n-current asset
Accounts payabl
Deferred revenu
Other current and necurrent liabilities
Cash generated by operating activi
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi
Proceeds from maturities of marketable secur
Proceeds from sales of marketable secut
Payments made in connection with business acarisitinet of cash acquir
Payments for acquisition of property, plant andiponent
Payments for acquisition of intangible as
Other
Cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common st
Excess tax benefits from equity awa
Dividends and dividend equivalent rights p
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of yquitirds
Cash (used in)/generated by financing activi

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivs
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the

Supplemental cash flow disclosu
Cash paid for income taxes, 1

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financa¢®ents.
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Years ended

September 2¢

2012
$ 981t

41,73

3,27
1,74(
4,40¢

(5,55Y)
(19)
(1,419
(3,167)
4,467
2,821
2,55:
50,85t

(151,23)
13,03t
99,77(

(350)
(8,295)
(1,107

(49)
(48,22)

665

1,357
(2,489
(1,226)
(1,69

931

$  10,74¢

$ 7,68

September 24

2011

25,92:

1,81«
1,16¢
2,86¢

142
27¢
(1,939
(1,39))
2,51¢
1,65¢
4,49¢
37,52

(102,31)
20,43
49,41¢

(244)
(4,260)
(3,197)

(25¢)

(40,419

831
1,13¢
0

(520)
1,44¢

(1,449
$ 98l

$ 3,33¢

September 2&

2010

14,01

1,02;
87¢
1,44(

(2,147)
(59€)
(2,719
(1,610
6,307
1,217
77¢
18,59:

(57,799
24,93(
21,78¢

(63¢)
(2,005)
(11€)
(20)

(13,859

91z
751
0

(40¢)
1,25;

5,99¢
$ 11,26

$ 2,69
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Apple Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (colieely “Apple” or the “Company”)designs, manufactures, and markets m
communication and media devices, personal compuagis portable digital music players, and sellsagety of related software, servic
peripherals, networking solutions, and thiairty digital content and applications. The Compsels its products worldwide through its re
stores, online stores, and direct sales force, &l ag through third-party cellular network carsiewholesalers, retailers and vahgde:
resellers. In addition, the Company sells a vardthird-party iPhone, iPad, Mac, and iPod compatible prtdincluding application softwal
and various accessories through its online andl sttaes. The Company sells to consumers, smallraidsized businesses, and educa
enterprise and government customers.

Basis of Presentation and Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemimeiside the accounts of the Company. Intercompampants and transactions have t
eliminated. The preparation of these consolidaiedntial statements in conformity with U.S. genlgralccepted accounting princip
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assmphiat affect the amounts reported in these cataetl financial statemel
and accompanying notes. Actual results could diffeterially from those estimates. Certain priorrya@mounts in the consolidated finan
statements and notes thereto have been reclassifiednform to the current year’presentation. Prior period costs associated i
Company’s high-profile retail stores have been agsified to conform to the current period’s preatoh. Refer to Note 8,Segmer
Information and Geographic Data” of this Form 10-K.

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53-weekqukthat ends on the last Saturday of SeptemberChOnepanys fiscal years 2012, 2011 ¢
2010 ended on September 29, 2012, September 24, 20d September 25, 2010, respectively. An additizveek is included in the first fisi
quarter approximately every six years to realigiedl quarters with calendar quarters. Fiscal y8a2Xpanned 53 weeks, with a 14th v
included in the first quarter of 2012. Fiscal ye2@41 and 2010 spanned 52 weeks each. Unless @akestated, references to particular y
or quarters refer to the Company’s fiscal yearsedrid September and the associated quarters o ftsosl years.

Revenue Recognition

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from the sdlhardware, software, digital content and apgilbns,peripherals, and service and sup
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue whengmve evidence of an arrangement exists, delivasyoccurred, the sales price is fixe
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicoinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkas shipped and title and risk of loss |
been transferred. For most of the Compangfoduct sales, these criteria are met at the thmeproduct is shipped. For online sale
individuals, for some sales to education custonirerthe U.S., and for certain other sales, the Campdefers revenue until the custol
receives the product because the Company retgiastion of the risk of loss on these sales duriaggit. The Company recognizes reve
from the sale of hardware products, software buhdligh hardware that is essential to the functiipaif the hardware, and thindarty digita
content sold on the iTunes Store in accordance gatheral revenue recognition accounting guidante Company recognizes revenu
accordance with industry specific software accowngjuidance for the following types of sales tratisas: (i) standalone sales of softw
products, (ii) sales of software upgrades and4ales of software bundled with hardware not esadntthe functionality of the hardware.

For the sale of most thirarty products, the Company recognizes revenualb@s¢he gross amount billed to customers becduges€ompan
establishes its own pricing for such products,instaelated inventory risk for physical products,tie primary obligor to the customer
assumes the credit risk for amounts billed to its
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customers. For thirgarty applications sold through the App Store aratMpp Store and certain digital content sold tgiothe iTunes Stor
the Company does not determine the selling pricéhefproducts and is not the primary obligor to tustomer. Therefore, the Comp
accounts for such sales on a net basis by recognizinet sales only the commission it retains femoh sale. The portion of the gross am
billed to customers that is remitted by the Comptmyhirdparty app developers and certain digital contenhew is not reflected in t
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company records deferred revenue when it resgiayments in advance of the delivery of prodacthie performance of services. 1
includes amounts that have been deferred for uifsgeend specified software upgrade rights and-software services that are attache
hardware and software products. The Company sdllsagds redeemable at its retail and online stoamd also sells gift cards redeemabl
the iTunes Store for the purchase of digital conterd software. The Company records deferred reveipon the sale of the card, whic
relieved upon redemption of the card by the custoRevenue from AppleCare service and support eottris deferred and recognized «
the service coverage periods. AppleCare servicesapgort contracts typically include extended phenpport, repair services, wélbse:
support resources and diagnostic tools offered utmgeCompany’s standard limited warranty.

The Company records reductions to revenue for astichcommitments related to price protection ah@rotustomer incentive programs.
transactions involving price protection, the Compagcognizes revenue net of the estimated amoun¢ teefunded. For the Compasyothe
customer incentive programs, the estimated coshefe programs is recognized at the later of the a@awhich the Company has sold
product or the date at which the program is offefidte Company also records reductions to revenuexpected future product returns be
on the Company historical experience. Revenue is recorded nebxafs collected from customers that are remittegbivernmental authoritie
with the collected taxes recorded as current iigsl until remitted to the relevant governmenthauity .

Revenue Recognition for Arrangements with Multipddiverables

For multi-element arrangements that include hardwaroducts containing software essential to thedware product functionality
undelivered software elements that relate to thelviare product’s essential software, and undeld/erensoftware services, the Compi
allocates revenue to all deliverables based om thkitive selling prices. In such circumstanche, Company uses a hierarchy to determin
selling price to be used for allocating revenuaéliverables: (i) vendor-specific objective evidenuf fair value (“VSOE"), (ii) thirdparty
evidence of selling price (“TPE”), and (iii) besdtinate of selling price (“ESP"WSOE generally exists only when the Company séié
deliverable separately and is the price actualprgéd by the Company for that deliverable. ESHeaethe Company best estimates of wil
the selling prices of elements would be if they aveold regularly on a stand-alone basis. For neldtinent arrangements accounted ft
accordance with industry specific software accountjuidance, the Company allocates revenue toeéillatables based on the VSOE of ¢
element, and if VSOE does not exist revenue isgeized when elements lacking VSOE are delivered.

For sales of qualifying versions of iPhone, iPad &wod touch (“iOS devices"Mac and Apple TV, the Company has indicated it rfrayn
time to time provide future unspecified softwaregigules and features to the essential software édmwith each of these hardware prod
free of charge to customers. Essential softwarei@& devices includes iOS and related applicatiand for Mac includes OS X, rela
applications and iLife. The Company also providasous nonsoftware services to owners of qualifying versioh§0S devices and Mac. T
Company has identified up to three deliverablesilaty included in arrangements involving the safdéhese devices. The first deliverabl
the hardware and software essential to the funalitgnof the hardware device delivered at the tiofesale. The second deliverable is
embedded right included with the purchase of iO@ads, Mac and Apple TV to receive on a when-araviilable basis, future unspecit
software upgrades and features relating to theymttslessential software. The third deliverabléhis nonsoftware services to be providec
qualifying versions of iOS devices and Mac. The @any allocates revenue between

48



Table of Contents

these deliverables using the relative selling pnieghod. Because the Company has neither VSOE PPBrfdr these deliverables, the alloca
of revenue is based on the CompanigSPs. Revenue allocated to the delivered hardavateéhe related essential software is recognizék
time of sale provided the other conditions for mwe recognition have been met. Revenue allocatedetembedded unspecified softw
upgrade rights and the non-software services iertEf and recognized on a straitjhe basis over the estimated period the softwagrade
and nonsoftware services are expected to be provideddoh ef these devices, which ranges from two to j@mars. Cost of sales relatec
delivered hardware and related essential softwiaodyding estimated warranty costs, are recognaethe time of sale. Costs incurrec
provide nonsoftware services are recognized as cost of saléscarred, and engineering and sales and markebsts are recognized
operating expenses as incurred.

The Companys process for determining its ESP for deliverakligsout VSOE or TPE considers multiple factors timaty vary depending up
the unique facts and circumstances related to datilierable. The Company believes its customersldvbe reluctant to buy unspecif
software upgrade rights for the essential softviackided with its qualifying hardware products. §view is primarily based on the fact 1
unspecified software upgrade rights do not oblighee Company to provide upgrades at a particutae tor at all, and do not specify
customers which upgrades or features will be dedide The Company also believes its customers wbeldinwilling to pay a significa
amount for access to the neoftware services because other companies offetasigervices at little or no cost to users. Theref the
Company has concluded that if it were to sell uggraghts or access to the nsoftware services on a standalone basis, incluttioge right
and services attached to iOS devices, Mac and Apylehe selling prices would be relatively low. K&actors considered by the Compan
developing the ESPs for software upgrade rightkide prices charged by the Company for similar raffgs, market trends in the pricing
Apple-branded and thirdarty Mac and iOS compatible software, the natdirth® upgrade rights (e.g., unspecified versusifipdy, and th:
relative ESP of the upgrade rights as comparetig¢ddtal selling price of the product. The Compamgy also consider additional factor:
appropriate, including the impact of other produmtsl services provided to customers, the pricingavhpetitive alternatives if they ex
productspecific business objectives, and the length oétarparticular version of a device has been availdghen relevant, the same fac
are considered by the Company in developing ESP®fferings such as the naoftware services; however, the primary considenan
developing ESPs for the n@oftware services is the estimated cost to prosisth services, including consideration for a reabt profi
margin.

For the three years ended September 29, 2012, dhgp&hys combined ESPs for the unspecified software uggraghts and the rights
receive the nomssoftware services included with its qualifying haede devices have ranged from $5 to $25. Reverlaeatéd to such righ
included with iOS devices and Apple TV is recogdipa a straighline basis over two years, and revenue allocateti¢h rights included wi
Mac is recognized on a straight-line basis over fmars.

Shipping Costs

For all periods presented, amounts billed to custsmelated to shipping and handling are classdi®devenue, and the Companghippin
and handling costs are included in cost of sales.

Warranty Expense

The Company generally provides for the estimatesd obhardware and software warranties at the timerelated revenue is recognized.
Company assesses the adequacy of itsepisting warranty liabilities and adjusts the amisuas necessary based on actual experienc
changes in future estimates.

Software Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed asthddevelopment costs of computer software teddd, leased, or otherwise marketec
subject to capitalization beginning when a prodautgchnological feasibility
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has been established and ending when a produwetiklsle for general release to customers. In niegtnces, the Compargyproducts a
released soon after technological feasibility hesnbestablished. Costs incurred subsequent tovachént of technological feasibility were
significant, and generally software developmentsagere expensed as incurred during 2012, 2012and.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiegiexpense was $1.0 billion, $933 million and Bé8illion for 2012, 2011 and 20!
respectively.

Share-based Compensation

The Company recognizes expense related to s¥emed payment transactions in which it receivesl@mp services in exchange for (a) eq
instruments of the Company or (b) liabilities tha¢ based on the fair value of the enterpsigegjuity instruments or that may be settled by
issuance of such equity instruments. Share-basegb@asation cost for restricted stock units (“RSUs"jneasured based on the closing
market value of the Company’s common stock on tiie @f grant. Sharkeased compensation cost for stock options is etgiinat the gra
date based on each option’s fair-value as calalilatethe Black-Scholes-Merton (“BSM”) optigricing model. The Company recogni
share-based compensation cost as expense ratablystoaightine basis over the requisite service period. Tlenany recognizes a ben
from share-based compensation in the ConsolidateéBents of Shareholdeisguity if an incremental tax benefit is realized.addition, th
Company recognizes the indirect effects of she®ed compensation on research and developmeatetdits, foreign tax credits and dome
manufacturing deductions in the Consolidated Statgsof Operations. Further information regardingrebased compensation can be fa
in Note 6, “Shareholders’ Equity and Share-basech@msation” of this Form 10-K.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is computed usirggahset and liability method, under which defeteedassets and liabilities are recogn
for the expected future tax consequences of tempdifferences between the financial reporting taxdbases of assets and liabilities, an
operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Defetax assets and liabilities are measured ubiagurrently enacted tax rates that app
taxable income in effect for the years in whichsthdax assets are expected to be realized ordsefttee Company records a valua
allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the aintloat is believed more likely than not to be iz,

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an aicetax position only if it is more likely thamohthe tax position will be sustained
examination by the taxing authorities, based ontéksnical merits of the position. The tax benefsognized in the financial statements f
such positions are then measured based on thestdrgeefit that has a greater than 50% likelihobbleing realized upon settlement. See |
5, “Income Taxes” of this Form 10-K for additioriaformation.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividiraprime available to common shareholders by the weitgnterage number of shares
common stock outstanding during the period. Dilutadnings per share is computed by dividing incaweglable to common shareholders
the weightedaverage number of shares of common stock outstgraliring the period increased to include the nundbexdditional shares
common stock that would have been outstandingefpgbtentially dilutive securities had been issuedtentially dilutive securities inclu
outstanding stock options, shares to be purchaseerihe Compang’employee stock purchase plan and unvested R3ldsdilutive effect ¢
potentially dilutive securities is reflected inwiéd earnings per share by application of the tngastock method. Under the treasury s
method, an increase in
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the fair market value of the Company’s common stk result in a greater dilutive effect from paiglty dilutive securities.

The following table shows the computation of basid diluted earnings per share for 2012, 2011286 (in thousands, except net incorr
millions and per share amounts):

2012 2011 2010

Numerator:

Net income $ 41,730 $ 25,92. $ 14,01:
Denominator

Weightec-average shares outstand 934,81t 924,25¢ 909,46

Effect of dilutive securitie: 10,53; 12,38 15,25!

Weightec-average diluted shar 945,35! 936,64! 924,71:
Basic earnings per she $ 44.6¢ $ 28.0¢ $ 15.41
Diluted earnings per sha $ 44.1t $ 27.6¢ $ 15.1¢

Potentially dilutive securities representing 1.0lion, 1.7 million and 1.6 million shares of commatock for 2012, 2011 and 20
respectively, were excluded from the computationdidited earnings per share for these periods lsecdlieir effect would have be
antidilutive.

Financial Instruments
Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

All highly liquid investments with maturities of ri.ee months or less at the date of purchase arsif@asas cash equivalents. The Company
marketable debt and equity securities have beessitiled and accounted for as availabledate. Management determines the approy
classification of its investments at the time ofghiase and reevaluates the designations at eamhckatheet date. The Company classifit
marketable debt securities as either short-tertormy-term based on each instrumsnihderlying contractual maturity date. Marketadidy
securities with maturities of 12 months or lessdassified as shoterm and marketable debt securities with maturgiiesater than 12 mont
are classified as long-term. The Company classifeesnarketable equity securities, including mutfuadds, as either short-term or lotegr
based on the nature of each security and its ditityafor use in current operations. The Compangiarketable debt and equity securities
carried at fair value, with the unrealized gaind #&sses, net of taxes, reported as a componestiasEholdersequity. The cost of securiti
sold is based upon the specific identification rodth

Derivative Financial Instrument
The Company accounts for its derivative instrumeasteither assets or liabilities and carries thefaiavalue.

For derivative instruments that hedge the exposureariability in expected future cash flows thaé alesignated as cash flow hedges
effective portion of the gain or loss on the detiiva instrument is reported as a component of acdat®d other comprehensive incc
(“AOCI") in shareholders’equity and reclassified into income in the samdopeor periods during which the hedged transactffect:
earnings. The ineffective portion of the gain osdamn the derivative instrument, if any, is recagdiin current income. To receive he
accounting treatment, cash flow hedges must bdyhejfective in offsetting changes to expected fataash flows on hedged transactions.
options designated as cash flow hedges, chandhe time value are excluded from the assessmémdife effectiveness and are recogniz
income. For derivative instruments that hedge ttposure to changes in the fair value of an assetl@bility and that are designated as
value hedges, both the net gain or loss on thevatere instrument as well as the offsetting gaidosis on the hedged item attributable tc
hedged risk are recognized in earnings in the ntiperiod. The Company had no fair value
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hedges in 2012, 2011 and 2010. The net gain ordinske effective portion of a derivative instrurnémat is designated as an economic h
of the foreign currency translation exposure of le¢ investment in a foreign operation is repoitethe same manner as a foreign curr
translation adjustment. For forward exchange catdraesignated as net investment hedges, the Comgparudes changes in fair va
relating to changes in the forward carry comporfenitn its definition of effectiveness. Accordinglgny gains or losses related to
component are recognized in current income. Davigatthat do not qualify as hedges must be adjustéair value through current income.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company records its allowance for doubtful aote based upon its assessment of various fackbes.Company considers histori
experience, the age of the accounts receivablent@da credit quality of the Compasytustomers, current economic conditions, and
factors that may affect customers’ ability to pay.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, coegbuising the first-in, firsbut method, or market. If the cost of the invergsrexceeds the
market value, provisions are made currently for difeerence between the cost and the market valle. Companys inventories consi
primarily of components and finished goods forpatiods presented.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cagirdziation is computed by use of the stralgig-method over the estimated useful live
the assets, which for buildings is the lesser oy&rs or the remaining life of the underlying bisib; between two to five years for machir
and equipment, including product tooling and maoiufdng process equipment; and the shorter of léages or ten years for leasel
improvements. The Company capitalizes eligiblestsiacquire or develop internade software that are incurred subsequent to tlerpnary
project stage. Capitalized costs related to intewsa software are amortized using the straligiet-method over the estimated useful lives o
assets, which range from three to five years. Dugtien and amortization expense on property antdpegent was $2.6 billion, $1.6 billion a
$815 million during 2012, 2011 and 2010, respedtive

Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill and Other Acqured Intangible Assets

The Company reviews property, plant and equipmamnentory component prepayments, and certain iflebte intangibles, excludir
goodwill, for impairment. Londived assets are reviewed for impairment wheneven&s or changes in circumstances indicate theyiog
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Reduligraof these assets is measured by comparisotheif carrying amounts to futt
undiscounted cash flows the assets are expectgdnerate. If property, plant and equipment, inventmmponent prepayments, and cel
identifiable intangibles are considered to be imguhi the impairment to be recognized equals theuamioy which the carrying value of 1
assets exceeds its fair market value. The Compiahyad record any significant impairments durind 202011 and 2010.

The Company does not amortize goodwill and intalegdssets with indefinite useful lives, rather sadsets are required to be testec
impairment at least annually or sooner wheneventsver changes in circumstances indicate that ¢$iseta may be impaired. The Comg
performs its goodwill and intangible asset impaintngests in the fourth quarter of each fiscal y&idre Company did not recognize i
impairment charges related to goodwill or indeénlived intangible assets during 2012, 2011 and)20he Company established repor
units based on its current reporting structure. proposes of testing goodwill for impairment, godtiWas been allocated to these repor
units to the extent it relates to each reporting. un 2012 and 2011, the Compasygoodwill was allocated to the Americas and Eu
reportable operating segments.
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The Company amortizes its intangible assets wifinitie lives over their estimated useful lives amediews these assets for impairment.
Company is currently amortizing its acquired intétegyassets with definite lives over periods tyflickom three to seven years.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company applies fair value accounting for imlaicial assets and liabilities and niimancial assets and liabilities that are recoghiat
disclosed at fair value in the financial statemeamtsa recurring basis. The Company defines fainesals the price that would be received 1
selling an asset or paid to transfer a liabilityaim orderly transaction between market participabthe measurement date. When determ
the fair value measurements for assets and li@silitvhich are required to be recorded at fair #athe Company considers the principe
most advantageous market in which the Company wéddsact and the markeésed risk measurements or assumptions that r
participants would use in pricing the asset oriliigh such as risks inherent in valuation techr@gutransfer restrictions and credit risk.
value is estimated by applying the following hietay, which prioritizes the inputs used to measaie falue into three levels and bases
categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowesel of input that is available and significaotthe fair value measurement:

Level 1- Quoted prices in active markets for identicak&ssr liabilities.

Level 2— Observable inputs other than quoted prices in aatiarkets for identical assets and liabilities, tqdqorices for identical or simil
assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or otimguts that are observable or can be corroboitayenbservable market data for substantially
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3- Inputs that are generally unobservable and tiipicaflect managemerd’estimate of assumptions that market participaotdd us:
in pricing the asset or liability.

The Companys valuation techniques used to measure the fairevaf money market funds and certain marketablétyegecurities wetr
derived from quoted prices in active markets fenitical assets or liabilities. The valuation teciueis used to measure the fair value of all «
financial instruments, all of which have countetigar with high credit ratings, were valued basedgapnted market prices or model dri
valuations using significant inputs derived froncorroborated by observable market data.

In accordance with the fair value accounting regmients, companies may choose to measure eligitdadial instruments and certain ot
items at fair value. The Company has not electedalr value option for any eligible financial instnents.

Foreign Currency Translation and Remeasurement

The Company translates the assets and liabilifiets aonU.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries int&sUdollars using exchange rate
effect at the end of each period. Revenue and egsdior these subsidiaries are translated usieg that approximate those in effect during
period. Gains and losses from these translatioegemognized in foreign currency translation inelddn accumulated other comprehen
income in shareholders’ equity. The Compansuibsidiaries that use the U.S. dollar as theictfanal currency remeasure monetary asset
liabilities at exchange rates in effect at the ehdach period, and inventories, property, and rametary assets and liabilities at historical ri
Gains and losses from these remeasurements wesgniicant and have been included in the Compangsults of operations.
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Note 2 — Financial Instruments
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The following tables show the Company’s cash arallable-for-sale securitiesidjusted cost, gross unrealized gains, gross limeddosse
and fair value by significant investment categoegarded as cash and cash equivalents or shorbngrérm marketable securities as
September 29, 2012 and September 24, 2011 (ironsli

2012
Cashand  Short-Term  Long-Term
Adjusted Unrealizec  Unrealized Fair Cash Marketable  Marketable
Cost Gains Losses Value Equivalents Securities Securities
Cash $ 3,10¢ $ 0 $ 0 $ 3,10¢ $ 3,10¢ $ 0 $ 0
Level 1:
Money market fund 1,46( 0 0 1,46( 1,46( 0 0
Mutual funds 2,38¢ 79 (2) 2,462 0 2,462 0
Subtotal 3,84¢ 79 (2) 3,922 1,46( 2,46z 0
Level 2:
U.S. Treasury securitie 20,08¢ 21 D 20,10¢ 2,60¢ 3,52t 13,97¢
U.S. agency securitie 19,54( 58 (D 19,591 1,46( 1,88¢ 16,25:
Non-U.S. government securitis 5,48: 18< 2 5,66¢ 84 1,03¢ 4,54¢
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 2,18¢ 2 0 2,191 1,10¢ 20z 88:¢
Commercial pape 2,112 0 0 2,112 90¢ 1,20 0
Corporate securitie 46,26 56¢ (8 46,82 10 7,45¢ 39,35¢
Municipal securitie: 5,64¢ 74 0 5,71¢ 0 61€ 5,101
Mortgage and ass-backed securitie 11,94¢ 66 (6) 12,00¢ 0 0 12,00¢
Subtotal 113,26t 972 (18) 114,22 6,171 15,92: 92,12
Total $120,22( $ 1,051 $ (200 $121,25. $ 10,74¢ $ 18,38: $ 92,12:
2011
Cash and Short-Term  Long-Term
Adjusted Unrealizec  Unrealized Fair Cash Marketable  Marketable
Cost Gains Losses Value Equivalents Securities Securities
Cash $ 290 $ 0 $ 0 $ 290 $ 290 $ 0 $ 0
Level 1:
Money market fund 1,911 0 0 1,911 1,911 0 0
Mutual funds 1,22 0 (34 1,19: 0 1,19: 0
Subtotal 3,13¢ 0 (39 3,104 1,911 1,19: 0
Level 2:
U.S. Treasury securitie 10,717 3¢9 ©) 10,75 1,25( 2,14¢ 7,35¢
U.S. agency securitie 13,467 24 ©)] 13,48t 22t 1,81¢ 11,44*
Non-U.S. government securitis 5,55¢ 11 2 5,56¢ 551 1,54¢ 3,46¢
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 4,17¢ 2 (2 4,17¢ 72¢ 977 2,47(
Commercial pape 2,85: 0 0 2,85: 2,23i 61€ 0
Corporate securitie 35,24 132 (1149 35,25¢ 10 7,241 28,00¢
Municipal securitie: 3,411 56 0 3,46 0 59t 2,872
Subtotal 75,42 264 (129 75,56 5,001 14,944 55,61¢
Total $8146¢ $ 264 $ (158 $ 8157 $ 9,81t $ 16,137 $ 55,61¢
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The net unrealized gains as of September 29, 20#i2September 24, 2011 are related primarily to lmmpn marketable securities. 1
Company may sell certain of its marketable se@sifprior to their stated maturities for strategg@asons including, but not limited
anticipation of credit deterioration and duratiommagement. The net realized gains or losses remfymiuring 2012 and 2011 were $
million and $110 million, respectively, and no diggant net realized gains or losses during 2018tee to such sales. The maturities of
Company’s long-term marketable securities generalfge from one to five years.

As of September 29, 2012 and September 24, 20b%s gmrealized losses related to individual seéesrihat had been in a continuous
position for 12 months or longer were not significa

As of September 29, 2012, the Company considerdahknes in market value of its marketable se@giinvestment portfolio to be tempor

in nature and does not consider any of its investsether-than-temporarily impaired. The Comparpidally invests in highly-ated securitie
and its investment policy generally limits the ambof credit exposure to any one issuer. The poleyuires investments generally to
investment grade, with the primary objective of miizing the potential risk of principal loss. Fa@mlues were determined for each indivic
security in the investment portfolio. When evalogtan investment for other-tha@mporary impairment, the Company reviews factohsa
the length of time and extent to which fair values bbeen below its cost basis, the financial coolitif the issuer and any changes thereta
the Company’s intent to sell, or whether it is mikely than not it will be required to sell, theviestment before recovery of the investment
cost basis. During 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Comgdahyot recognize any significant impairment clearg

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivatives to partially offsetiisiness exposure to foreign currency exchaisge The Company may enter into fore
currency forward and option contracts to offset sarfithe foreign exchange risk on expected futashdlows on certain forecasted reve
and cost of sales, on net investments in certagigo subsidiaries, and on certain existing assedsliabilities.

To help protect gross margins from fluctuationddreign currency exchange rates, certain of the @om's subsidiaries whose functio
currency is the U.S. dollar hedge a portion of éasted foreign currency revenue. The Compagybsidiaries whose functional currency is
the U.S. dollar and who sell in local currenciesyrhadge a portion of forecasted inventory purchasgsdenominated in the subsidiaries
functional currencies. The Company typically hedgesions of its forecasted foreign currency expesassociated with revenue and inven
purchases generally up to six months.

To help protect the net investment in a foreignrapen from adverse changes in foreign currencyharge rates, the Company may enter
foreign currency forward and option contracts tfseif the changes in the carrying amounts of thesestments due to fluctuations in fore
currency exchange rates.

The Company may also enter into foreign curreneywéod and option contracts to partially offset foeeign currency exchange gains

losses generated by the re-measurement of cegag@isaand liabilities denominated in ronctional currencies. However, the Company

choose not to hedge certain foreign currency exgpdaxposures for a variety of reasons including niotilimited to, accounting consideratir
and the prohibitive economic cost of hedging patéic exposures. There can be no assurance the hedgeffset more than a portion of
financial impact resulting from movements in foreigurrency exchange rates.

The Company records all derivatives in the Constdéid Balance Sheets at fair value. The Comaaytounting treatment of these instrum
is based on whether the instruments are desigratéedge or nohedge instruments. The effective portions of césiv hedges are recorc
in AOCI until the hedged item is recognized in @&gs. The effective portions of net investment hedgre recorded in other compreher
income as a part of the cumulative translation stdjent. The ineffective portions of cash flow hesigad net
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investment hedges are recorded in other incomeeapdnse. Derivatives that are not designated agirigeéhstruments are adjusted to
value through earnings in the financial statemiaet ikem to which the derivative relates.

The Company had a net deferred loss associatedcadth flow hedges of approximately $240 million andet deferred gain of approxima
$290 million, net of taxes, recorded in AOCI asS#ptember 29, 2012 and September 24, 2011, resggctDeferred gains and los:
associated with cash flow hedges of foreign cuyemwvenue are recognized as a component of net galthe same period as the reli
revenue is recognized, and deferred gains anddostsed to cash flow hedges of inventory purchase recognized as a component of cc
sales in the same period as the related costeeaogmized. The majority of the Compasyiedged transactions as of September 29, 20
expected to occur within six months.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow ésdgust be ddesignated as hedges when it is probable the fetextdedged transact
will not occur in the initially identified time perd or within a subsequent twoenth time period. Deferred gains and losses in A@Sociate
with such derivative instruments are reclassifiegnediately into other income and expense. Any sylemsat changes in fair value of s
derivative instruments are reflected in other ineand expense unless they arelesignated as hedges of other transactions. The&uondic

not recognize any significant net gains or losstated to the loss of hedge designation on diseoat cash flow hedges during 2012, 2011
2010.

The Companys unrealized net gains and losses on net investheelges, included in the cumulative translatioustdjent account of AOC
were not significant as of September 29, 2012 anuteBnber 24, 2011, respectively. The ineffectivaipos of and amounts excluded from
effectiveness test of net investment hedges ameded in other income and expense.

The gain/loss recognized in other income and expésforeign currency forward and option contrawdé designated as hedging instrum
was not significant during 2012, 2011 and 2010peetvely. These amounts represent the net gdivseron the derivative contracts and dc
include changes in the related exposures, whickrgdiy offset a portion of the gain or loss on tlegivative contracts.

The following table shows the notional principal amts of the Company’ outstanding derivative instruments and credit a@snount
associated with outstanding or unsettled derivatisguments as of September 29, 2012 and Septe2db@011 (in millions):

2012 2011
Credit Credit
Notional Risk Notional Risk
Principal Amounts Principal Amounts
Instruments designated as accounting hec
Foreign exchange contrac $41,97( $ 14C $13,70¢ $ 537
Instruments not designated as accounting het
Foreign exchange contrac $13,40: $ 12 $ 9,891 $ 56

The notional principal amounts for outstanding kgive instruments provide one measure of the &etien volume outstanding and do
represent the amount of the Company’s exposureehitcor market loss. The credit risk amounts repné the Compang’gross exposure
potential accounting loss on derivative instrumehég are outstanding or unsettled if all countdies failed to perform according to the te
of the contract, based on then-current currenchaxge rates at each respective date. The Conggrgss exposure on these transactions
be further mitigated by collateral received frommtain counterparties. The Compasyéxposure to credit loss and market risk will vave!
time as a function of currency exchange rates.cAigfn the table above reflects the notional priricipa credit risk amounts of the Company’
foreign exchange
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instruments, it does not reflect the gains or Isssgsociated with the exposures and transacti@isttte foreign exchange instruments
intended to hedge. The amounts ultimately realizeon settlement of these financial instrumentsetiogr with the gains and losses on
underlying exposures, will depend on actual macketditions during the remaining life of the instremts.

The Company generally enters into master nettingngements, which reduce credit risk by permittie settlement of transactions with
same counterparty. To further limit credit riske tBompany generally enters into collateral secaitgngements that provide for collatere
be received or posted when the net fair value ghiefinancial instruments fluctuates from contuadly established thresholds. The Comg
presents its derivative assets and derivativeliii@si at their gross fair values. As of Septenid@r2012, the Company posted cash colle
related to the derivative instruments under itdatetal security arrangements of $278 million, whitrecorded as other current assets i
Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of September 241,20& Company received cash collateral relatethéoderivative instruments under
collateral security arrangements of $288 milliomiaeh it recorded as accrued expenses in the Calagetl Balance Sheet. The Company
not have any derivative instruments with credik related contingent features that would requiréo post additional collateral as
September 29, 2012 or September 24, 2011.

The following tables show the Compasyderivative instruments at gross fair value atecedd in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
September 29, 2012 and September 24, 2011 (ironsli

2012
Fair Value of Fair Value of
Derivatives Derivatives Not
Designated as Designated as Total
Hedge Instruments Hedge Instruments Fair Value
Derivative assets (a
Foreign exchange contrac $ 13¢ $ 12 $ 15C
Derivative liabilities (b):
Foreign exchange contra $ 51€ $ 41 $ 557
2011
Fair Value of Fair Value of
Derivatives Derivatives Not
Designated as Designated as Total
Hedge Instruments Hedge Instruments Fair Value
Derivative assets (a
Foreign exchange contra $ 46( $ 56 $ b5i€
Derivative liabilities (b):
Foreign exchange contra $ 72 $ 37 $ 10¢

(@) Thefair value of derivative assets is measured usiegelL 2 fair value inputs and is recorded as otherent assets in the Consolide
Balance Sheet:

(b) The fair value of derivative liabilities is measdnesing Level 2 fair value inputs and is recordedecrued expenses in the Consolic
Balance Sheet:
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The following table shows the pre-tax effect of ©@mpanys derivative instruments designated as cash flavreet investment hedges in
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded September 29, 2012 and September 24, 20tdilfpns):

Years Ended

Gains/
Gains/(Losses) Recognized i (Losses) Reclassified from AOCI Gains/(Losses) Recognize- Ineffective Portion and
OCI - Effective Portion (c) into Net Income- Effective Portion (c Amount Excluded from Effectiveness Testin¢
September 2¢ September 24 September 2¢ September 24 September 2¢ September 24
2012 2011 2012 (a) 2011 (b) Location 2012 2011
Cash flow hedge:
Foreign exchange Other incom
contracts $ (17%) $ 158 $ 607 $ (704) and expens $ (65€) $ (219)
Net investment hedge
Foreign exchange Other incom
contracts (5) (43) 0 0 and expens 3 1
Total $ (180) $ 11C $ 607 $ 704 $ (655) $ (212)

(@) Includes gains/(losses) reclassified from AOCI in&i income for the effective portion of cash floedges, of which $537 million a
$70 million were recognized within net sales andtad sales, respectively, within the Consoliddsatement of Operations for the y
ended September 29, 2012. There were no amoumdéssiied from AOCI into income for the effectivertion of net investment hedc
for the year ended September 29, 2(

(b) Includes gains/(losses) reclassified from AOCI imoome for the effective portion of cash flow hedgof which $(349) million ar
$(355) million were recognized within net sales aodt of sales, respectively, within the ConsobdaStatement of Operations for
year ended September 24, 2011. There were no amaegiassified from AOCI into income for the efigetportion of net investme
hedges for the year ended September 24, -

(c) Refer to Note 6, “Shareholders’ Equity and 8Haased Compensation” of this Form K Owhich summarizes the activity in AOCI rela
to derivatives

Accounts Receivable
Trade Receivables

The Company has considerable trade receivablesaodiag with its third-party cellular network cars, wholesalers, retailers, valadde:
resellers, small and misized businesses, and education, enterprise anerrgoent customers. The Company generally does etpfire
collateral from its customers; however, the Compaillyrequire collateral in certain instances tmif credit risk. In addition, when possit
the Company attempts to limit credit risk on tradeeivables with credit insurance for certain comtes or by requiring thirgharty financing
loans or leases to support credit exposure. Thesht-dinancing arrangements are directly betwdenthirdparty financing company and 1
end customer. As such, the Company generally doegssume any recourse or credit risk sharinge@lt any of these arrangements.

As of September 29, 2012, the Company had two met® that represented 10% or more of total tradeivables, one of which accounted
14% and the other 10%. As of September 24, 20Ekettvere no customers that accounted for 10% oe rabthe Companyg' total trad
receivables. The Comparsy’cellular network carriers accounted for 66% ar@d650f trade receivables as of September 29, 20d
September 24, 2011, respectively. The additionsvenité-offs to the Companyg’allowance for doubtful accounts during 2012, 2aad 201
were not significant.
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Vendor Non-Trade Receivables

The Company has ndmade receivables from certain of its manufactusiagdors resulting from the sale of componentfiégseé manufacturii
vendors who manufacture sassemblies or assemble final products for the CompBhe Company purchases these components difeaith
suppliers. Vendor non-trade receivables from tlofede Company’s vendors accounted for 45%, 21%128d of total nortrade receivables
of September 29, 2012 and vendor non-trade redeiwdtbom two of the Company’s vendors accounted5@# and 29% of total notmade
receivables as of September 24, 2011. The Compeaxy bt reflect the sale of these components isales and does not recognize any pi
on these sales until the related products arelgottie Company, at which time any profit is recagui as a reduction of cost of sales.

Note 3— Consolidated Financial Statement Details

The following tables show the Compasytonsolidated financial statement details as qfteédeber 29, 2012 and September 24, 201
millions):

Property, Plant and Equipment

2012 2011
Land and buildings $ 2,43¢ $ 2,05¢
Machinery, equipment and inter-use softwart 15,74 6,92¢
Office furniture and equipmel 241 184
Leasehold improvemen 3,46¢ 2,59¢

Gross property, plant and equipm 21,88 11,76¢
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (6,435 (3,999

Net property, plant and equipme $15,45: $ 7,775
Accrued Expenses

2012 2011

Accrued warranty and related costs $ 1,63¢ $1,24(
Accrued taxe: 1,53¢ 1,14(
Deferred margin on component sa 1,492 2,03¢
Accrued marketing and selling expen 91( 59¢
Accrued compensation and employee ben 73t 59C
Other current liabilitie: 5,10¢ 3,641

Total accrued expens $11,41¢ $9,24%
Non-Current Liabilities

2012 2011

Deferred tax liabilities $13,84" $ 8,15¢
Other nor-current liabilities 2,817 1,941

Total other no-current liabilities $16,66¢ $10,10(
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Note 4 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Companys acquired intangible assets with definite livesnarily consist of patents and licenses and arertined over periods typical
from three to seven years. The following table sampes the components of gross and net intangg#setdalances as of September 29,
and September 24, 2011 (in millions):

2012 2011
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Definite lived and amortizable acquired intangiagset: $5,16¢ $ (1,047 $4,12¢ $3,87: $ (437) $3,43¢
Indefinite lived and nc-amortizable trademarl 10C 0 10C 10C 0 10C
Total acquired intangible asst $5,26¢ $ (1,047 $4,22¢ $3,97¢ $ (437) $3,53¢

During 2012 and 2011, the Company completed varmsiness acquisitions. In 2012, the aggregate cassideration, net of cash acqui
was $350 million, of which $245 million was alloedtto goodwill, $113 million to acquired intangitdssets and $8 million to liabiliti
assumed. In 2011, the aggregate cash consideragbof cash acquired, was $244 million, of whidi6 % million was allocated to goodwill a
$77 million to acquired intangible assets.

The Companys gross carrying amount of goodwill was $1.1 hilliand $896 million as of September 29, 2012 ande®dper 24, 201
respectively. The Company did not have any goodmiflairment during 2012, 2011 or 2010.

Amortization expense related to acquired intangéssets was $605 million, $192 million and $69ionillin 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectiv
As of September 29, 2012 the remaining weiglaeelkage amortization period for acquired intangéseets is 5.2 years. The expected al
amortization expense related to acquired intangiblets as of September 29, 2012, is as followsi(iions):

2013 $ 67<
2014 737
2015 752
2016 75¢
2017 63E
Thereaftel 56€

Total $4,12¢
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Note 5 — Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes for 2012, 2011, 26d0, consisted of the following (in millions):

2012 2011 2010
Federal:
Current $ 7,24( $ 3,88¢ $ 2,15(
Deferred 5,01¢ 2,99¢ 1,67¢
12,25¢ 6,88 3,82¢
State:
Current 1,18: 762 65E
Deferred (129 37 (115)
1,05¢ 79¢ 54(
Foreign:
Current 1,20: 76¢ 282
Deferred (490 (167) (127
71% 60z 161
Provision for income taxe $14,03( $ 8,28 $ 4,527

The foreign provision for income taxes is basedarign pretax earnings of $36.8 billion, $24.0ibit and $13.0 billion in 2012, 2011 ¢
2010, respectively. The Companryconsolidated financial statements provide for eigted tax liability on amounts that may be repsgtd
aside from undistributed earnings of certain of @@mpanys foreign subsidiaries that are intended to befinitely reinvested in operatio
outside the U.S. As of September 29, 2012, U.Sntectaxes have not been provided on a cumulatiad @b $40.4 billion of such earnin
The amount of unrecognized deferred tax liabilihated to these temporary differences is estimatbe approximately $13.8 billion.

As of September 29, 2012 and September 24, 20216 $8llion and $54.3 billion, respectively, of tl@®@mpanys cash, cash equivalents
marketable securities were held by foreign subsiEBaand are generally based in U.S. dallanominated holdings. Amounts held by fort

subsidiaries are generally subject to U.S. incaamatton on repatriation to the U.S.

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxegth the amount computed by applying the statufederal income tax rate (35% in 20

2011 and 2010) to income before provision for inedaxes for 2012, 2011, and 2010, is as followsn(itions):

2012 2011 2010
Computed expected tax $19,51° $11,97:¢ $ 6,48¢
State taxes, net of federal effi 677 552 351
Indefinitely invested earnings of foreign subsiia (5,895 (3,899 (2,12%)
Research and development credit, (103) (167) (23
Domestic production activities deducti (32¢) (16¢) (48)
Other 162 (9) (117
Provision for income taxe $14,03( $ 8,28¢ $ 4,527
Effective tax rate 25.2% 24.2% 24.4%

The Companys income taxes payable have been reduced by theeteedits from employee stock plan awards. Forkstqations, the Compal

receives an income tax benefit calculated as theffact of the difference
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between the fair market value of the stock issudtieatime of the exercise and the exercise pfoe RSUs, the Company receives an inc
tax benefit upon the award’s vesting equal to #xeefffect of the underlying stockfair market value. The Company had net excesbdagfit:
from equity awards of $1.4 billion, $1.1 billion &i$742 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectivelfich were reflected as increase
common stock.

As of September 29, 2012 and September 24, 20&1sigificant components of the Compangeferred tax assets and liabilities wer¢
millions):

2012 2011
Deferred tax asset
Accrued liabilities and other reserv $ 2,101 $ 1,61(
Basis of capital assets and investme 447 39C
Sharebased compensatic 39t 35E
Other 1,094 79E
Total deferred tax asse 4,037 3,15(C
Less valuation allowanc 0 0
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowe 4,037 3,15(C
Deferred tax liabilities
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar 14,71: 8,89¢
Other 19z 272
Total deferred tax liabilitie 14,90¢ 9,16¢
Net deferred tax liabilitie $(10,86¢) $ (6,01¢)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect theef of tax losses, credits, and the future inctareffects of temporary differences betweer
consolidated financial statement carrying amouh&xesting assets and liabilities and their respediax bases and are measured using er
tax rates that apply to taxable income in the yaavghich those temporary differences are expetidik recovered or settled.

Uncertain Tax Positions

Tax positions are evaluated in a ta®@p process. The Company first determines whethgmore likely than not that a tax position whi
sustained upon examination. If a tax position méssmore-likely-thamot recognition threshold it is then measured tiemieine the amou
of benefit to recognize in the financial statemefitse tax position is measured as the largest atraflyenefit that is greater than 50% likel
being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Commdassifies gross interest and penalties and ogrézed tax benefits that are not expe
to result in payment or receipt of cash within gear as non-current liabilities in the ConsolidaBadance Sheets.

As of September 29, 2012, the total amount of grosecognized tax benefits was $2.1 billion, of evh$889 million, if recognized, wot
affect the Company' effective tax rate. As of September 24, 2011, ttli@l amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits §&4 billion, o
which $563 million, if recognized, would affect t®mpany’s effective tax rate.
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The aggregate changes in the balance of grossagmized tax benefits, which excludes interest agwhfiies, for 2012, 2011, and 2010, i
follows (in millions):

2012 2011 2010
Beginning Balance $1,37¢ $ 94z $ 971
Increases related to tax positions taken duringa pear 34C 49 61
Decreases related to tax positions taken duringoa year (207) (39 (229
Increases related to tax positions taken duringtheent yea 467 42~ 24C
Decreases related to settlements with taxing aitig (©)] 0 (102
Decreases related to expiration of statute of &tiohs (10) (©)] 3)
Ending Balanct $2,06: $1,37¢ $ 94

The Company includes interest and penalties relatathrecognized tax benefits within the provisfonincome taxes. As of September
2012 and September 24, 2011, the total amountasfsgnterest and penalties accrued was $401 mdliwh$261 million, respectively, whict
classified as nowcurrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance &keln connection with tax matters, the Compaipgeized interest exper
in 2012 and 2011 of $140 million and $14 millioaspectively, and in 2010 the Company recognizeidtenest benefit of $43 million.

The Company is subject to taxation and files incdaxereturns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction andnany state and foreign jurisdictions.
U.S. federal income tax purposes, all years poa2@04 are closed. The Internal Revenue Serviee“(RRS”) has completed its field audit
the Companys federal income tax returns for the years 2004uthiin 2006 and proposed certain adjustments. Thep@aynhas contest
certain of these adjustments through the IRS Appé@xdfice. The IRS is currently examining the yea@97 through 2009. In addition,
Company is also subject to audits by state, logdlfareign tax authorities. In major states andaméreign jurisdictions, the years subseq
to 1989 and 2002, respectively, generally remaenaggnd could be subject to examination by the tpaurthorities.

Management believes that an adequate provisiorbbas made for any adjustments that may result filmmexaminations. However, 1
outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted withadety. If any issues addressed in the Compangk audits are resolved in a mannel
consistent with managemesitexpectations, the Company could be required jusshds provision for income tax in the period kuesolutiol
occurs. Although timing of the resolution and/ooszire of audits is not certain, the Company be$igvés reasonably possible that tax a
resolutions could reduce its unrecognized tax benigy between $120 million and $170 million in thext 12 months.

Note 6 — Shareholders’ Equity and Share-based Compsation
Preferred Stock

The Company has five million shares of authorizeef@ered stock, none of which is issued or outstapdJnder the terms of the Compasy’
Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Board ofddtors is authorized to determine or alter thategpreferences, privileges and restrictior
the Company’s authorized but unissued shares ¢énpeel stock.

Dividend and Stock Repurchase Program

In 2012, the Board of Directors of the Company appd a dividend policy pursuant to which it plamsnake, subject to subseqt
declaration, quarterly dividends of $2.65 per sh&@a July 24, 2012, the Board of Directors declasedividend of $2.65 per share
shareholders of record as of the close of businaes8ugust 13, 2012. The Company paid $2.5 billiorconjunction with this dividend «
August 16, 2012. No dividends were declared irfitisé three quarters of 2012 or in 2011 and 2010
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In 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors authatiagorogram to repurchase up to $10 billion ofGrmenpanys common stock beginning
2013. The repurchase program is expected to beussccover a thregear period with the primary objective of neutradiy the impact ¢
dilution from future employee equity grants and éype stock purchase programs. The repurchasegmodoes not obligate the Compan
acquire any specific number of shares. In August22@he Company entered into a Rule 1QbBempliant accelerated share repurc
(“ASR”) program with a financial institution to peiiase up to $2 billion of the Compasy¢ommon stock during 2013. The total numb
shares to be purchased under the ASR program evildsed on the volume-weighted average price aEtmpanys common stock during t
purchase period and will be reflected as a redncifcshares outstanding on the date of purchase Cimpany may also purchase its com
stock in open market transactions, in compliandé @il applicable securities laws.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two componentsjnmoeme and other comprehensive income. Other cehgmsive income refers
revenue, expenses, and gains and losses that GAdd? are recorded as an element of sharehol@epsity but are excluded from net inco
The Companys other comprehensive income consists of foreigmeogy translation adjustments from those subsasanot using the U.
dollar as their functional currency, unrealizedngaand losses on marketable securities classifiealvailable-forsale, and net deferred ge
and losses on certain derivative instruments adeduior as cash flow hedges.

The following table shows the components of AOEH, of taxes, as of September 29, 2012 and Septedb@011 (in millions):

2012 2011
Net unrealized gains/losses on marketable secu $ 731 $13C
Net unrecognized gains/losses on derivative instnis (240 29C
Cumulative foreign currency translati 8 23

Accumulated other comprehensive inco $ 49¢ $445

The change in fair value of available-fesle securities included in other comprehensiverme was $601 million, $(41) million and $
million, net of taxes in 2012, 2011 and 2010, resipely. The tax effect related to the change ineatized gains/losses on available-$aie
securities was $(353) million, $24 million and $zillion for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The following table shows activity in other compeekive income related to derivatives, net of takesd by the Company during 2012, 2(
and 2010 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010
Change in fair value of derivatives $(131)) $ 92 $(180)
Adjustment for net gains/losses realized and iredlich net incom (399 45C (73)

Change in unrecognized gains/losses on derivatisteuiments $(530)  $54z $(259)

The tax effect related to the changes in fair valfi@erivatives was $73 million, $(50) million ag97 million for 2012, 2011 and 20:
respectively. The tax effect related to derivatjains/losses reclassified from other comprehensis@me to income was $220 million, $(2
million and $43 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010spectively.
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Employee Benefit Plans
2003 Employee Stock Plan

The 2003 Employee Stock Plan (the “2003 Plan”) shareholder approved plan that provides for biwegkd equity grants to employse
including executive officers. The 2003 Plan perrtiits granting of incentive stock options, nonstatyistock options, RSUs, stock apprecia
rights, stock purchase rights and performabased awards. Options granted under the 2003 Ria@rally expire seven to ten years afte
grant date and generally become exercisable oypariad of four years, based on continued employmaith either annual, senginnual o
quarterly vesting. In general, RSUs granted undder2003 Plan vest over two to four years, basedomtinued employment and are sel
upon vesting in shares of the Company’s commorkstoca one-forene basis. Each share issued with respect to ardayanted under tl
2003 Plan (other than a stock option or stock apatien right) reduces the number of shares avialédr grant under the plan by two sha
whereas shares issued in respect of an optiorock sippreciation right count against the numbeshaires available for grant on a one-6oe
basis. All RSUs, other than RSUs held by the Chiefcutive Officer, granted under the 2003 Plan hdivielend equivalent rights (“DER;
which entitle holders of RSUs to the same divideallie per share as holders of common stock. DERw@ect to the same vesting and ¢
terms and conditions as the corresponding unvésgids. DER are accumulated and paid when the uridgrihares vest. As of September
2012, approximately 37.1 million shares were reseffor future issuance under the 2003 Plan.

1997 Director Stock Plan

The 1997 Director Stock Plan (the “Director Plaig)a shareholder approved plan that (i) permitsGbepany to grant awards of RSU:
stock options to the Company’s non-employee dirsci@) provides for automatic initial grants oSRs upon a noemployee director joinir
the Board of Directors and automatic annual grahlRSUs at each annual meeting of shareholders(i@npermits the Board of Directors
prospectively change the relative mixture of stopkions and RSUs for the initial and annual awashts and the methodology for determir
the number of shares of the Compangbmmon stock subject to these grants withoutestwdaler approval. Each share issued with resp
RSUs granted under the Director Plan reduces theauof shares available for grant under the platwlo shares. The Director Plan exp
November 9, 2019. All RSUs granted under the Dine€lan are entitled to DER. As of September 29, 22@pproximately 184,000 sha
were reserved for future issuance under the Dirdizn.

Rule 10b-1 Trading Plans

During the fourth quarter of 2012, executive offc@imothy D. Cook, Peter Oppenheimer, D. Bruce @gwhillip W. Schiller and Jeffrey
Williams, and directors William V. Campbell and Adr D. Levinson had equity trading plans adopteddnordance with Rule 10d5¢)(1
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astk(ithe “Exchange Act”). An equity trading plaraisvritten document that pesstablishe
the amounts, prices and dates (or a formula fagrdehing the amounts, prices and dates) of futuretgases or sales of the Companstock
including shares acquired pursuant to the Compasmigloyee and director equity plans.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase)R&aa shareholder approved plan under which subaligrall employees may purche
the Companys common stock through payroll deductions at aepeigual to 85% of the lower of the fair market eslwf the stock as of t
beginning or the end of six-month offering periods employees payroll deductions under the Purchase Plan argeli to 10% of th
employee$ compensation and employees may not purchase theme$25,000 of stock during any calendar yearoASeptember 29, 201
approximately 2.5 million shares were reserveddture issuance under the Purchase Plan.
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401(k) Plan

The Company’s 401(k) Plan (the “401(k) Plaig)a deferred salary arrangement under Sectiork®@f the Internal Revenue Code. Under
401(k) Plan, participating U.S. employees may defg@ortion of their préax earnings, up to the IRS annual contributionitli¢gg17,000 fo
calendar year 2012). The Company matches 50% t% IfiCccach employes’contributions, depending on length of servicetaip maximur
6% of the employee’s eligible earnings. The Compamgatching contributions to the 401(k) Plan weré&4sillion, $90 million and $7
million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units
A summary of the Company’s RSU activity and relatddrmation for 2012, 2011, and 2010, is as fokow

Weighted-
Average
Grant Aggregate
Number of Date Fair Intrinsic
RSUs Value
(in thousands Value (in millions)
Balance at September 26, 2009 12,26 $122.5:
RSUs grantei 6,17¢ $214.37
RSUs veste: (4,685 $119.8¢
RSUs cancelle (722 $147.5¢
Balance at September 25, 2( 13,03¢ $165.6:
RSUs grante: 6,66 $312.6:
RSUs veste: (4,519 $168.0¢
RSUs cancelle (749 $189.0¢
Balance at September 24, 2( 14,44¢ $231.4¢
RSUs grante: 7,79¢ $431.3¢
RSUs veste! (6,305 $205.2%
RSUs cancelle (935 $256.0:
Balance at September 29, 2( 15,00¢ $344.8; $ 10,01(

The fair value as of the respective vesting dafté331Us was $3.3 billion, $1.5 billion and $1.0 imfi for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectiv
The majority of RSUs that vested in 2012, 2011 2010 were neshare settled such that the Company withheld sheithssalue equivalent
the employeesiminimum statutory obligation for the applicable ante and other employment taxes, and remitted thle ttathe appropria
taxing authorities. The total shares withheld wagpproximately 2.3 million, 1.6 million and 1.8 nwlh for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectiv
and were based on the value of the RSUs on thepertive vesting dates as determined by the Comgatgsing stock price. Total payme
for the employeedax obligations to taxing authorities were $1.2idil, $520 million and $406 million in 2012, 2010ca2010, respectivel
and are reflected as a financing activity withie tbonsolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Thesshagé settlements had the effect of <
repurchases by the Company as they reduced aneldréie number of shares that would have otherlbésm issued as a result of the ve
and did not represent an expense to the Company.
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Stock Option Activity
A summary of the Company’s stock option activitylaralated information for 2012, 2011, and 201@&ddgollows:

Outstanding Options
Weighted-

Avergge
Weighted: Contractual
Aggregate
Number of Average Intrinsic
Options Exercise Term Value

(in thousands Price (in years) (in millions)
Balance at September 26, 2009 34,37¢ $ 81.1%
Options grante 34 $202.0(
Options assume 98 $ 11.9¢
Options cancelle (430 $136.2"
Options exercise (12,359 $ 62.6¢
Balance at September 25, 2( 21,72¢ $ 90.4¢
Options grante: 1 $342.6:
Options cancelle (163 $128.4:
Options exercise (9,699 $ 67.6:
Balance at September 24, 2( 11,86¢ $108.6¢
Options assume 41 $ 30.8¢
Options cancelle (25) $103.2:
Options exercise (5,33)) $ 84.8¢

Balance at September 29, 2( 6,54¢ $127.5¢ 1.¢ $ 3,531

Exercisable at September 29, 2( 6,50¢ $128.0: 1.8 $ 3,507

Expected to vest after September 29, 2 40 $ 51.07 6.7 $ 24

Aggregate intrinsic value represents the valughef@ompanys closing stock price on the last trading day ef fiscal period in excess of 1
weightedaverage exercise price multiplied by the numbepptions outstanding or exercisable. Total intringidue of options at time
exercise was $2.3 billion, $2.6 billion and $2.0idu for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Share-based Compensation

Share-based compensation cost for RSUs is meabasstl on the closing fair market value of the Camfsacommon stock on the date
grant. Share-based compensation cost for stockroptind employee stock purchase plan rights (“sparkhase rights”)s estimated at tl
grant date and offering date, respectively, basedhe fair-value as calculated by the BSM optioitipg model. The BSM optiopricing
model incorporates various assumptions includirgeeted volatility, estimated expected life andriesé rates. The Company recognizes shat
based compensation cost as expense on a straighidsis over the requisite service period.

The Company did not grant any stock options du06d@2. The Company granted 1,370 and 34,000 stotknspduring 2011 and 20:
respectively. The weightegiverage grant date fair value per share of stotiorop granted during 2011 and 2010 was $181.13$4:108.58
respectively.

During 2012 and 2010, in conjunction with certairsiness combinations, the Company assumed 41,@098&6000 stock options, respectiv:

which had a weightedverage fair value per share of $405.39 and $216e8pectively. The Company did not assume anyksiptions durin
2011.

The weighted-average fair value of stock purchages per share was $108.44, $71.47 and $45.08@l2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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The following table shows a summary of the shaased compensation expense included in the Coasaticstatements of Operations for 2
2011, and 2010 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010
Cost of sales $ 26t $ 20C $ 151
Research and developmt 66¢ 45C 328
Selling, general and administrati 807 51¢ 405

Total shar-based compensation expel $1,74C $1,16¢ $ 87¢

The income tax benefit related to shaeesed compensation expense was $567 million, $46@mand $314 million for 2012, 2011 and 20
respectively. As of September 29, 2012, the totakcognized compensation cost related to outstgnstiock options and RSUs was
billion, which the Company expects to recognizeraveveighted-average period of 3.3 years.

Note 7 — Commitments and Contingencies
Accrued Warranty and Indemnification

The Company offers a basic limited parts and lalkarranty on its hardware products. The basic wayrgeriod for hardware products
typically one year from the date of purchase byehd-user. The Company also offers ad@§-basic warranty for its service parts used pair
the Companys hardware products. The Company provides currdotiyhe estimated cost that may be incurred uitddrasic limited produ
warranties at the time related revenue is recogniFactors considered in determining appropriatruadts for product warranty obligatic
include the size of the installed base of prodseigject to warranty protection, historical and pot¢d warranty claim rates, historical
projected cost-per-claim, and knowledge of spegifioduct failures that are outside of the Compartypical experience. The Compi
assesses the adequacy of its gxisting warranty liabilities and adjusts the amsuas necessary based on actual experience andesha
future estimates.

The following table shows changes in the Compaagtsued warranties and related costs for 2012,,281d. 2010 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010
Beginning accrued warranty and related costs $ 1,24( $ 761 $ 573
Cost of warranty claim (1,786 (1,149 (713)
Accruals for product warrani 2,18¢ 1,62¢ 897
Ending accrued warranty and related c $1,63¢ $ 1,24( $ 761

The Company generally does not indemnify @isdrs of its operating system and application sofiwagainst legal claims that the softv
infringes thirdparty intellectual property rights. Other agreemsestitered into by the Company sometimes includenmdfication provision
under which the Company could be subject to cost¥oa damages in the event of an infringement clagainst the Company or
indemnified thirdparty. However, the Company has not been requoanake any significant payments resulting from saohnfringemer
claim asserted against it or an indemnified thgedty and, in the opinion of management, does awéla potential liability related to unresol
infringement claims subject to indemnification thaduld materially adversely affect its financialnclition or operating results. Therefore,
Company did not record a liability for infringemerusts related to indemnification as of either 8eyiter 29, 2012 or September 24, 2011.

The Company has entered into indemnification agesgsnwith its directors and executive officers. Binthese agreements, the Compan)
agreed to indemnify such individuals to the fullegtent permitted by law against liabilities thasa by reason of their status as directo
officers and to advance expenses incurred by such
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individuals in connection with related legal prodiegs. It is not possible to determine the maximpatential amount of payments

Company could be required to make under these imgms due to the limited history of prior indemeéfiion claims and the unique facts
circumstances involved in each claim. However, @@mpany maintains directors and officers liabilibsurance coverage to reduce
exposure to such obligations, and payments maderuihese agreements historically have not beenriaiate

Concentrations in the Available Sources of SupplyfdMaterials and Product

Although most components essential to the Commahysiness are generally available from multiplerses, a number of components
currently obtained from single or limited sourcedjich subjects the Company to significant supplg gmicing risks. Many componer
including those that are available from multiplais®s, are at times subject to industigle shortages and significant commodity pri
fluctuations. In addition, the Company has enténéal various agreements for the supply of compagidrdwever there can be no guarantee
the Company will be able to extend or renew thegeaments on similar terms, or at all. Therefdre, Gompany remains subject to signific
risks of supply shortages and price increasescratnaterially adversely affect its financial cdrdi and operating results.

The Company and other participants in the markatsrfobile communication and media devices and paiscomputers also compete
various components with other industries that hexperienced increased demand for their products. Gbmpany also uses some cus
components that are not common to the rest of timekestries, and new products introduced by the @om often utilize custom compone
available from only one source. When a componemroduct uses new technologies, initial capacityst@ints may exist until the suppliers’
yields have matured or manufacturing capacity In@seased. If the Compa's supply of components for a new or existing produere
delayed or constrained, or if an outsourcing parohglayed shipments of completed products to thengzmy, the Company’ financia
condition and operating results could be materialfiversely affected. The Compasybusiness and financial performance could als
materially adversely affected depending on the tiemuired to obtain sufficient quantities from thiéginal source, or to identify and obt
sufficient quantities from an alternative sourcentihued availability of these components at acdgpt prices, or at all, may be affecte
those suppliers concentrated on the productiomeintgon components instead of components customizetbét the Company’s requirements

Substantially all of the Compargyhardware products are manufactured by outsoupanipers that are located primarily in Asia. Angigant
concentration of this manufacturing is currentlyfpemed by a small number of outsourcing partneften in singldocations. Certain of the
outsourcing partners are the sole-sourced suppliersomponents and manufacturers for many of then@mys products. Although tl
Company works closely with its outsourcing partnemsmanufacturing schedules, the Compargperating results could be adversely affe
if its outsourcing partners were unable to meetrtpeoduction commitments. The Compasypurchase commitments typically covel
requirements for periods up to 150 days.

Long-Term Supply Agreements

The Company has entered into lolegm agreements to secure the supply of certaianitovy components. Under certain of these agrees,
which expire between 2012 and 2022, the Companyrtaie prepayments for the future purchase of imrgrdomponents and has acqu
capital equipment to use in the manufacturing chstomponents.

As of September 29, 2012, the Company had a t6tB4 @ billion of inventory component prepaymentgstanding, of which $1.2 billion &
classified as other current assets and $3.0 billienclassified as other assets in the Consoliddsétghce Sheets. The Company had a to
$2.3 billion of inventory component prepaymentsstanding as of September 24, 2011. The Compgaaytstanding prepayments will
applied to certain inventory component purchasedenthuring the term of each respective agreemerm.Gdmpany utilized $943 million a
$173 million of inventory component prepaymentsimy2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Other Off-Balance Sheet Commitments
Lease Commitments

The Company leases various equipment and facjlitnetuding retail space, under noncancelable dperdease arrangements. The Comy
does not currently utilize any other dfélance sheet financing arrangements. The majditfdeases are typically for terms not exceedir(
years and generally provide renewal options fangenot exceeding five additional years. Leasesdtail space are for terms ranging from

to 20 years, the majority of which are for 10 yearsd often contain multi-year renewal options.oASeptember 29, 2012, the Compaidta
future minimum lease payments under noncancelgigeating leases were $4.4 billion, of which $3llidsi related to leases for retail space.

Rent expense under all operating leases, inclualitig cancelable and noncancelable leases, wasrdlgs, $338 million and $271 million
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Future minimeasé¢ payments under noncancelable operating |basiggy remaining terms in exces:
one year as of September 29, 2012, are as followsillions):

2013 $ 5l1€
2014 55€
2015 54z
2016 51z
2017 4A8€
Thereaftel 1,801

Total minimum lease paymer $4,41¢

Other Commitments

As of September 29, 2012, the Company had outstgnafif-balance sheet thingarty manufacturing commitments and component [ast
commitments of $21.1 billion.

In addition to the ofbalance sheet commitments mentioned above, the &wmpad outstanding obligations of $988 million &f
September 29, 2012, which were comprised mainlgashmitments to acquire capital assets, includimdpet tooling and manufacturi
process equipment, and commitments related to tisingr, research and development, Internet anddelenunications services and of
obligations.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgs claims that have arisen in the ordinary coofseusiness and have not been 1
adjudicated, certain of which are discussed in Rdfem 3 of this Form 10-K under the heading “bBe&roceedingsand in Part I, Iltem 1A «
this Form 10-K under the heading “Risk Factots.'the opinion of management, there was not at l@easasonable possibility the Comp
may have incurred a material loss, or a materid lo excess of a recorded accrual, with respdostcontingencies. However, the outcorn
litigation is inherently uncertain. Therefore, altlygh management considers the likelihood of suchutcome to be remote, if one or mor
these legal matters were resolved against the Quynpa a reporting period for amounts in excess @nagemen$ expectations, tl
Company'’s consolidated financial statements for thporting period could be materially adverselfgeted.

Apple Inc. vs Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd, €

On August 24, 2012, a jury returned a verdict awaydhe Company $1.05 billion in its lawsuit agai®amsung Electronics and affilia
parties in the United States District Court, North®istrict of California, San Jose Division. Besauthe award is subject to entry of f
judgment and may be subject to appeal, the Compasynot recognized the award in its consolidatednitial statements for the y
ended September 29, 2012.
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Note 8 — Segment Information and Geographic Data

The Company reports segment information based erirttanagementapproach. The management approach designatesténeainreportin
used by management for making decisions and aeggssiformance as the source of the Company’s t&persegments.

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. Accordingly, the Company determiitgedeportable operating segme
which are generally based on the nature and latatidgts customers, to be the Americas, EuropeadafsiaPacific and Retail. The results
the Americas, Europe, Japan and ABeific segments do not include results of the iReggment. The Americas segment includes bothH
and South America. The Europe segment includesgearocountries, as well as the Middle East andcafiThe AsigPacific segment includ
Australia and Asian countries, other than Japare Retail segment operates Apple retail stores ircditries, including the U.S. E:
operating segment provides similar hardware antivaoé products and similar services. The accoumoizies of the various segments are
same as those described in Note 1, “Summary ofifRignt Accounting Policies.”

The Company evaluates the performance of its dpgraegments based on net sales and operating énddet sales for geographic segm
are generally based on the location of customenfeviRetail segment net sales are based on salestfre Company retail stores. Operati
income for each segment includes net sales to gartles, related cost of sales and operating esqeedirectly attributable to the segm
Advertising expenses are generally included in geegraphic segment in which the expenditures ageriad. Operating income for e:
segment excludes other income and expense andncerpenses managed outside the operating segm@osss excluded from segm
operating income include various corporate expermgsh as manufacturing costs and variances natded in standard costs, research
development, corporate marketing expenses, dh@sed compensation expense, income taxes, variongeaurring charges, and ot
separately managed general and administrative.d@sts to 2012, the Company allocated to corpoexigenses certain costs associated
its highprofile retail stores that have been designed awif to promote brand awareness and serve as weshidr corporate sales ¢
marketing activities. Beginning in 2012, the Compao longer allocates these costs to corporateresgseand reclassified $102 million .
$75 million of such costs from corporate to Retsglgment expenses for 2011 and 2010, respectivélg. Jompany does not incl
intercompany transfers between segments for maregen@porting purposes.

Segment assets include receivables and inventaiesfor the Retail segment also includes capiaés. Segment assets exclude corg
assets, such as cash and cash equivalents, smorated long-term marketable securities, vendor tnade receivables, other lotgrr
investments, manufacturing and corporate facilitipsoduct tooling and manufacturing process equigmeniscellaneous corpori
infrastructure, goodwill and other acquired intdolgiassets. Except for the Retail segment, cagésdt purchases for lofiged assets are r
reported to management by segment and thereforexataeded from the geographic segment assets atelih included in corporate ass
Cash payments for capital asset purchases by tteel Regment were $858 million, $612 million andd®3million for 2012, 2011 and 20:
respectively. The Comparg/total depreciation and amortization was $3.3dnijl $1.8 billion and $1.0 billion in 2012, 20112010
respectively, of which $319 million, $273 milliomé $198 million was related to the Retail segmarthie respective years. Depreciation
amortization on segment assets included in thergpbic segments was not significant.
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The following table shows information by operatsggment for 2012, 2011, and 2010 (in millions):

2012 2011 2010
Americas:

Net sales $57,51: $38,31! $24,49¢

Operating incomi $23,73: $13,53¢ $ 7,59(
Europe:

Net sales $36,32: $27,77¢ $18,69:

Operating incomi $15,01¢ $11,52¢ $ 7,52«
Japan

Net sales $10,57: $ 5,43 $ 3,981

Operating incomi $ 5,91¢ $ 2,481 $ 1,84¢
Asia-Pacific:

Net sales $33,27¢ $22,59: $ 8,25¢

Operating incomi $14,23¢ $ 9,58 $ 3,641
Retail:

Net sales $18,82¢ $14,12° $ 9,79¢

Operating incomi $ 4,71¢ $ 3,24 $ 2,28¢

A reconciliation of the Compang’segment operating income to the consolidateddiaastatements for 2012, 2011, and 2010, is kosafe (in
millions):

2012 2011 2010
Segment operating income $63,61¢ $40,37¢ $22,89¢
Other corporate expenses, net (6,635 (5,419 (3,639
Shar-based compensation expel (1,740 (1,16¢) (879

Total operating incom $55,24: $33,79( $18,38¢

(&) Other corporate expenses include research and ageweht, corporate marketing expenses, manufacturosjs and variances |
included in standard costs, and other separatehagesd general and administrative exper

The following table shows total assets by segmadtareconciliation to the consolidated financtatements as of September 29, 2012
September 24, 2011 (in millions):

2012 2011
Segment asset
Americas $ 5528 $ 2,78.
Europe 3,09t 1,52(
Japar 1,69¢ 637
Asia-Pacific 2,23¢ 1,71(
Retail 2,72¢ 2,157
Total segment asse 15,271 8,80(
Corporate asse 160,78 107,57.
Total asset $176,06:  $116,37:

The U.S. and China were the only countries thadaated for more than 10% of the Companget sales in 2012 and 2011. No single co
other than the U.S. accounted for more than 10%ebfales in 2010. There was no single customeratteounted for more than 10% of
sales in 2012, 2011 or 2010. Net sales for 2012,
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2011, and 2010 and long-lived assets as of SepteP®@012 and September 24, 2011 are as follawsiflions):

2012 2011 2010
Net sales
u.s. $ 60,94¢ $ 41,81 $28,63:
China (a) 22,79 12,47 2,76¢
Other countrie! 72,76 53,96¢ 33,82¢
Total net sale $156,50¢ $108,24¢ $65,22¢
2012 2011
Long-lived assets
u.s. $ 6,01: $ 4,37¢
China (a) 7,31¢ 2,61
Other countrie! 2,56( 1,09(
Total lon¢-lived asset: $15,88t¢ $ 8,07¢

(@ China includes Hong Kong. Lotiged assets located in China consist primarilypradduct tooling and manufacturing process equip
and assets related to retail stores and relateasinficture

Information regarding net sales by product for 2A04®11, and 2010, is as follows (in millions):

2012 2011 2010

Mac desktops (a)(i) $ 6,04 $ 643¢ $ 6,201
Mac portables (b)(i 17,18: 15,34« 11,27¢
Total Mac net sale 23,22 21,78 17,47¢
iPod(c)(i) 5,61¢ 7,45:¢ 8,27
Other music related products and service: 8,53¢ 6,31¢ 4,94¢
iPhone and related products and services | 80,47 47,057 25,17¢
iPad and related products and services |( 32,424 20,35¢ 4,95¢
Peripherals and other hardware 2,77¢ 2,33( 1,81«
Software, service and other net sales 3,45¢ 2,95¢ 2,57
Total net sale $156,50¢  $108,24¢ $ 65,22!

(&) Includes revenue from iMac, Mac mini and Mac Pres:

(b) Includes revenue from MacBook, MacBook Air and MaoB Pro sales

(c) Includes revenue from iPod sal

(d) Includes revenue from sales from the iTuneseStapp Store, and iBookstore in addition to sale#od services and Appleranded an
third-party iPod accessorie

(e) Includes revenue from sales of iPhone, iPhone aesyiand Appl-branded and thi-party iPhone accessorie

(H Includes revenue from sales of iPad, iPad servamas Appl-branded and thi-party iPad accessorie

(@) Includes revenue from sales of displays, networkiraglucts, and other hardwa

(h) Includes revenue from sales of Ag-branded and thi-party Mac software, and servici

(i) Includes amortization of related revenue defercechbr-software services and embedded software upgraks:
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Note 9 — Selected Quarterly Financial Information Unaudited)

The following tables show a summary of the Compamyarterly financial information for each of theuf quarters of 2012 and 2011
millions, except per share amounts):

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarte First Quarter
2012
Net sales $  35,96¢ $ 35,02 $ 39,18¢ $ 46,33
Gross margir $ 14,40 $ 14,99 $  18,56¢ $ 20,70
Net income $ 8,22 $ 8,82¢ $ 11,622 $ 13,06«
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 8.7¢ $ 9.4z $ 12.4¢ $ 14.0¢
Diluted $ 8.67 $ 9.32 $ 12.3( $ 13.8i
Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarte First Quarter
2011
Net sales $  28,27( $ 28,57 $ 24,667 $ 26,74:
Gross margir $  11,38( $ 11,92 $  10,21¢ $ 10,29¢
Net income $ 6,62°¢ $ 7,30¢ $ 5,987 $ 6,00«
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 7.13 $ 7.8¢ $ 6.4¢ $ 6.5%
Diluted $ 7.0t $ 7.7¢ $ 6.4( $ 6.4%

Basic and diluted earnings per share are compuatkebendently for each of the quarters presenteerefdre, the sum of quarterly basic
diluted per share information may not equal anbaaic and diluted earnings per share.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Appée In

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Apple Inc. as of September 29, 208iZSaptember 24, 2011, and the rel
consolidated statements of operations, shareholdgtsty and cash flows for each of the three yeathé period ended September 29, 2
These financial statements are the responsibifith® Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresspamian on these financi
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on altasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princigled and significant estimates made by managenmemtelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@lbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated financial position of Apple |
at September 29, 2012 and September 24, 2011harmbhsolidated results of its operations andaghdlows for each of the three years ir
period ended September 29, 2012, in conformity WitB. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@ddnited States), Apple Ing.’
internal control over financial reporting as of Sapber 29, 2012, based on criteria establishelditarnal Control —Integrated Framewol

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohthe Treadway Commission and our report datetbladr 31, 2012 expressed

unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 31, 2012

75



Table of Contents

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Appée In

We have audited Apple Inc.’s internal control ofirancial reporting as of September 29, 2012, basecriteria established internal Contro
— Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatminthe Treadway Commission (“the COSO criteria®pple
Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, amd fts assessment of the effectivene:
internal control over financial reporting includéd the accompanying ManagementAnnual Report on Internal Control over Finar
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the Company’s internal control over finahe&porting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversight ifq@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordgrar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiafpthe design and operating effectiveness ofriratiecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezeessary in the circumstances. We believe thahadit provides a reasonable basis fol
opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeiregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial stateimidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeealcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdidose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseottimpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalsksurance regarding prevention or timely deteafounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or @ttmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Apple Inc. maintained, in all magdrespects, effective internal control over fingh reporting as of September 29, 2012, b
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@tnited States), the 20
consolidated financial statements of Apple Inc. andreport dated October 31, 2012 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 31, 2012
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Aecunting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atid thve participation of the Company’s managemedrd, Companys principal executiv
officer and principal financial officer have condkd that the Company’s disclosure controls andgatoes as defined in Rules 1Ba(e) an
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act were effective aseagit@nber 29, 2012 to provide reasonable assur&atenformation required to

disclosed by the Company in reports that it filesabmits under the Exchange Act is (i) recordedc@ssed, summarized and reported w
the time periods specified in the Securities andharge Commission rules and forms and (ii) accuradlaand communicated to

Companys management, including its principal executiveiceff and principal financial officer, as appropeiab allow timely decisior
regarding required disclosure.

Inherent Limitations Over Internal Controls

The Companys internal control over financial reporting is dped to provide reasonable assurance regardingetlability of financia
reporting and the preparation of financial statet;idar external purposes in accordance with U.®egmly accepted accounting princif
(“GAAP”). The Company’s internal control over finaal reporting includes those policies and procedhat:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaraisle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and dispositions of
Compan’s assets

(i) provide reasonable assurance that transaction®eoeded as necessary to permit preparation ofidiahstatements in accorda
with GAAP, and that the Comparsyreceipts and expenditures are being made ongcaordance with authorizations of
Compan’s management and directors; ¢

(i) provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiotimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, ,use disposition of th
Compan’s assets that could have a material effect onitla@dial statement

Management, including the Company’s Chief Executdféicer and Chief Financial Officer, does not egp¢hat the Company’ interna
controls will prevent or detect all errors andfedlud. A control system, no matter how well desiyaed operated, can provide only reason
not absolute, assurance that the objectives ofdhérol system are met. Further, the design ofrarobsystem must reflect the fact that tt
are resource constraints, and the benefits of alsntnust be considered relative to their costsaBse of the inherent limitations in all con
systems, no evaluation of internal controls canvigi® absolute assurance that all control issuesimstdnces of fraud, if any, have b
detected. Also, any evaluation of the effectivenassontrols in future periods are subject to tis& that those internal controls may bec:
inadequate because of changes in business corglitiothat the degree of compliance with the pedi@r procedures may deteriorate.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Companys management is responsible for establishing aridtaiaing adequate internal control over finanaigborting (as defined
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Managencenducted an assessment of the effectiveness dfahgpanys internal control o
financial reporting based on the criteria set fothinternal Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpiing
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. BasedhenCompanys assessment, management has concluded thateiteaihtontrol ove
financial reporting was effective as of Septemii&r2D12 to provide reasonable assurance regaradinggetiability of financial reporting and t
preparation of financial statements in accordanitb @AAP. The Companyg independent registered public accounting firrmsE& Young
LLP, has issued an audit report on the Companyésmal control over financial reporting, which appgin Part I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Comparigiternal control over financial reporting durithge fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, which were idiéed
in connection with management’s evaluation requinggaragraph (d) of rules 13a-15 and 15dunder the Exchange Act, that have mate!
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeaf, the Company'’s internal control over financigporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Effective October 29, 2012, Scott Forstall, the @anmy’s Senior Vice President of Mobile Software, hasdit@goned from that position intc
new role as Special Advisor to the Chief Execu@fécer.

Effective October 30, 2012, the Company appointeiPOppenheimer as the Principal Accounting Offafethe Company. Mr. Oppenhein
also serves as the Company’s Senior Vice Presi@dmef Financial Officer and is the Company’s Piad Financial Officer.
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PART lIl
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this Item is set fouthder the headings “Directors, Executive Officard &orporate Governance” and “Section 1
(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” fire tCompanys 2013 Proxy Statement to be filed with the U.SuBiges and Exchan
Commission (“SEC”) within 120 days after SeptemP@r 2012 in connection with the solicitation of yies for the Companyg’ 2013 annu
meeting of shareholders and is incorporated hdrgieference.

Item 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item is set foutihder the heading “Executive Compensation” and utide subheadingsBbard Oversight «
Risk Management,” “Compensation of Directors,” “88tor Compensation-2012” andC6émpensation Committee Interlocks and Ins
Participation” under the heading “Directors, Ex@gitOfficers and Corporate Governance” in the Comyfm2013 Proxy Statement to be fi
with the SEC within 120 days after September 29228nd is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information required by this Iltem is set foutider the headings “Security Ownership of Certaémdicial Owners and Managemeatic
“Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Compa 2013 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEQiwi20 days after September
2012 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is set fouhder the heading “Review, Approval or RatificatiohTransactions with Related Persons
and under the subheading “Board Committees” urtteheading “Directors, Executive Officers and Coap® Governance” in the Compaay’
2013 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC with20 days after September 29, 2012 and is incatpdherein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is set fouthder the subheadings “Fees Paid to Auditors” &ulity on Audit Committee PrApprova
of Audit and Non-Audit Services Performed by theldpendent Registered Public Accounting Firm” urftferoposal No. 2 Ratification
Appointment of Independent Registered Public ActimgnFirm” in the Company 2013 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEQiwifL2(
days after September 29, 2012 and is incorporategirmby reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(8) Documents filed as part of this report

(1) Allfinancial statements

Index to Consolidated Financial Statement Page
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded September 29, 2012, September 24, 201 Beptdmber 25, 2010 43
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 29,80 September 24, 20 44
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equityiferyears ended September 29, 2012, Septemb2024, and September 25,

2010 45
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeailed September 29, 2012, September 24, 201Eeptdmber 25, 201 46
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 47
Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudjt 74
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn 75

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omittétte the required information is not applicabtds not present in amounts sufficien
require submission of the schedule, or becauséntbanation required is included in the consolidafaancial statements and notes the
included in this Form 10-K.

(3) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K
The information required by this Section (a)(3)tefn 15 is set forth on the exhibit index that dalk the Signatures page of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Date: October 31, 2012
APPLE INC.

By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimt
Senior Vice Presiden
Chief Financial Office

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes anoirgpprimothy D. Coo
and Peter Oppenheimer, jointly and severally, tiraeys-infact, each with the power of substitution, for linmany and all capacities, to s
any amendments to this Annual Report on FornKl@nd to file the same, with exhibits thereto atider documents in connection therev
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, heralifying and confirming all that each of saidoatteys-infact, or his substitute
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtuedi.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpithe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the datlisdted:

Name Title Date
/s/ Timothy D. Cook Chief Executive Officer and Director October 31, 2012
TIMOTHY D. COOK (Principal Executive Officer)
/s| Peter Oppenheimer Senior Vice President, Chief October 31, 2012
PETER OPPENHEIMER Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting Office
/s/  William V. Campbell Director October 31, 2012
WILLIAM V. CAMPBELL
/s Millard S. Drexler Director October 31, 2012
MILLARD S. DREXLER
/sl Al Gore Director October 31, 2012
AL GORE
/s| Robert A. Iger Director October 31, 2012
ROBERT A. IGER
/s/ Andrea Jung Director October 31, 2012
ANDREA JUNG
s/ Arthur D. Levinson Director October 31, 2012

ARTHUR D. LEVINSON

/s/ Ronald D. Sugar Director October 31, 2012
RONALD D. SUGAR
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Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.2
4.1
10.1*

10.2*

10.3*
10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

21.1*%

23.1**

24.1**

31.1**
31.2**
32.1%+*

101.INS**

101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.DEF**
101.LAB**
101.PRE*

EXHIBIT INDEX
Incorporated by
Reference

Filing Date/

Period End
Exhibit Description Form Exhibit  Date
Restated Articles of Incorporation, filed with tBecretary
of State of the State of California on July 10, 2( 1¢-Q 3.1 6/27/09
Amended Bylaws of the Registrant, as of April 2012. 1¢-Q 3.2 3/26/11
Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Registr. 1¢-Q 4.1 12/30/06
Amended Employee Stock Purchase Plan, effectivd as
March 8, 2010 1C¢-Q 10.1  3/27/10
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and
each director and executive officer of the Regigti 1¢-Q 10.2 6/27/09
1997 Director Stock Plan, as amended through MapQ#2. 1¢-Q 10.3 6/30/12
2003 Employee Stock Plan, as amended through
February 25, 201( 8K 10.1 3/1/10
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement efifecas of
November 11, 200¢ 16-Q 10.10 12/27/08
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement efifecas of
November 16, 201( 1C-Q 10.10 12/25/10
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement efifecas of
April 6, 2012. 1C¢-Q 10.8 3/31/12
Summary Description of Amendment, effective as afy\24, 2012,
to certain Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreementtstanding as
of April 5, 2012. 1C-Q 10.8 6/30/12

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic
Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney (included on the Signatures pafghis
Annual Report on Form -K).

Rule 13i-14(a) / 15-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Office
Rule 13i-14(a) / 15-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Office

Section 1350 Certifications of Chief Executive ©ffi and Chief
Financial Officer.

XBRL Instance Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documk

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeni

* Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemen
**  Filed herewith
***  Furnished herewitt
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF

APPLE INC.*
Jurisdiction
of Incorporation
Apple Sales International Ireland
Apple Operations Internation Ireland
Apple Operations Eurog Ireland
Braeburn Capital, Inc Nevada, U.S

* Pursuant to Item 601(b)(21)(ii) of Regulationk$Sthe names of other subsidiaries of Apple Ine amitted because, considered in
aggregate, they would not constitute a significartsidiary as of the end of the year covered ts/riport.



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registerd Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRkgistration Statements on Forms S-8 (333-180883;179189, 333-75930, 3325148
333-146026, 333-165214, and 3838279) of Apple Inc. of our reports dated Octokier 2012 with respect to the consolidated fina

statements of Apple Inc., and the effectivenedatefnal control over financial reporting of Apdtec., included in this Annual Report on Fc
10-K for the year ended September 29, 2012.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 31, 2012



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

[, Timothy D. Cook, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Apple Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgrinuntrue statement of a material fact or omitade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nteadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstiand procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15€k)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procedumesawsed such disclosure controls and proceduréde tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting anide preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutgutures, as of the end of the period covered lsy réport based on sL
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbr§ that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiedent
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controgiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refitahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that in@dvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifrole in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 31, 2012

By: /s/ Timothy D. Cook
Timothy D. Cook
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Apple Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omitadie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifde establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(&) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdure caused suctlisclosure controls and procedures to be desigmel@ruou
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutgutures, as of the end of the period covered lsy réport based on sL
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacommittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden!
functions):

(&)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknes$e the design or operation of internal controkmfinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize, and refioancia
information; anc

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a signifioaet in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: October 31, 2012

By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimer
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Timothy D. Cook, certify, as of the dates hergmirsuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopteslipat to Section 906 of the Sarbane:
Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Appie. on Form 1K for the fiscal year ended September 29, 201% faimplies with th
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SdearExchange Act of 1934 and that informationtedmed in such Form 1R-fairly present

in all material respects the financial conditior aasults of operations of Apple Inc. at the dated for the periods indicated.

Date: October 31, 2012

By: /s/ Timothy D. Cook
Timothy D. Cook
Chief Executive Office

I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify, as of the datesdiepursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptesguant to Section 906 of the Sarbane
Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Appie. on Form 1K for the fiscal year ended September 29, 201% faimplies with th
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S@earExchange Act of 1934 and that informationta@med in such Form 1B-fairly present

in all material respects the financial conditiom aasults of operations of Apple Inc. at the dated for the periods indicated.

Date: October 31, 2012

By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimt
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdidgy Section 906 has been provided to Apple Ind.will be retained by Apple Inc. a
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commigsidts staff upon reques



